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PART 1 - INTRODUCTION 

1. The Defendant Susan Riddell Rose (Rose) respectfully tenders these submissions in response to 

the four belated applications for leave to intervene in these proceedings (collectively, the Intervenor 

Applications).1 

2. Rose adopts the submissions in the Perpetual Brief filed July 17, 2020. 

3. The Intervenor Applications are inexcusably and inexplicably late.2  For these parties to insert 

themselves into this process at this advanced stage is certain to cause delay and prejudice to the 

Defendants.  Moreover, the Intervenor Applications raise issues that go far beyond the narrow scope of 

this dispute; or, worse, attempt to relitigate matters already decided by this Court.  For instance, all of the 

Intervenor Applications - either expressly or in substance - now ask this Court for relief in respect of the 

Aggregate Transaction, whereas the Trustee only challenged the Asset Transaction. There can be only 

one of two explanations: either the proposed Intervenors do not understand the Aggregate Transaction 

and what has already been decided by this Court, or they are attempting to abuse this Court’s process by 

intervening on matters that are not raised in this proceeding or res judicata. 

4. What makes the Intervenor Applications even more inappropriate is that they are all founded on 

bare arguments that are tantamount to allegations of fraud: for instance, Mr. Brannan’s baseless 

assertion of “duty-evading schemes”3; and Mr. Laing’s and Mr. Antonio’s baseless assertion of a 

“stepwise scheme” being used to avoid unidentified “contractual obligations”.4  Those assertions are 

made by persons who have no direct knowledge and without an iota of corroboration.  The baselessness 

of these bare arguments is compounded by absurdity when one considers that these affiants are arguing 

– in the face of volumes of unchallenged contradictory evidence – that it was intended that Sequoia would 

become bankrupt 18 months after closing.  Moreover, the bare arguments are disrespectful of the 

express findings of this Court, of which the applicants should be acutely aware.  Given those findings, the 

Trustee is no longer in a position to pursue its baseless ad hominem attacks of Rose.  The applicants are 

in no position to launch a second wave of attacks under the guise of “assisting” the Court. 

                                                      

1 Application by the Proposed Intervenor, Orphan Well Association; Application to Intervene by the Municipal District of Opportunity 
No. 17 and Lamont County; Joint Application by the Proposed Intervenors, Canadian Natural Resources Limited, Cenovus Energy 
Inc. and Torxen Energy Ltd. 
2 At the Case Management Hearing on July 14, 2020, this Court put the question of delay to the Intervenors’ counsel. Most could 
offer no explanation or excuse whatsoever. Counsel for the OWA expressed surprise at the question, even though the issue was 
and ought to have been obvious. He then alluded to recent regulatory changes to the OWA’s mandate, which turn out to be 
irrelevant to the issue of whether the OWA can participate in this litigation: either it has always had that authority, or it continues to 
lack that authority today.  Others, incredibly, suggested that their desire to intervene was prompted by the issuance of this Court’s 
reasons, which is an astonishing admission given that many of the Intervenors seek to intervene on issues that this Court has 
already decided on the evidence before it. 
3 Brannan Affidavit, para. 19. 
4 Laing Affidavit, para. 14; Antonio Affidavit, para. 15. 



  

2 

5. It goes without saying that, for Rose, but for the Court’s decision on the amount of costs payable 

to her, this proceeding is at an end.5  Nevertheless, the substance of the Intervenor Applications 

underscores the prejudice she faces personally if these Intervenor Applications are granted.  Notably, in 

the face of this Court’s final Order disposing of the Trustee’s claims against Rose: 

(a) The OWA asks the Court to grant it leave to intervene “with the right to participate in all 

proceedings related to this action and all matters incidental thereto”.6 

(b) The OWA concedes that it has no basis to intervene regarding Rose’s costs; 

nevertheless, before the issue of leave could be determined the OWA presumptuously7 

proceeded to make submissions to this Court regarding the propriety of the Trustee’s conduct, 

the amount of costs sought by Rose, and unspecified “issues of law” raised by the Court’s 

reasons.8 

(c) The Intervenor Applications are premised upon improper and unfounded allegations of 

mala fides which are dressed up as “concerns”.9 

(d) The Intervenor Applications attempt to fundamentally expand the lis by transforming the 

Trustee’s carefully pleaded BIA challenge of the Asset Transaction into a much broader policy-

based challenge of the Aggregate Transaction.10 

(e) The relief sought by the applicants may affect Rose’s position in the Trustee’s pending 

appeal. 

6. It bears emphasis that the Alberta Court of Appeal has consistently held that granting intervenor 

status is discretionary and ought to be sparingly exercised.11  This is especially so at the trial court level 

where it is the norm to limit non-parties’ participation to being witnesses.  Notably, the Trustee chose not 

to tender affidavits sworn by any of the new affiants in response to the pending Perpetual applications. 

  

                                                      

5 Counsel for the Trustee reminded all parties at the Case Management Hearing that it has appealed this Court’s findings in respect 
of its claims against Rose.  That is true, but irrelevant.  Costs are payable to Rose now in any event.  As this Court pointed out, in 
Alberta the rule is parties must pay costs forthwith irrespective of any appeal. 
6 OWA Application, para. 1. 
7 Indeed, as conceded by OWA counsel, those submissions were made without even having read the Rose Brief re Costs filed June 
3, 2020. 
8 Bennett Jones letter dated July 10, 2020. 
9 OWA Application, paras. 6, 10; Pauw Affidavit, para. 11. 
10 For instance, see the Brief of Rose filed February 4, 2020, which explains how and why the Trustee chose to challenge only the 
Asset Transaction in the BIA claim, and which the Court ultimately adopted as part of its reasons regarding the form of final Order 
filed February 18, 2020. 
11 Canadian Centre for Bio-Ethical Reform v. Grande Prairie (City) 2017 CarswellAlta 1571, 2017 ABCA 280, [2017] A.W.L.D. 4867, 
282 A.C.W.S. (3d) 732 [OWA Authorities] at para. 11. 
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PART 2 - THE OWA IS NOT A PROPER PARTY TO INTERVENE 

A. The OWA is not a regulator; neither is this Court 

7. The OWA is a peculiar entity with very limited authority.  The OWA is not a regulator. 

8. Nevertheless, the OWA now seeks to intervene in this action, largely on the basis of a broad, 

policy-based concern about the Aggregate Transaction (which even the Trustee does not challenge).  In 

doing so, the OWA attempts to widen both the lis between the parties and the scope of this dispute to 

include a request that this Court consider its decision under the BIA in light of a regulatory regime that the 

responsible Regulator, the AER, long ago determined to be inapplicable. This cannot be permitted. 

B. Regulation of the Alberta energy industry 

9. The design and enforcement of Alberta’s energy regulatory regime is the responsibility of the 

Government of Alberta.  Courts do not regulate.  The Court’s written reasons in this case state: 

It is not the function of the Court to fix legislative or regulatory regimes.  That is the 
domain of the legislature or Parliament.  In this case, the Trustee asks the Court to frame 
a legal regime that has been rejected by the legislature.  [Emphasis added.]12 

10. Incongruously, the Intervention Applications are premised on the idea that the Court should fix 

what the applicants perceive to be gaps in Alberta’s regulatory regime by allowing them to intervene in 

claims that were struck.  That is not the Court’s function. 

11. By design, Alberta’s energy industry is regulated by the AER.  The AER is a statutory entity 

established by the Responsible Energy Development Act.13  The mandate of the AER is set out in s. 2 of 

the Act.  The AER derives its specific authority from the Oil and Gas Conservation Act14 and the Pipeline 

Act.15 

12. The Oil and Gas Conservation Act applies to all wells in Alberta.16  The purposes of the Act 

include securing the observance of safe and efficient practices in the suspension and abandonment of 

wells and facilities.17 

13. The AER has broad powers to regulate the upstream oil and gas industry.  It fulfills its mandate 

by issuing licences for oil and gas wells and pipelines and imposing conditions on the licensee which 

                                                      

12 PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc v. Perpetual Energy Inc, 2020 CarswellAlta 62, 2020 ABQB 6 [OWA Authorities, Tab 2], para. 125; 
also see paras. 247-253. 
13 SA 2012, c. R-17.3. 
14 RSA 2000, c. O-6. 
15 RSA 2000, c. P-15. 
16 s. 3. 
17 s. 4(b). 
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govern the operation, disposition and eventual shutting-in of the licensed property.18  As summarized by 

the Supreme Court of Canada in Redwater: 

14 The licences a company needs to recover, process and transport oil and gas are 
issued by the [AER]. The [AER] is not an agent of the Crown. It is established as a 
corporation by s. 3(1) of the Responsible Energy Development Act, S.A. 2012, c. R-17.3 
("REDA"). It exercises a wide range of powers under the OGCA and the Pipeline Act. It 
also acts as the regulator in respect of energy resource activities under the EPEA, 
Alberta's more general environmental protection legislation (REDA, s. 2(2) (h)). The 
[AER’s] mandate is set out in the REDA and includes "the efficient, safe, orderly and 
environmentally responsible development of energy resources in Alberta" (s. 2(1)(a)). The 
[AER] is funded almost entirely by the industry it regulates, and it collects its budget 
through an administration fee (Stewart, at p. 219; REDA, ss. 28 and 29; Alberta Energy 
Regulator Administration Fees Rules, Alta. Reg. 98/2013).  [Emphasis added.]19 

14. The governing legislation, regulations and the AER’s directives are specifically designed to 

mitigate the risk of public responsibility for reclamation costs.  As stated by the Supreme Court in 

Redwater: 

The Licensee Liability Rating Program, which was, at the time of Redwater's insolvency, 
set out in Directive 006: Licensee Liability Rating (LLR) Program and License Transfer 
Process (March 12, 2013) ("Directive 006") is one means by which the Regulator seeks to 
ensure that end-of-life obligations will be satisfied by licensees rather than being offloaded 
onto the Alberta public.  [Emphasis added.]20 

15. The Supreme Court recognized that Alberta’s regulatory regime “does contemplate the possibility 

that some of a licensee's end-of-life obligations will remain unfulfilled when the insolvency process has 

run its course.”21  It is for that reason that the Alberta government created and delegated certain limited 

authority to the OWA. 

16. The Intervention Applications are premised on the idea that the Court should exercise an 

unidentified jurisdiction to augment the existing regulatory regime’s approach to risk mitigation.  However, 

the Alberta regulatory regime does not contemplate the Courts playing such a role.  As stated by the 

Supreme Court in Redwater: 

29 During this appeal, there was significant discussion of other regulatory regimes which 
Alberta could have adopted to prevent environmental costs associated with the oil and gas 
industry from being offloaded onto the public. What Alberta has chosen is a licensing 
regime which makes such costs an inherent part of the value of the licensed assets. This 
regime has the advantage of aligning with the polluter-pays principle, a well-recognized 
tenet of Canadian environmental law. This principle assigns polluters the responsibility for 
remedying environmental damage for which they are responsible, thereby incentivizing 
companies to pay attention to the environment in the course of their economic activities 
(Imperial Oil Ltd. v. v. Quebec (Minister of the Environment), 2003 SCC 58, [2003] 2 

S.C.R. 624 (S.C.C.) , at para. 24). The Licensee Liability Rating Program essentially 
requires licensees to apply the value derived from oil and gas assets during the productive 

                                                      

18 Orphan Well Association v Grant Thornton Limited, 2017 ABCA 124 [TAB 1] at para. 11. 
19 OWA Authorities, Tab 1. 
20 para. 18. 
21 para. 22. 
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portions of the life cycle of the assets to the inevitable cost of abandoning those assets 
and reclaiming their sites at the end of those life cycles. 

30 Ultimately, it is not the role of this Court to decide the best regulatory approach to the 
oil and gas industry. What is not in dispute is that, in adopting its current regulatory 
regime, Alberta has acted within its constitutional authority over property and civil rights in 
the province and over the "development, conservation and management of non-renewable 
natural resources ... in the province" (Constitution Act, 1867, ss. 92(13) and 92A(1)(c)). 

Alberta has devised a complex regulatory apparatus to address important policy questions 
concerning when, by whom and in what manner the inevitable environmental costs 
associated with oil and gas extraction are to be paid. Its solution is a licensing regime that 
depresses the value of key industry assets to reflect environmental costs, backstopped by 
a levy on industry in the form of the orphan fund. Alberta intended that apparatus to 
continue to operate when an oil and gas company is subject to insolvency proceedings.  
[Emphasis added.] 

17. These considerations are all the more apposite in the context of the proceeding before this Court, 

in contrast with the notional proceeding imagined by the Intervention Applications.  The proceeding before 

the Court is a claim by a trustee in bankruptcy (the Trustee).  The Trustee may only advance claims that 

belong to the estate of Sequoia or that are specifically provided for in the BIA.  The Trustee’s claims in the 

former category were all struck and/or dismissed by the final Order of this Court.  The remaining BIA 

claim concerns the requirements of s. 96.  The pending Perpetual application for summary judgment 

concerns only specific components of s. 96.  The Intervention Applications do not justify intervention on 

that issue.  Nor should the Court permit the applicants to expand the claim pleaded by the Trustee. 

C. Levy 

18. Part 11 of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act established the “orphan fund”.  Section 73 provides 

for the orphan fund levy.  The levy is set by the AER.  Parties impacted by the levy have rights to appeal 

pursuant to s. 76 of the Act. 

19. The OWA is funded by the orphan fund levy, security deposits that licensees have been required 

to post, and government funding.22 

20. The OWA plays no role in setting or administering the levy.23  The OWA does not contribute to 

the levy.  Mr. Pauw’s unattributed reference to “expectations” about possible levy increases in the future 

is nothing more than speculation and, in any event, does not relate to an interest unique to the OWA.24 

  

                                                      

22 Orphan Well Assn. v. Grant Thornton Ltd. (ABCA) at para. 22; Pauw Affidavit, para. 6. 
23 Pauw Affidavit, para. 8. 
24 Pauw Affidavit, para. 13. 
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D. The AER has concluded that the Aggregate Transaction was lawful 

21. The Trustee has conceded, and it is the position of the AER and the OWA, that the Transactions 

“did not require regulatory review by the AER.”25  In short, they did not violate any provision of Alberta’s 

regulatory regime.  If they had, the AER would have commenced enforcement proceedings in 2016. 

22. Indeed, by the summer of 2018, the AER had taken a hard look at Sequoia and the Aggregate 

Transaction.  On August 6, 2018 – 4 days after the Trustee had filed its Statement of Claim - the AER 

published the following notice to the public26: 

A few months ago, Sequoia Resource Corp. told the Alberta Energy Regulator (AER) that 
it would stop operations without properly decommissioning more than 4000 wells, 
pipelines, and facilities, meaning that Albertans would be left to foot the bill. Shortly after, 
the company filed for bankruptcy. 

Naturally, we ordered Sequoia to address its end-of-life obligations. We also took a hard 
look at our role in allowing Sequoia to get into this situation and have made changes in 
our processes to reduce the likelihood of a similar situation occurring in the future. 

Alberta’s energy sector has faced more downs than ups over the last several years. And 
while we strive to keep our oil and gas sector competitive, we have an equally important 
obligation to protect the people who live in this province from paying for the mistakes and 
misfortunes of a business they have no control over. 

…  [Emphasis added.] 

23. That statement, made almost two years ago, directly contradicts the bare and speculative 

“concerns” expressed in the affidavits filed by the applicants.  Moreover, not one of those affidavits has 

pointed to a subsequent transaction of concern, let alone one that was inspired by the Aggregate 

Transaction. 

24. In a public statement dated August 8, 201827, the President and CEO of the AER said the 

following: 

The business of regulating oil and gas is a complex undertaking. Every day, Alberta 
Energy Regulator (AER) employees make countless decisions. 

We do our best to make sure our rules reflect the social and economic realities of the day, 
that our processes are not unnecessarily burdensome, and that we have accurate and up-
to-date information to make reasonable, well-informed decisions. 

However, sometimes there are situations beyond our control. When this happens, it is our 
responsibility to identify and address any gaps in our requirements. Earlier this year, 
Sequoia Resources Corp. (Sequoia) informed us that it planned to cease operations 
without properly decommissioning more than 4,000 wells, pipelines, and facilities. As a 
result, we ordered the company to address its end-of-life obligations. 

                                                      

25 Pauw Affidavit, para. 10. 
26 AER Public Notice, “Facing the Liability Challenge in Alberta”, Resource (August 6, 2018) < https://resource.aer.ca/stories/facing-

the-liability-challenge-in-alberta . 
27 AER Public Statement, “Facing the liability challenge in Alberta: AER president and CEO Jim Ellis” (August 8, 2018) < 

https://www.aer.ca/providing-information/news-and-resources/news-and-announcements/news-releases/public-statement-2018-
08-08 . 

https://resource.aer.ca/stories/facing-the-liability-challenge-in-alberta
https://resource.aer.ca/stories/facing-the-liability-challenge-in-alberta
https://www.aer.ca/providing-information/news-and-resources/news-and-announcements/news-releases/public-statement-2018-08-08
https://www.aer.ca/providing-information/news-and-resources/news-and-announcements/news-releases/public-statement-2018-08-08
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But how did Sequoia get to this point? What happened that caused them to be in this 
position? 

This is where a gap in the system has been identified. 

The AER has limited legislated authority to oversee corporate transactions. This is 
important to note because corporate transactions can result in AER licences changing 
hands without having to go through the scrutiny of our transfer process. Unfortunately, this 
can be used by some companies to avoid their responsibility, potentially leaving millions of 
dollars of liability for the Orphan Well Association. 

This is what happened after a corporate transaction between Sequoia and Perpetual 
Energy (Perpetual), allowing Perpetual to pass licences, and all liability, for many 
unprofitable and unwanted assets to Sequoia. 

Sequoia has since claimed bankruptcy, and a trustee has been working to better 
understand what happened to the company. The trustee has raised concerns that Sequoia 
took on significant liabilities that were not in the best interest of the company or its 
stakeholders. If these allegations are proven in court, it is most concerning – but we’ll 
leave that for the court to determine. 

For the AER, this situation has exposed a gap in the system and raised questions with 
respect to how we better manage liability in the future. In some cases, our governing 
legislation did not provide us the necessary flexibility to do what is needed, while in other 
cases our own requirements and processes were limiting. We are working to fix both. 

We now require considerably more information from companies applying for licences 
through our revised Directive 067 and can reject applications we believe are a risk to 
public safety or the environment. Companies are also required to inform us of material 
changes, which includes corporate transactions, within one month of the change taking 
place. With this information, we are better able to assess the risk associated with the 
change and limit the company’s eligibility to hold licences to avoid situations like this in the 
future. Where our authority may be limited, we work with a trustee, which may have more 
power, to support their investigation any way we can. 

… 

We have already begun a plan to update liability management, reviewing our processes to 
better understand what is working well and what needs to change. While we don’t have all 
of the details yet, we have already begun work on a number of initiatives. For example, we 
are using more than the liability management ratings to assess risk, including using 
financial, behavioural, and inventory risk factors to identify which companies might be 
unable to meet their obligations. We are also developing a program, known as area-based 
closure, to encourage companies to work together to reduce inactive wells and 
infrastructure. This is new territory for the AER that has required us to expand our analytic 
capacity and skill sets to examine complex financial transactions.  

Like other jurisdictions around the world, Alberta is faced with struggling companies, 
bankruptcies, and infrastructure left with no owner to manage it. We are working with other 
regulators to share information and get a better understanding of how we might apply 
learnings from elsewhere to what is happening in Alberta. And we are working with the 
Government of Alberta on their liability management review and will implement any policy 
changes that may occur as a result. 

I’m confident that we’re up to the challenge. We will continue to adapt to protect what 
matters to Albertans, public safety, the environment and economic benefit from the 
development of our energy resources.  [Emphasis added.] 

25. That was the message sent by the sole entity charged with regulating Alberta’s energy industry – 

an acknowledgement that the Aggregate Transaction did not breach any Alberta law, and deference to 

the Trustee regarding the prosecution of the BIA challenge of the Asset Transaction. 
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26. Yet two years later, without a word of justification for the delay, the OWA asks the Court to assist 

it in expanding the litigation and “sending a message to producers.”28  More generally, the applicants ask 

the Court to retroactively change Alberta’s energy and municipal tax regimes on the basis of their public 

policy views.  One is left to wonder why those policy views have never moved the Government of Alberta 

to make the fundamental changes to the regulatory regime that would be required to allow this Court to 

become a regulator. 

E. OWA has no authority to regulate through litigation 

27. The OWA is a non-profit organization incorporated pursuant to the Societies Act.  It operates 

under the authority specifically delegated by the AER.29  Mr. Pauw describes the current OWA mandate 

as being “to safely abandon and reclaim orphan oil and gas wells, pipelines, and production facilities, and 

restore the land as close to its original state as possible.”30  In effect, the OWA is a special-purpose 

discrete subordinate of the AER that is sometimes directed to conduct specific remediation work. 

28. The OWA has no authority to do anything other than as specifically delegated to it.  Notably, the 

OWA has no express authority to sue or to participate in legal proceedings.  It has no authority to 

regulate, or to take proceedings in relation to Alberta’s regulation of the energy industry.  It has no 

authority to govern the energy industry.31  It has no authority to enforce the AER’s approval 

requirements.32  It has no authority to take proceedings in relation to municipal taxes.33 

29. At the hearing of July 14, 2020, counsel for the OWA attempted to explain the OWA’s 

extraordinary delay in applying to intervene on the basis of “changes to the legislation” that “increased the 

OWA’s power to litigate.”  This is noteworthy for several reasons: 

(a) Inferentially, this concedes that but for any such legislative change, the OWA did not 

previously have sufficient authority to take proceedings such as the OWA Application. 

(b) In fact, the “changes to the legislation” – Bill 12 – did not give the OWA any authority to 

take such proceedings.  On March 31, 2020, the Government of Alberta introduced Bill 12, the 

Liabilities Management Statutes Amendment Act.  The Act received Royal Assent on April 2 and 

came into force on proclamation on June 15, 2020.  Bill 12 amended the Oil and Gas 

Conservation Act and the Pipeline Act.  Bill 12 strengthened the powers of the AER, among other 

                                                      

28 OWA Application, para. 10(c); Pauw Affidavit, para. 14. 
29 Orphan Fund Delegated Administration Regulation, AR 45/2001 [TAB 2]. OWA Society Application [public record]: Objects; OWA 
By-Laws [public record]. 
30 Pauw Affidavit, para. 4. 
31 Yet that is an express premise of the OWA Application: see para. 6(d). 
32 Yet that is an express premise of the OWA Application: see para. 6(b). 
33 Yet that is an express premise of the OWA Application: see para. 6(a). 
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things.  The only reference to authority to litigate was the addition of s. 106.1 to the Oil and Gas 

Conservation Act, which gives the AER specific authority as follows: 

Appointment of receiver, receiver-manager, trustee, liquidator 

106.1 The Regulator may, subject to the regulations, apply to the Court of Queen’s Bench 
for the appointment of a receiver, receiver-manager, trustee or liquidator of the property of 
a licensee.  [Emphasis added.] 

 The OWA was not given any authority to litigate.  Further, this amendment ironically shows that it 

was the legislature’s intent not that the AER or OWA participate in litigation concerning licensed 

properties, but rather that they ask the Court to delegate that to trustees or receivers. 

(c) More generally, the fact that the Alberta government saw Bill 12 as a sufficient fix to the 

regulatory regime underscores the point that the Court should not be cajoled into playing a 

regulatory role.  The legislature decided on what fixes to the regulatory regime were necessary, 

and it implemented them. 

F. OWA representations to the public belie its current position 

30. In January 2019, the OWA issued a press release34 which stated as follows: 

The Orphan Well Association is encouraged by the decision from the Supreme Court of 
Canada. The OWA is currently reviewing the decision to understand the impact it will have 
on our organization.  This decision has potential impacts to not only the OWA but to the 
regulatory and financial community as well as oil and gas producers and will take time for 
those involved to determine next steps. 

The OWA remains dedicated to reducing our current inventory of sites to be 
decommissioned and reclaimed.  We have a multi-year plan in place that focuses on 
ensuring public safety and addressing environmental concerns. 

We have been scaling up our decommissioning and reclamation program over the last 
year as a result of the increase in Industry funding through the annual Orphan Levy as 
well as the loan from the Alberta Government. We expect to decommission (abandon) 
over 700 wells in our current fiscal year. 

This is a three-fold increase in activity compared to last year and we plan to increase our 
activity in 2019 as well. We have also been able to improve our cost efficiencies during 
this increase in activity allowing us to address more sites this year than we had originally 
planned. 

This problem has developed over several years and it will take several years to address. 
The vast majority of sites in our inventory are considered low risk and therefore do not 
require immediate closure.  [Emphasis added.] 

31. There is no evidence in support of the OWA’s new argument that there is any imminent “impact 

on landowners and the environment”.35  In any event, intervention in a legal proceeding is by no means 

the way to deal with looming environmental issues. 

                                                      

34 OWA Media Release, “Supreme Court of Canada Decision on Redwater Energy Appeal” (January 31, 2019) [TAB 3].  
35 OWA Brief, para. 28. 
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32. Contrary to the Pauw Affidavit, the OWA Annual Report for 202036, authored by Mr. Pauw, 

certified and represented to the public that: 

 the government of Alberta has increased funding to the OWA in response to current challenges 
faced by the energy industry 

 “We have met extraordinary challenges over the past year—and we remain strong, capable and 
ready to meet the challenges going forward.” 

 “Over the past year, the OWA continued to build momentum, decommissioning more wells and 
completing more reclamation projects than ever before. In 2019, despite receiving a substantial 
number of new orphan wells—more in just one year than in 2014 to 2017 combined—we actually 
decreased the overall inventory with a steady and strategic approach. With our existing inventory 
of just under 3,000 wells, we decommissioned 982 wells in 2019—that’s a third of the inventory, 
showing that our organization is more than capable of tackling what lies ahead.” 

 “We have the experience and know-how built on the foundation of a maturing organization to 
take care of what lies ahead. We are ready.” 

33. The Annual Report made no mention of the applicants’ bare speculation of a flood of copycat 

transactions.  And even if there were some, that does not strengthen the Trustee’s BIA claim. 

34. The Auditor Report attached to the OWA Annual Report certified that: 

 the OWA’s cash holdings doubled from 2019 to 2020 

 its operating expenses went up by only 3.8% from 2019 to 2020 

 “Receivership expenses -  The Association applies to the Courts to appoint Receivers for various 
oil and gas companies during the year as no other party came forward to do so when these 
organizations ceased operations. Appointing a Receiver will ensure that the various assets are 
managed and maintained safely for the benefit of the public, and where possible, placed in the 
hands of responsible operators through various sales processes.” 

G. The Goodyear Assets are not orphans 

35. There is another reason that the OWA has no real interest in this proceeding: the Goodyear 

Assets are not orphan wells. 

36. A well at the end of its life that is not controlled by a corporation that is financially able to shut it in 

and remediate the surface may be designated an “orphan well” by the AER.37  Designation as an orphan 

                                                      

36 [TAB 4]. 
37 Oil and Gas Conservation Act, s. 70.  The “orphan” concept is carried through the regulatory system, and is further explained in 
the Licensee Liability Rating Directive 006: 7.1 Orphan Site.  A well, facility, or pipeline in the LLR program is eligible to be declared 
an orphan when the licensee of that licence becomes insolvent or defunct. Once it determines a well, facility, or pipeline meets the 
criteria outlined in section 70(2) of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, the AER will designate it as an orphan. The well, facility, or 
pipeline will then be considered to be an orphan for all aspects of this program: suspension, abandonment, remediation, and 
reclamation. 
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is usually only done after any insolvency process is completed, when and if it becomes apparent that 

there is no one capable of properly abandoning the well.38 

37. Significantly, the AER has not designated any of the Goodyear Assets as orphan wells.  Some 

were reclaimed by Sequoia.  The balance continue to be vested in, and managed by, the Trustee.  To 

date, the Trustee has not done any reclamation work on the Goodyear Assets and continues to have the 

authority to sell them.39 

38. As such, the OWA has no authority to do anything in respect of the Goodyear Assets.  There is 

no basis for the allegation in the OWA Application that the “entire cost associated with the abandonment 

and reclamation of the Goodyear Assets will be paid by the OWA.”40  There is no basis for the allegation 

in the OWA Application that the “OWA’s perspective is necessary to this Action in order for this Court to 

properly consider the interests of the OWA as the ultimate payor of the abandonment and reclamation 

obligations associated with the Goodyear Assets”41; and that “it is certain that the OWA will face 

significant harm.”42 

39. The position of the OWA in this regard – also the position of the other applicants - is doubly 

untenable when one considers that the Trustee concluded that it is in the best interests of the Sequoia 

estate not to sell the Goodyear Assets and not to conduct any reclamation work.  Rather, as conceded by 

Mr. Darby on cross-examination and noted by the Court of Appeal, the Trustee has concluded that it is in 

the best interests of the Sequoia estate to preserve the Goodyear Assets in the hope that the Court 

ultimately adjudges the Asset Transaction to be void pursuant to s. 96 of the BIA.43 

40. Some further points are warranted regarding the OWA’s bare and speculative assertion of 

potential harm: 

(a) The OWA is a non-profit organization.  It does not make profit or incur losses.  It has no 

enterprise or property that can be harmed. 

(b) Unlike the organization considered by the Court in Wilcox, the OWA’s worry about levy 

increases is not a threat to its ability to carry out its mandate.44  The OWA does what it is directed 

                                                      

38 Orphan Well Assn. v. Grant Thornton Ltd (ABCA) [OWA Authorities] at para. 22. 
39 The assertion at paragraph 19 of the affidavit of Mr. McRae that the Trustee has extensively marketed the properties is plainly 
wrong.  As admitted by Mr. Darby on cross-examination and noted by Veldhuis J.A., the Trustee has not tried to market the 
Goodyear Assets on the hope that the Court will void the Asset Transaction. 
40 para. 7. 
41 OWA Application, para. 8; Pauw Affidavit, para. 15. 
42 OWA Application, para. 9. 
43 The Trustee maintains this hope notwithstanding the finding of the Court that voiding the Asset Transaction would not be feasible. 
44 Wilcox v. Her Majesty the Queen in right of Alberta, 2019 CarswellAlta 2635, 2019 ABCA 385, [2020] A.W.L.D. 31, 313 A.C.W.S. 
(3d) [OWA Authorities] at para. 14. 
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to do by the AER, and it is funded through the AER with the levy and public funds (recently 

significantly increased). 

(c) The prospect that the OWA may one day be directed to conduct reclamation work on all 

or some of the Goodyear Assets is a risk contemplated and provided for by Alberta’s regulatory 

regime, as noted by the Supreme Court of Canada in Redwater.45 

H. The OWA has not satisfied the test for leave to intervene 

41. Rose adopts the submissions of Perpetual regarding the test for leave to intervene. 

42. The recent decision of the Court of Appeal in dismissing Mr. Darby’s application to intervene in 

the appeal is noteworthy.  The Court stated: 

[21] Second, on an application to intervene, the test in Alberta is found in Grant Thornton 
Ltd v Alberta Energy Regulator, 2016 ABCA 238 at paras 7-13, [2016] AJ no 790 (QL). 
The factors to be considered are whether the intervenor: (1) is directly affected; (2) is 
necessary to properly decide the matter; (3) has interests in the proceedings that will not 
be fully protected; (4) can contribute useful and different submission expertise; (5) will not 
unduly delay the proceedings; (6) will suffer any possible prejudice; (7) will widen the 
dispute between the parties; (8) will transform the court into a political arena. Ultimately 
these factors assist in determining whether an applicant will be affected by the outcome of 
the appeal, and whether they can offer any expertise or fresh perspective on the subject 
matter that will be helpful in resolving the appeal. 

[21] The application of this test to these facts demonstrates the futility of Mr. Darby's 
position.  While he has an interest in his reputation, there is no intersection between Mr. 
Darby's reputation and the legal issues in the substantive appeal. His intervention is not 
necessary to assist the court to decide the issues; he has no different perspective or 
expertise to offer this court. He cannot ever say that his personal interest in his reputation 
will not be fully protected given that the trustee (which is Mr. Darby wearing his 
professional hat) supported his applications and is the appellant in the substantive appeal.  
[Emphasis added.]46 

43. While the OWA may have a legitimate concern about Alberta’s regulatory regime, its concern 

does not intersect with the only substantive issue remaining before this Court – the Trustee’s claim under 

s. 96 of the BIA.  As conceded by CNRL, Cenovus, Torxen and the municipalities of Two Hills County No. 

21, Clearwater County, County of Minburn No. 27, and the County of Camrose: “s. 96 empowers the 

Trustee in bankruptcy, and only the Trustee in bankruptcy, to bring an application under that section.”47 

  

                                                      

45 para. 18. 
46 PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc v Perpetual Energy Inc, 2020 ABCA 254. 
47 Brief of Municipalities of Two Hills County No. 21, Clearwater County, County of Minburn No. 27, and the County of Camrose filed 
July 15, 2020, para. 3.  Brief of CNRL, Cenovus and Torxen filed July 15, 2020, para. 37. 
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I. Existing counsel have read and understand Redwater 

44. The OWA Brief proposes that the OWA intervene in respect of “matters related to the impact of 

the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in Redwater on the legal aspects of this case”.  With the 

greatest of respect, the OWA does not have unique legal expertise; and all counsel in this case have 

read, understand, and have made submissions on Redwater. 

45. The decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in Redwater was released 18 months ago and has 

been studied closely by many scholars and lawyers, including counsel for the parties to this proceeding.  

It was released while this Court’s decision was under reserve, and the Court invited and received 

supplemental submissions regarding its significance to the issues under reserve.48  The OWA did not 

seek to intervene at that time.  The Trustee did not ask for assistance. 

46. Redwater was mentioned in this Court’s written reasons 86 times.49  The Court confirmed that 

ARO is not a liability for the purpose of s. 96 of the BIA; that it suppresses the value of the associated 

properties.  The OWA should not be permitted to use the intervention mechanism to have a second kick 

at that can, or to advance a case theory that the Trustee did not plead. 

47. Moreover, that issue is now before the Court of Appeal.  The Trustee’s Factum filed May 29, 2020 

argues that this Court erred in its application of Redwater regarding the nature of ARO.50  Notably, the 

Trustee makes none of the arguments regarding Redwater that the OWA now wishes to advance. 

48. Courts do not invite parties to previously decided lawsuits to act as expert legal witnesses in 

subsequent cases.  The OWA has nothing to add to the remaining issues in this proceeding. 

J. Conclusion re OWA 

49. The OWA is not a proper party to intervene regarding the enforcement of Alberta’s regulatory 

regime.  The OWA’s proposed scope of intervention deals with claims not before the Court, and concerns 

that do not engage the Court’s jurisdiction.  The OWA Application should be dismissed. 

  

                                                      

48 Joint Submissions of the Defendants filed June 4, 2019; Trustee Submissions filed June 11, 2019; Joint Reply of the Defendants 
filed June 14, 2019. 
49 PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc v. Perpetual Energy Inc [OWA Authorities, Tab 2], paras. 138-144; 148-151; 166-170; 173; 183; 
212-228; 235; 239; 241; 281; 283; 285-6; 339; 341-2; 346; 350-1; 353; 357; 366-370. 
50 Trustee Factum, paras. 94-102. 
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PART 3 - MUNICIPALITIES 

A. The claim regarding municipal interests was struck 

50. The Statement of Claim in this proceeding was held out as representing the interests of 

municipalities as contingent creditors whose reasonable expectations were violated oppressively.  The 

Court struck that aspect of the claim on the basis that the Trustee does not have standing as a 

complainant under the ABCA, and that the Trustee did not plead a valid collective creditor claim. 

51. It is absurd for the applicant municipalities to now ask for leave to intervene in a claim that was 

struck.  Their dissatisfaction with the Municipal Government Act’s provisions regarding recovery of 

payment51 does not change that.52 

52. The lack of any intersection between the concerns of the municipalities and the last remaining 

issue before the Court is evident from their own submissions: 

4. The Defendants brought an Application for Summary Dismissal. Affidavits were 
filed, questionings took place and a decision was rendered. It is only at that stage that the 
Municipalities became concerned because it is only at that stage that the Municipalities 
came to believe that the structure of how municipal taxation takes place is a 
misunderstood issue. The Municipalities became concerned that their interests were not 
being protected and that, under these circumstances, there came to be a need to 
intervene. 

… 

6. The Municipalities believe they can assist the court in coming to a more fulsome 
understanding of how the taxing structure works. For example, there are many comments 
in the Transcript of Susan Riddell Rose where she seems to be of the impression that 
taxes aren’t owing if there is some form of deferral agreement or where, as she seems to 
believe, she defers payment and suffers a penalty as a result thereof.  [Emphasis added.]53 

53. How municipal taxation works in Alberta – as interesting as that may be – is entirely irrelevant to 

the Trustee’s BIA claim.  The municipalities’ belatedly communicated concerns about Rose’s impressions 

of the system are not relevant to anything. 

  

                                                      

51 At paragraph 16, the Brief of Two Hills County No. 21, Clearwater County, County of Minburn No. 27, and the County of Camrose 
filed July 15, 2020 complains: “It can be seen that municipalities are a classic involuntary creditor. They do not have any opportunity 
to do a credit check on their perspective debtor, the person liable to pay the property tax. They have no right to decline a situation 
which results in the municipality becoming a creditor of the person liable to pay the property tax. The Municipalities have very limited 
abilities to protect themselves.”  Similarly, the Brief of Opportunity and Lamont at paragraph 8(a) complains: “The inability to recover 
taxes has impacted the Municipalities’ ability to fulfill their mandate pursuant to the Municipal Government Act to ‘provide good 
government’, ‘provide services, facilities or other things that, in the opinion of council, are necessary or desirable for all or a part of 
the municipality’ and to ‘develop and maintain safe and viable communities.’” 
52 Section 438 of the Municipal Government Act provides for methods of recovering taxes in arrears.  Subsection (2) expressly 
provides for the power to sue. 
53 Brief of Two Hills County No. 21, Clearwater County, County of Minburn No. 27, and the County of Camrose filed July 15, 2020, 
para. 4. 
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B. The municipalities chose not to sue 

54. Any municipality with an unpaid tax claim against PEOC at the time of the Aggregate Transaction 

could have pursued the tax collection remedies expressly provided for in the Municipal Government Act, 

including suing Sequoia directly.  Indeed, in this case, the Court found that if any municipalities had a 

claim for unpaid taxes, they should have done just that.54 

55. The process of intervention should not be used to permit the municipalities to do indirectly what 

they were free to do directly. 

C. The municipalities are contingent unsecured creditors of the Sequoia estate 

56. Knowing of the state of the tax accounts and of the change in ownership of Sequoia, Opportunity 

and Lamont agreed with the new principals of Sequoia to new payment terms, and the agreements were 

partially performed by Sequoia.55  This was never disclosed by the Trustee. 

57. The applicant municipalities have all presumably filed Proofs of Claim in the Sequoia bankruptcy.  

The bankruptcy is the proper forum for the determination of those claims.  Indeed, as stated in the 

application, the municipalities “have an interest in ensuring that the interests of municipalities are 

protected in bankruptcy proceedings.”56  Thus, it is in the bankruptcy proceeding that the municipalities 

should address concerns such as the correction of any amount alleged to be owed by Sequoia. 

58. If the claims are accepted by the Trustee, the municipalities will have the rights of unsecured 

creditors under the BIA.57  They cannot use the intervention process to improve their position.58 

D. Intervention will go nowhere 

59. The position of the municipalities is doubly absurd when one considers that the setting aside of 

the Asset Transaction would not change their position: they would still be unsecured creditors of 

Sequoia.59 

E. Conclusion re Applicant Municipalities 

60. There is no need for the “support”60 of the municipalities in relation to a claim that has been struck 

and that is under appeal. 

                                                      

54 Reasons, paras. 209-210. 
55 Municipalities Application, paras. 17-18, 22-34; Schonken Affidavit, paras. 17-21. 
56 para. 29. 
57 Northern Sunrise County v Virginia Hills Oil Corp, 2019 ABCA 61 [TAB 5]; Edmonton (City) v Alvarez & Marshal Canada Inc, 2019 
ABCA 109 [TAB 6]; Regent Resources Ltd (Re), 2018 ABQB 669 [TAB 7]. 
58 Re St. Anne-Nackawic Pulp Co. (2005), 2005 CarswellNB 506, [2005] N.B.J. No. 364, 2005 NBQB 303, 14 C.B.R. (5th) 109 (N.B. 
Q.B.) [TAB 8]; L.W. Houlden and Geoffrey B. Morawetz, Bankruptcy and Insolvency Law of Canada, 4th Ed., The Bankruptcy and 
Insolvency Act, Administrative Officials at C§22 — Duties and Powers of Trustees — Generally (WL). 
59 Municipalities Application, paras. 8, 18; Schonken Affidavit, paras. 3-7. 
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F. Perpetual correspondence to municipalities is irrelevant 

61. The 2016 request of Perpetual that municipalities reduce the crushing tax burden on Alberta 

energy companies has nothing to do with anything before the Court. 

PART 4 - CNRL, CENOVUS, TORXEN 

A. There is no role for self-interested industry participants 

62. None of these applicants (the Industry Applicants) have an active role in the regulation of 

Alberta’s energy industry.  Indeed, they are the subject of the regulation.  They are market participants 

whose mandate is profit for the benefit of their particular shareholders.  Their desire to minimize 

contributions to the levy does not qualify them to “assist” the Court in determining the Trustee’s BIA claim.  

Their understanding of the application of s. 96 of the BIA61 will add nothing. 

63. As set out above, the Goodyear Assets have not been designated by the AER as orphans, and 

the OWA has not been directed to do any remediation work.  There is no basis for the OWA argument, 

now echoed by CRNL, Cenovus and Torxen, that any putative work may materially impact the orphan 

well levy. 

64. There is no reason for the Court to allow these applicants to provide submissions as they 

propose62: 

(a) “The Transactions’ significant and material departure from industry standards”  -  The 

Trustee’s Statement of Claim challenges only the Asset Transaction and makes no allegations 

about industry standards.  A challenge to the Aggregate Transaction is not before the Court.  As 

such, argument or evidence about “industry standards” in relation to the Aggregate Transaction 

would be entirely irrelevant. 

(b) “The apprehension of industry members in permitting the purposeful evasion of 

abandonment and reclamation obligations through multiple, sequential, transactions, concluded 

by insolvency.”  -  Evidence regarding the “apprehension of industry members” is entirely 

irrelevant to the Trustee’s pleaded challenge of the Asset Transaction under the BIA.  Moreover, 

the Trustee, the AER and the OWA have all conceded that the Aggregate Transaction did not 

violate Alberta law.  The only remaining issue before the Court is whether the Asset Transaction 

resulted in the Trustee having grounds to ask the Court to set it aside.  As conceded by the 

applicants, only the Trustee is authorized by the BIA to pursue such a claim. 

                                                                                                                                                 

60 Schonken Affidavit, para. 29. 
61 CNRL Application, para. 16(c). 
62 CNRL Application, para. 16. 
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(c) “Private industry’s understanding of the interplay between s. 96 of the BIA and the 

regulatory obligations of Alberta’s regulatory regime, as well as the developed and evolving 

business practices in accordance with these interpretations.”  -  The “understanding” and 

“interpretation” of private actors regarding provincial and federal statutes is entirely irrelevant to 

the Court’s interpretation and application of those statutes.  The only remaining claim before the 

Court is the Trustee’s claim to set aside the Asset Transaction pursuant to s. 96 of the BIA. 

(d) “The direct and indirect impacts of tolerating the Transactions upon the OWA, the Levy, 

and Alberta’s regulatory regime, as well as the immediate and long-term consequences to private 

industry.”  With respect, the Industry Applicants’ inability to tolerate Alberta’s regulatory regime is 

irrelevant. 

B. Industry Applicant Affidavits 

65. Not mentioned in the Industry Applicants’ Application or their evidence is that CNRL and Cenovus 

have had representatives act as Inspectors of the Sequoia bankruptcy from its inception, as well as 

representatives on the OWA board of directors.  The Industry Applicants offer no reasonable explanation 

for having sat on the sidelines since the commencement of the bankruptcy. 

66. Each of the Industry Applicants’ affidavits begins with an acknowledgment that, at most, any 

intervenor should be granted leave “strictly on the issues concerning section 96 of the Bankruptcy and 

Insolvency Act … as they relate to the Application to Strike and for Summary Dismissal …”63  In spite of 

that, each affidavit immediately proceeds to make arguments about the Aggregate Transaction.64  For 

instance, Mr. Brannan expresses his misunderstanding of the legal effect of the Aggregate Transaction65, 

and then speculates as to what might happen on some unspecified future date as a result.66  That is the 

platform for his further “understanding” – more accurately, bare argument – that costs “will be unfairly and 

unjustly borne by the third party industry members of Alberta’s oil and gas regulatory regime”.67  He then 

proposes that Torxen “assist the Court” in understanding how the Court’s decision might be unpopular 

with the energy industry.68 

67. Mr. Laing ventures even further, offering his personal “understanding” about unidentified parties’ 

alleged intentions to avoid municipal taxes.69 

                                                      

63 Laing Affidavit, para. 7; Brannan Affidavit, para. 7. 
64 As does the Brief of CNRL, Cenovus and Torxen filed July 15, 2020: see, for example, paragraph 24. 
65 paras. 9, 18.  Mr. Laing does the same: paras. 8, 10-14. 
66 para. 10. 
67 para. 11. 
68 paras. 18-20. 
69 para. 13. 
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68. Mr. Laing’s “understandings” of the legal issues includes the following curious argument 

(repeated verbatim by Mr. Jackson): 

14. I verily believe that the Transactions conflict with the oil and gas industry’s 
expectations of the universal application of standard contractual provisions, since any 
stepwise scheme like this would allow contracting parties to circumvent standard 
contractual obligations, including customary ROFR requirements. 

69. Mr. Laing expresses yet another concern that the Aggregate Transaction should not be 

“tolerated”70, and that is then the basis of a floodgates argument.  Again, the applicants’ floodgates 

arguments are most curious given that the Aggregate Transaction took place in 2016 and yet there is no 

evidence of the feared mayhem in the energy market.  (Not that such evidence would be relevant for a 

court.) 

70. Mr. Jackson expresses his worry about the “sustainability of the [OWA]” (about which the OWA 

raises no concern), the “authority of the [AER]” (about which the AER has raised no concern), the “future 

business of industry members” (over which the Court has no regulatory jurisdiction), and the “general 

public of Alberta”.71  Mr. Jackson concedes that the Aggregate Transaction did not require AER 

approval72, yet he then spends several paragraphs giving his understanding as to why the Aggregate 

Transaction was not a good thing in his personal view.73 

C. The Industry Applicants are in the wrong forum 

71. It is evident from the affidavits filed by the Industry Applicants that they are not entirely content 

with the design and structure of Alberta’s regulatory regime.  If so, they can (and undoubtedly do) lobby 

the Government of Alberta for reform. 

72. Again, it is noteworthy that the Government of Alberta has recently spoken with the passing of Bill 

12.  It is not the job of the Court to supplement that legislation. 

D. The concerns of the Industry Applicants do not intersect with the BIA claim 

73. To the extent that the Industry Applicants’ proposed submissions might possibly be relevant, it 

would be in relation to the Trustee’s Public Policy Claim.  However, the Public Policy Claim was struck by 

this Court on the basis that it did not reveal a reasonable cause of action. 

                                                      

70 para. 33. 
71 para. 10. 
72 para. 12. 
73 paras. 13-16. 
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74. The Industry Applicants’ concerns are not needed by the Court to determine Perpetual’s pending 

application to dismiss the Trustee’s BIA claim.  The subject of that claim is a privately negotiated 

commercial transaction to which the Industry Applicants were not parties. 

E. The Industry Applicants entirely ignore the evidence that was considered by the 
Court in making its final Order 

75. The Industry Applicants ignore the evidence that has been before this Court since 2018 regarding 

the structure and rationale of the Aggregate Transaction – evidence that the Trustee chose not to 

challenge at any stage.  For instance, there is extensive evidence, and this Court found, that the 

Aggregate Transaction was structured as a result of the requirements of Kailas, and extensive ensuing 

negotiations that involved sophisticated legal counsel for both sides.74  Rose also gave the following 

entirely unchallenged evidence: 

20. A transaction structure was used by the parties to execute the [Aggregate 
Transaction] in preference to a direct sale of the Goodyear Assets to Kailas as it resulted 
in a considerable reduction in the number of agreements, licenses and registrations 
associated with the assets that needed to be conveyed to complete the sale. Additionally, 
the delivery of the Goodyear Assets in a turn-key corporate form on closing was 
commercially desirable to Kailas. As detailed in Exhibit A, the transaction structure used 
an estimated 6,404 conveyances to complete, an approximate two-thirds reduction from 
an estimated 19,382 conveyances that would have been required if the Goodyear Assets 
were sold directly to Kailas. 

76. The Industry Applicants also ignore Rose’s evidence from the very limited cross-examination 

conducted by the Trustee, such as the following: 

Q. Okay. Now, the intention of the sale generally would be to get rid of certain assets that 
would make Perpetual a more profitable operation generally. This is as broad as I can put 
it. But would you agree with that? 

A. It was to allow us to strategically focus on the activities that we wanted to invest in as -- 
as what our staff could actually execute best and where we could add the most value for 
our shareholders. 

Q. Okay. You would not call this is a strategic disposition of specific assets that you had 
identified at Perpetual? 

A. I did -- I think I did call it a “strategic disposition” in our press release, and the reason it 
was strategic is because when we had actually established the trust back in 2002, we 
strategically had - - and that was Paramount Energy Trust - - we had strategically pursued 
a business plan of consolidating those assets in eastern Alberta and optimizing the value 
from them. 

Now 15 years later, 14 years later, we had set out on a very different strategic course. We 
were pursuing liquids-rich resource-style assets, and the assets in eastern Alberta for the 
most part didn’t fit that strategic initiative anymore, so it was definitely a strategic 
transaction.75 

                                                      

74 Affidavit of Susan Riddell Rose sworn October 19, 2018, paras. 15-55.  Reasons, paras. 55-9, 93, 96. 
75 10/15-11/13. 
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77. When Trustee counsel attempted to pursue questioning of Rose regarding issues related to 

compliance with AER directives, Perpetual counsel objected on the basis that they were not relevant to 

the BIA claim.  Trustee counsel did not dispute that, and rather asserted that they were relevant to the 

oppression claim.76  That claim was struck. 

F. Extraordinary delay 

78. The Industry Applicants have tendered no evidence explaining their extraordinary delay in 

applying to intervene.  At the hearing of July 14, 2020, their counsel strained to suggest that the Industry 

Applicants’ interests were not engaged until Perpetual filed its second application for summary judgment.  

That suggestion ignores the fact that the Trustee’s claim has been notorious in the Alberta energy 

industry since the outset77, and that CNRL and Cenovus have had Inspectors in the Sequoia bankruptcy 

since March 2018.  It also ignores the Rose’s unchallenged evidence that: 

72. Oil and gas industry partners were advised of the sale of Perpetual’s shallow gas 
assets by means of a Notice to Industry posted to Enerlink on October 1, 2016 (a 
corrected notice was posted on November 16, 2016) which is the normal process used by 
the industry to advise industry partners of changes in corporate ownership. Sequoia 
registered a certificate of amendment with the Alberta Registrar of Corporations to change 
its name from PEOC to Sequoia on October 3, 2016 and issued a similar industry notice 
on Enerlink. Copies of Perpetual's industry notices posted to Enerlink are attached as 
Exhibit CC. Consistent with common industry practice and the Asset Purchase Agreement 
and Share Purchase Agreement, Perpetual paid all Goodyear Asset obligations incurred 
up to closing and Sequoia paid all Goodyear Asset obligations incurred after closing. 

G. CNRL’s claim should be determined in the bankruptcy 

79. CNRL and Cenovus acknowledge that they are unsecured creditors of Sequoia and have filed 

Proofs of Claim in the bankruptcy proceedings.78  There is no suggestion that their claims will not be 

determined fairly by the Trustee. 

  

                                                      

76 17/11-18/14. 
77 Darby cross-exam., 79/12-80/13; AER public statements of August 4 and 6, 2020. 
78 para. 16. 
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PART 5 - CONCLUSION 

80. For the reasons set out above and those in the Brief of Perpetual, Rose respectfully submits that 

the Intervention Applications should be dismissed.  The applicants will not assist the Court in determining 

the pending application for summary dismissal of the s. 96 claim as pleaded by the Trustee.  Their 

involvement will only cause further vexation and cost for Rose. 
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Frans Slatter J.A.:

1      These appeals concern the rights and obligations of a trustee in bankruptcy administering the estate of an insolvent oil and
gas company which owns wells that are at the end of their life and must be abandoned and remediated. These appeals engage
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the interaction of federal legislation on insolvent debtors (the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, c. B-3) and provincial
legislation regulating the oil and gas industry, particularly with regard to environmental and public safety issues.

2      Shortly put, Redwater Energy Corporation is an insolvent oil and gas company. It owns some oil wells that are valuable,
and others that may potentially be declared "orphans" because the costs of environmental remediation required to abandon them
exceed the value of those wells: see infra, para. 21. Redwater's trustee in bankruptcy wants to renounce or disclaim Redwater's
interest in the orphan wells, but keep and sell the valuable wells to maximize the recovery of the secured creditor. The Alberta
Energy Regulator says that this is not permissible, and a sufficient portion of the sale proceeds from the valuable wells must
be set aside to meet the expected costs of remediating the orphan wells.

Background

3      The background to these appeals includes (a) the particular circumstances of Redwater Energy Corporation, (b) the general
regulation of the oil and gas industry in Alberta, (c) the role of the Orphan Well Association in the handling of "orphan wells",
(d) the constitutional context and (e) the nature of mineral titles in Alberta.

Redwater Energy Corporation

4      Redwater Energy Corporation was a publicly traded oil and gas company. It is a licensee under the jurisdiction of the Alberta
Energy Regulator with respect to numerous properties. Redwater suffered financial setbacks and was unable to meet its financial
obligations. Redwater's principal secured creditor, the Alberta Treasury Branches, commenced enforcement proceedings. On
May 12, 2015 Grant Thornton was appointed Receiver for Redwater under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act.

5      When advised of the receivership, the Alberta Energy Regulator summarized its position to the Receiver in a letter of
May 14, 2015 (trial reasons, para. 19). Its position mirrored the ruling in Panamericana de Bienes y Servicios S.A. v. Northern
Badger Oil & Gas Ltd., 1991 ABCA 181, 81 Alta. L.R. (2d) 45, 117 A.R. 44 (Alta. C.A.), leave to appeal denied [1992] 1
S.C.R. x (note) (S.C.C.), that it was not a "creditor", that environmental obligations were not claims provable in bankruptcy,
and that accordingly the environmental obligations of Redwater were unaffected by the insolvency proceedings. Further, the
Regulator noted that a receiver or trustee is defined as a "licensee" under the statutory regime. The Regulator took the position
that the Receiver was legally obliged to discharge Redwater's environmental obligations "prior to distributing any funds . . .
to creditors, secured or otherwise". The Regulator warned that, in accordance with its usual policies, it would not approve any
transfers of Redwater's oil and gas assets unless it was satisfied that both the transferor and transferee would be in a position
to fulfil all environmental obligations.

6      On July 3, 2015 the Receiver advised the Alberta Energy Regulator that it would only be taking control of approximately
20 of the 127 Redwater properties licensed by the Regulator. The Receiver proposed to take control of Redwater's valuable
properties, while renouncing or disclaiming the rest of the properties. The disclaimed properties had attached to them potentially
onerous environmental obligations requiring the shutting-in of the wells, and remediation of the surface. The value of those wells
was less than the potential environmental clean-up costs. The Regulator responded by issuing orders requiring the abandonment
and remediation "for environmental and public safety reasons" of the assets that the Receiver had disclaimed.

7      On October 28, 2015 a bankruptcy order was issued for Redwater, appointing Grant Thornton as Trustee in bankruptcy.
On November 2, 2015 the Trustee disclaimed the assets it had previously renounced in its capacity as Receiver, and indicated
that it did not intend to comply with the environmental remediation orders.

8      The Alberta Energy Regulator and the Orphan Well Association brought applications for declarations that the disclaimer
by the Receiver and Trustee of some of Redwater's assets was void. They also seek an order compelling compliance with the
abandonment and remediation orders issued by the Regulator. The Trustee brought a cross-application for approval of the sale
of some assets, and a ruling on the constitutionality of the Regulator's position.

9      The chambers judge concluded that the claim of Redwater's secured creditor, the Alberta Treasury Branches, has priority
over the obligation to reclaim the wells: Grant Thornton Ltd. v. Alberta Energy Regulator, 2016 ABQB 278, 33 Alta. L.R. (6th)
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221 (Alta. Q.B.). Two appeals were launched, one by the Orphan Well Association and one by the Alberta Energy Regulator.
Four intervenors appeared in support of the appellants' arguments: the Minister of Justice and Solicitor General of Alberta, the
Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, the Attorney General for Saskatchewan, and Her Majesty the Queen in Right
of the Province of British Columbia as represented by the Ministry of Natural Gas Development and the British Columbia
Oil and Gas Commission. The respondents are the Trustee in Bankruptcy, Grant Thornton Limited, and the secured creditor,
Alberta Treasury Branches. The Canadian Association of Insolvency and Restructuring Professionals intervened in support of
the respondents. The Government of Canada did not participate in the proceedings.

10      The issues in these appeals are the priority of environmental claims, and whether a receiver or trustee in bankruptcy must
satisfy the contingent liability inherent in the remediation of the worthless wells in priority to the claims of secured creditors.
There are no material facts in dispute, and the questions of law raised by these appeals are reviewed for correctness.

Regulation of the Oil and Gas Industry

11      The Alberta oil and gas industry is regulated by the Alberta Energy Regulator, which is established under the Responsible
Energy Development Act, SA 2012, c. R-17.3, and which derives its authority from the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, RSA
2000, c. O-6, and the Pipeline Act, RSA 2000, c. P-15. The Alberta Energy Regulator has wide ranging powers to regulate all
aspects of the upstream oil and gas industry. The Regulator fulfils its mandate by issuing a separate licence for each oil and
gas well or pipeline, and then by imposing on the licensee conditions which control all aspects of the operation, disposition
and eventual shutting-in of the licensed property.

12      When oil and gas wells are producing, they are very valuable assets. However, when they cease to be productive
they quickly turn into significant liabilities. For public safety and environmental reasons, the Alberta Energy Regulator has
specific "end-of-life" rules on how a spent well must be rendered environmentally safe by being shut-in and "abandoned". In
general terms, the end-of-life obligations of the owner of the well are to cement-in various formations deep underground, to
"cap" the well, and to restore the surface to its original condition: Alberta Energy Regulator Directive 020: Well Abandonment;
Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act, RSA 2000, c. E-12, s. 137. Compliance with those requirements can be
expensive.

13      Many oil and gas licensees will have both producing assets and non-producing assets that are candidates for abandonment.
One particular concern of the Alberta Energy Regulator is that the licensee not sell off all of its valuable assets, while
keeping all of its non-producing assets, unless it will have sufficient resources (after payment of its debts) to fund the required
abandonments. The Regulator might insist on the purchaser acquiring all of the assets (both producing and non-producing) and
taking on all the end-of-life obligations, it may require the posting of security for the costs of abandonment, it may require that
abandonment work be done before the transfer, or it may impose other conditions on the sale to the same effect.

14      The Regulator's overall approach is not new. It has always regulated the environmental impact of the industry, and
particularly the shutting-in of spent wells. The regulatory techniques have undoubtedly changed and become more sophisticated,
but the overall objectives are unchanged. From a legal perspective, the Regulator has set its policies in accordance with the
provincial legislation, as interpreted in cases like Northern Badger (discussed infra, para. 49), which up until the trial reasons
in this case was thought by some to reflect the law.

15      The Alberta Energy Regulator attempts to ensure the financial ability of licensees to meet their obligations with respect to
abandoned wells. It calculates on a monthly basis a Licensee Liability Rating for all licensees: Directive 006: Licensee Liability
Rating (LLR) Program and Licence Transfer Process, and Directive 011: Licensee Liability Rating (LLR) Program: Updated
Industry Parameters and Liability Costs. The Licensee Liability Rating uses a formula which estimates the nominal value of
the oil and gas assets of the company, and the estimated accumulated end-of-life obligations of the company. The result is the
Liability Management Rating for the licensee. The values calculated by the formula have no direct relationship to the fair market
value of the assets. A licensee is required to maintain a ratio of at least 1.0, meaning that it has at least as many notional assets
as liabilities. The Alberta Energy Regulator will generally not approve the transfer of any licensed assets unless it is satisfied
that the purchaser or the seller of the assets will continue to have the resources necessary to abandon any depleted wells.
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16      The trial reasons explain the process in greater detail at para. 28:

28 In her affidavit sworn on August 13, 2015, Patricia Johnston, Executive Vice President and General Counsel for the
Regulator, explains that under the LLR program, "the AER conducts a liability assessment for each licensee, which is based
on the estimated costs to suspend, abandon, reclaim and remediate the AER licensed properties of that licensee." She adds
that "[b]ased on that assessment, the AER assigns a liability management ratio (LMR) to each licensee," which is the ratio
of the licensee's eligible deemed assets as compared to its deemed liabilities. This is accomplished through the monthly
calculation and on receipt of transfer applications to transfer existing AER licenses. As noted on a Liability Management
Program Results report dated September 5, 2015, "the [LMR] provided for licensees reflect the results of a comparison of
their deemed assets to their deemed liabilities for all Liability Management programs. This ratio is based on information
reported to the AER and the calculation of deemed assets and deemed liabilities as specified in AER Directives": Directive
006; Directive 024: Large Facility Liability Management Program (LFP) ("Directive 024") and Directive 075: Oilfield
Waste Liability (OWL) Program ("Directive 075"). If either party's post-transaction LMR is lower than 1.0, the AER will
either deny the transfer application or will require additional security. If a licensee's deemed liabilities exceed its deemed
assets in addition to any previous security posted, the AER will consider the security adjusted LMR to be below 1.0. The
AER will require the licensee to either conduct abandonment of some or all of its AER licensed properties as a means of
increasing its LMR above 1.0 or post security in the amount of the difference.

In Redwater's case, the Alberta Energy Regulator has advised that (in accordance with its standard policies) it will not
permit the transfer of the producing wells unless the non-producing wells are sold with them, or security is posted to cover
the anticipated environmental obligations.

17      Problems obviously arise when the owner, or "licensee", of a well fails to discharge its obligations with respect to
abandonment. The biggest risk arises with licensees that are so insolvent that they become subject to receivership and bankruptcy
proceedings. The definitions of "licensee" in the Oil and Gas Conservation Act and the Pipeline Act include not only the original
oil and gas company, but also any receiver or trustee in bankruptcy of that company. The obligation of such a receiver or trustee
to deal with the assets of the bankrupt company, with regard to its obligation to remediate oil wells, underlies these appeals.

18      As noted, the Receiver and Trustee purported to renounce or disclaim many of Redwater's assets, while realizing on
the valuable assets. To illustrate the position of the parties, as of September 2015 Redwater's Licensee Management Rating
was calculated as follows:

 Deemed Value
($Millions)

Deemed Liabilities
($Millions)

Net ($Millions) Liability Rating

Producing Wells $6.4 $2.248 $4.152 2.85
Non-producing
Wells

$0.547 $5.252 ($4.705) 0.30

Total $6.947 $7.5 ($0.553) 0.93

This chart demonstrates that, considered globally, Redwater's oil and gas assets had no net value under the Regulator's formula.

Its anticipated environmental abandonment costs exceeded its asset value by $553,000. 1  On the other hand, if only Redwater's
producing wells were considered, there was a significant amount of value available for its secured creditor. If the Trustee was
able to sell off only the producing assets, it might recover about $4.152 million, even if the purchaser had to assume inchoate
environmental liabilities of about $2.248 million.

19      The Regulator calculated Redwater's Licensee Management Rating as 0.93 at the time of the receivership. The policy of the
Regulator is that it will not insist on a ratio of 1.0 after a sale, but would be content if the present rating of 0.93 was maintained.
The Regulator's position is that all of an insolvent company's oil and gas assets must first be devoted to its environmental
obligations before any creditor can be paid. Thus, Redwater's secured creditor would not be entitled to any recovery after the
insolvency given the value of the various assets and the inherent environmental liabilities that were outstanding. In effect, the
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inchoate environmental claims are given a super priority over even the claims of secured creditors, by means of the Regulator's
control of the transfer of the underlying licences.

20      If the calculations are correct, and the true cost of remediating the non-producing wells exceeds the value of all the assets,
there would be no net value in Redwater's estate. If the remediation costs do enjoy a super priority, there would be no point to the
Alberta Treasury Branches retaining and paying an insolvency professional to wind up the Redwater estate. The prudent lender
in the circumstances would simply walk away from its loans, and all of the wells would truly become "orphaned". Further, if
lenders (even secured lenders) are faced with this kind of contingent risk, the amount of financing available to the oil and gas
industry can only decline substantially.

The Orphan Well Association

21      A well at the end of its life that is not controlled by a corporation that is financially able to shut it in and remediate the
surface will be designated an "orphan well" by the Alberta Energy Regulator: Oil and Gas Conservation Act, s. 70. Section
70(2) of the Act gives the Regulator the authority to "designate wells . . . for the purposes of this Part". Section 70(1)(a) allows
use of the "orphan fund":

(a) to pay for suspension costs, abandonment costs and related reclamation costs in respect of orphan wells, facilities,
facility sites and well sites . . .

Section 70(2)(b) authorizes the Regulator to deem working interest participants to be "defaulting" in a number of circumstances
including where, in the opinion of the Regulator, the participant "does not exist, cannot be located or does not have the
financial means to contribute" to remediation costs. The "orphan" concept is carried through the regulatory system, and is further
explained in the Licensee Liability Rating Directive 006:

7.1 Orphan Site

A well, facility, or pipeline in the LLR program is eligible to be declared an orphan when the licensee of that licence
becomes insolvent or defunct. Once it determines a well, facility, or pipeline meets the criteria outlined in section 70(2)
of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, the AER will designate it as an orphan. The well, facility, or pipeline will then be
considered to be an orphan for all aspects of this program: suspension, abandonment, remediation, and reclamation.

Designation as an orphan is usually only done after any insolvency process is completed, when and if it becomes apparent
that there is no one capable of properly abandoning the well.

22      The Orphan Well Association is a non-profit organization operating under authority delegated by the Alberta Energy
Regulator: Orphan Fund Delegated Administration Regulation, AR 45/2001. Its board includes representatives of various oil
and gas stakeholders. It is funded by an orphan fund levy imposed and controlled by the Alberta Energy Regulator, security
deposits that licensees have been required to post, and some limited government funding. The Alberta Energy Regulator
presently holds more than $290 million in security for compliance with end-of-life obligations.

23      The Orphan Well Association strives to abandon and reclaim wells that have been designated as "orphans" by the Alberta
Energy Regulator, but the number of orphan wells has seen a dramatic increase in recent years. As of September 2015 the
Orphan Well Association had 695 wells that needed to be abandoned and 503 sites that needed to be reclaimed. The Association
does not presently have sufficient resources to reclaim all the identified orphan wells, but hopes to complete the work over the
next 10 to 12 years. The Association has appealed the chambers decision as it predicts that decision will result in increasing
numbers of orphan wells.

The Constitutional Context

24      All the parties and intervenors agree:

(a) The Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act is valid federal legislation;
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(b) The Oil and Gas Conservation Act and the Pipeline Act are valid provincial legislation; and

(c) In case of conflict, the federal legislation prevails.

The paramountcy doctrine will be engaged if (i) there is an operational conflict between the federal and the provincial legislation
because it is impossible to comply with both laws, or (ii) if the provincial legislation fundamentally frustrates the objectives of
the federal legislation: Alberta (Attorney General) v. Moloney, 2015 SCC 51 (S.C.C.) at para. 18, [2015] 3 S.C.R. 327 (S.C.C.);
407 ETR Concession Co. v. Canada (Superintendent of Bankruptcy), 2015 SCC 52, [2015] 3 S.C.R. 397 (S.C.C.). Under the
principle of cooperative federalism the court will first attempt to interpret and apply the two provisions in harmony with each
other, and only if that fails will paramountcy be invoked.

25      To be specific, no party disputed the ability of the Alberta Energy Regulator to regulate and license all aspects of
the upstream oil and gas industry. That includes managing environmental and end-of-life issues, for example by maintaining
Liability Management Ratings and requiring security for end-of-life obligations where deemed appropriate. The Regulator can
control the transfer of AER licences and licensed properties. The applicable provincial legislation is all validly enacted within
the Province's constitutional jurisdiction. The result of the trial reasons is not that the Alberta Energy Regulator cannot regulate
end-of-life obligations, it just means that the Regulator must not wait until an event of insolvency before doing so.

26      The priorities of the various claims are to be decided under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act: AbitibiBowater Inc., Re,
2012 SCC 67 (S.C.C.) at paras. 18-9, [2012] 3 S.C.R. 443 (S.C.C.). If that outcome is consistent with the outcome under the
provincial legislation, there is no constitutional issue. If the outcome under the provincial legislation is inconsistent with the
outcome under the BIA, then it is conceded that the latter prevails. If the BIA says that one obligation is to be satisfied in priority,
and the provincial legislation says that a different obligation must be discharged, there is an operational conflict. The provinces
cannot intentionally or unintentionally reorder the priority of claims in bankruptcy: Husky Oil Operations Ltd. v. Minister of
National Revenue, [1995] 3 S.C.R. 453 (S.C.C.).

27      Both subsections 14.06(2) and (4) of the BIA (discussed infra, paras. 53ff) expressly provide that they operate
"notwithstanding anything in any federal or provincial law". With respect to other federal statutes, this is an interpretive aid
that confirms the primacy of the BIA in case of conflict. This proviso performs the same interpretive function with respect to
inconsistent provincial legislation. Its validity in that respect derives from the paramountcy doctrine.

28      As the Attorney General for Saskatchewan points out, analogous federal environmental obligations can arise under the
National Energy Board Act, RSC 1985, c. N-7, s. 48(1.1). If those federal obligations were present on bankruptcy, the trustee
would be in the same position of having to decide whether those obligations enjoyed a super priority in the bankruptcy process.
There would potentially be a conflict between two valid federal statutes, which conflict would have to be resolved without
resort to the paramountcy doctrine. In that event the specific provisions of the BIA would prevail, because they state that they
apply "notwithstanding anything in any federal or provincial law". Thus, determining that the provincial obligations at issue
in these appeals do not create a super priority would not generate an anomalous result as argued. The possible existence of
these federal obligations does, however, confirm that the constitutional issues in these appeals are only complementary to the
primary statutory interpretation issue.

Mineral Property in Alberta

29      Privately owned land in Alberta is physically divided and the title to it established under the Torrens system. Typically the
title to the surface and the title to the minerals are separated. Most surface titles in Alberta are subject to the proviso: "Excepting
thereout all mines and minerals". There is then, for each parcel, a separate mineral title showing the owner of the mineral rights.

30      About 10% of the mineral titles in Alberta are held privately, mostly through titles that originally vested in the Hudson's
Bay Company or the national railroads: Bearspaw Petroleum Ltd., Re, [2007] A.E.U.B.D. No. 24 (Alta. E.U.B.) at para. 5. The
vast majority of mineral rights are held by the Crown. Oil and gas companies could therefore hold the rights to the minerals in fee
simple, or by lease from the fee simple owner, but more commonly they are exploited under an agreement with the Crown. The
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outcome of this appeal does not change depending on whether the mineral titles are publically or privately owned. The mineral
rights themselves may be stratified, with different parties having rights to different underground formations. There are also a
number of "farm out" and "working interest" arrangements whereby several parties can have common interests in the minerals.

31      In Alberta, ownership of the minerals does not include the right to occupy the surface for the purpose of exploiting the
minerals: Surface Rights Act, RSA 2000, c. S-24, s. 12. Thus, anyone seeking to extract minerals must have a) rights to the
minerals, and b) a right to occupy the surface. Surface rights are obtained either by negotiating a lease with the surface owner
(for example, the farmer owning the surface) or by obtaining an order from the Surface Rights Board. The right to occupy the
surface usually terminates when the well is abandoned and reclaimed.

32      Rights to exploit oil and gas in Alberta, short of a fee simple ownership interest, may be described in various ways:
leases, licences, "agreements" under the Mines and Minerals Act, RSA 2000, c. M-17, "working interest" arrangements, profits
à prendre, etc. At common law a "licence" or a contract are usually not interests in land, because they generally do not bind
subsequent owners of the property. In Alberta, however, what are sometimes described as "agreements" or "licences" to extract
minerals are in the nature of profits à prendre, and are properly regarded as interests in land: see Law of Property Act, RSA 2000,
c. L-7, s. 79; Mines and Minerals Act, secs. 1(1)(a), 80(1)(b); Alberta Energy Co. v. Goodwell Petroleum Corp., 2003 ABCA
277 (Alta. C.A.) at para. 63, (2003), 22 Alta. L.R. (4th) 4, 339 A.R. 201 (Alta. C.A.); Saulnier (Receiver of) v. Saulnier, 2008
SCC 58 (S.C.C.) at para. 28, [2008] 3 S.C.R. 166 (S.C.C.); British Columbia v. Tener, [1985] 1 S.C.R. 533 (S.C.C.) at p. 541.

33      Redwater owned a number of profits à prendre relating to oil and gas deposits in Alberta. The BIA contains a very
wide definition of "property", including " . . . land and every description of property, whether real or personal . . . and every
description of estate, interest and profit, present or future, vested or contingent . . . " in property. This definition clearly includes
profits à prendre. While there is no separate definition of "real property", it too should be given an expansive meaning where
it is used, especially in s. 14.06(4) which refers to "any interest in any real property." It follows that, for bankruptcy purposes,
Redwater's interests in oil and gas deposits should be regarded as interests in real property, and Redwater should be treated as
an owner of those real property interests.

34      The word "licence" has several meanings in the context of this appeal. It can mean an agreement giving a proprietary
right in minerals or a right to exploit or extract the minerals in land. It can also mean a regulatory licence required to engage in
a particular activity. Care must be taken when referring to "licences" in the analysis.

35      Regulatory licences themselves fall into different categories. There are what might be called "permissive" licences, such
as the driver's licence at issue in Alberta (Attorney General) v. Moloney. Such a licence allows a person to drive, but does not
give any proprietary rights in the automobile or the highways. They are sometimes described as mere privileges. Regulatory
licences are permissive, but are also tools used to regulate how the permitted activity must be undertaken.

36      There are also what might be called "quota" licences such as the fishing licence at issue in Saulnier. The fishing licence
gave "a good deal more than merely permission to do that which would otherwise be unlawful" (at para. 43). It also gave the
licence holder a proprietary right in any wild fish caught, and so was "a licence coupled with a proprietary interest" (at para.
22). While the Saulnier fishing licence did not guarantee a fishing quota or that fish would be caught, without such a licence no
quota or catch was possible. As a result, the licence in Saulnier had proprietary characteristics. Another example of a licence
with proprietary characteristics is a taxi licence in a municipality which limits the number of licences available.

37      Oil and gas proprietary mineral rights cannot be exploited without a licence from the Alberta Energy Regulator, but that
does not mean the value of the assets rests in the AER licence as opposed to the mineral deposit. It does not mean, as the Orphan
Well Association argues, that the value is in the AER licence because mineral deposits only have value "to the extent that the
mines and minerals can be exploited". To illustrate, a person can own a car, but cannot drive it without a driver's licence. That
is a permissive licence, because it gives permission to use the asset. Assume that someone buys a car for $30,000, and has it
delivered to his or her driveway. One week later the purchaser acquires a driver's licence, and a licence plate for the vehicle
(cost, $84). Under the appellants' argument, the car has no value for the week that it sits on the driveway, because it cannot be
"exploited" without the licence plate. It would also appear to follow that, once the licence plate is acquired, the licence plate is
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worth $30,000, not the car. The car, however, has an economic value, and one would not say that value rests in the licence, as
opposed to the vehicle itself, just because the owner cannot drive it without the licence. Even if the owner cannot drive, the car
can be sold for full value to someone who can drive, or a licence can be acquired for a modest cost. Likewise, a company can
own mineral (oil and gas) rights which have value. The oil and gas rights cannot be exploited without a licence from the Alberta
Energy Regulator, but that does not mean the value of the asset rests in the AER licence as opposed to the mineral deposit.

38      The licences issued by the Alberta Energy Regulator are permissive in nature. Without an AER licence, one is not legally
allowed to exploit oil and gas properties, but having an AER licence gives no right to exploit mineral resources unless the
holder also has proprietary rights in the minerals themselves. Unlike the licence in Saulnier, an AER licence does not give the
oil company the right to "wild oil" that it does not already own. Oil and gas properties can only effectively be transferred to
another person eligible to hold an AER licence, but the AER licence itself has no proprietary value. It follows that by attempting
to extract value on a transfer of the AER licences, the Regulator is in effect transferring the proprietary value in the bankrupt
estate from the underlying real property assets to the AER licences.

39      Mr. Saulnier had a fishing boat, fishing gear, and a licence with proprietary aspects. They all had value. It could not
be said that the boat was valueless, because it could not be used without a licence. Mr. Saulnier could have sold the boat for
its fair value, and kept the licence with its separate value. He could have sold the boat to one person, and sold the licence to
someone else. While the particular type of fishing licence involved in Saulnier had independent value, it could not be said that
the entire value of the enterprise rested in the licence.

40      Redwater had profits à prendre and AER permissive licences. It could have sold the profits à prendre to anyone else for
their fair value. Redwater could have surrendered the AER permissive licences, or attempted to transfer the licences with the
profits à prendre. There is, however, no evidence that the AER licences have any intrinsic value themselves, much less that all
of the value of the oil and gas deposits rests in the licence. The effect of the Alberta Energy Regulator's policies is to transfer
the value from the assets to the AER licences by imposing conditions on the transfers of the permissive licences. Those policies
also have the effect of transferring the asserted value from the AER licences on the producing wells to the AER licences on the
non-producing wells. The imposition of those conditions does not, however, make the AER licences "property."

41      In summary, a "licence" or "agreement" giving a proprietary right to exploit minerals in Alberta is both "property" and
"real property". A permissive AER licence is neither "property" nor "real property". The economic value, at least for bankruptcy
purposes, rests in the mines and minerals property itself, and not in the AER licence.

The Bankruptcy Regime

42      The central issue in these appeals is the priority and treatment of environmental liabilities on bankruptcy, and the primary
source of law on the issue is the federal Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. The leading case is Newfoundland and Labrador v
AbitibiBowater Inc. For the purposes of these appeals, the scheme of the BIA can be summed up as follows:

(a) the purposes of the BIA, in general terms, are:

(i) to provide for the orderly liquidation and winding up of the insolvent debtor, at the minimum expense (the "single
proceeding" model): AbitibiBowater at para. 21. All competing proceedings are stayed by the bankruptcy;

(ii) to distribute the realizable assets fairly among the creditors, having regard to the legal priority of various types
of debts; and

(iii) to provide the bankrupt with a "fresh start", free of the burden of crushing debt.

(b) the primary tool of the BIA is the "trustee in bankruptcy" who takes charge of the assets and liquidation on behalf of
the creditors, under the supervision of the court.

(c) a central concept in the bankruptcy regime is "claims provable in bankruptcy" (s. 121), which are the ones encompassed
by the "single proceeding" model.
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(d) the priority of distribution is set out in s. 136, and is essentially:

(i) secured creditors (ss. 71, 75, 136(1)): "subject to the rights of secured creditors");

(ii) administrative costs (s. 136(1)(b));

(iii) various "preferred creditors" listed in s. 136;

(iv) unsecured creditors, sharing rateably if there are insufficient funds.

(e) notwithstanding the objective of giving the debtor a fresh start, there are a number of debts listed in s. 178 that, for
public policy reasons, survive bankruptcy.

43      When an individual is discharged from bankruptcy, he or she will obtain the "fresh start" which is one of the objectives
of the regime. That "fresh start" is subject to some limits. The discharged bankrupt is still responsible for those debts that have
survived bankruptcy. In addition, any claims or obligations "not provable in bankruptcy" are not dealt with in the bankruptcy,
and continue. Thus, any regulatory or environmental obligations that are not provable in bankruptcy will continue to bind the
bankrupt.

44      The "fresh start", however, is only true with bankrupt entities that continue to exist. Corporations are not discharged from
bankruptcy. After a bankrupt corporation is liquidated it is usually wound up or struck off and ceases to exist. Any regulatory
or environmental obligations that were not provable in bankruptcy may exist in theory, but there is no entity against which they
could be enforced. The burden of those obligations essentially falls on society at large, which often means the government. In
the circumstances under consideration in these appeals, some of those "at large" obligations are taken up by the Orphan Well
Association, using the funds that have been set aside for that purpose. But if the end-of-life obligations exceed the capacity of
the Orphan Well Association, the residual environmental obligations will still fall on society at large.

45      A court order appointing a receiver will generally give the receiver the power to take possession and control of all of the
assets. All of the assets of a bankrupt automatically vest in the trustee, "subject to the rights of secured creditors": s. 71. The
effect of s. 71 is to a) automatically vest the assets in the trustee without further documentation, b) terminate the ability of the
bankrupt to deal with the property, and c) allow for the transfer of the assets of the bankrupt estate from one trustee to another.
The vesting provision does not provide that a trustee has no ability to disclaim assets that have no realizable value.

46      The appellants note that the original receivership order granted the Receiver control of all of Redwater's assets. They argue
that the attempt to renounce the non-producing assets is inconsistent with the order. To be able to renounce assets, however,
the receiver or trustee must first have control of them. If the receivership order had not given the Receiver control of the non-
producing assets, there would be nothing to renounce. Section 14.06(4) assumes that the trustee will have control of the assets
(either by court order or by operation of the BIA) prior to renouncing them. The form of the original receivership order is of
no consequence. It is also of no consequence that Grant Thornton disclaimed the assets twice: once in its capacity as receiver,
and again as trustee after the assets re-vested under s. 71.

47      It is commonplace for trustees and receivers to disclaim or "abandon" assets. Whether they formally abandon the assets,
or merely leave them unrealized at the end of the bankruptcy process makes little difference. A trustee must transfer unrealized
assets to the bankrupt at the end of the process: s. 40. If a trustee decides that an oil and gas well has no net realizable value,
either because it is depleted or because it has attached to it liabilities in excess of its value, the trustee can effectively ignore
the asset. As discussed infra, paras. 57, 63 the BIA recognizes the ability of a trustee to abandon assets that are subject to
environmental obligations.

48      Section 20 of the BIA provides that a trustee may, with the permission of the inspectors, divest any estate or interest in
real property, and that the registrar of land titles must accept such a disclaimer. The title will revert back into the name of the
bankrupt. The appellants argue that this is the only provision that allows a trustee to disclaim property, but it merely confirms
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that the disclaimer must be accepted by the registrar for registration. In any event, as discussed supra, paras. 31-3, interests in
oil and gas properties are properly regarded as real property, and would fall within the section.

Environmental Claims in Bankruptcy

49      These appeals are concerned with the treatment of environmental liabilities on bankruptcy, which are specifically dealt
with in the BIA. It is, however, appropriate to first examine the law as it existed prior to 1997, particularly the 1991 decision
in PanAmericana v Northern Badger. The Regulator's policies at the date of Redwater's insolvency derived from the decision
in Northern Badger.

50      Northern Badger owned partial working interests in 11 producing wells, and 20 wells in a non-producing condition. In
May, 1987 it was placed in receivership by its secured creditor, PanAmericana. Northern Badger was placed into bankruptcy
effective as of July 7, 1987. On July 20, 1987 the Energy Resources Conservation Board (the predecessor to the Alberta Energy
Regulator) wrote to Northern Badger requiring an undertaking that the wells would be operated, and eventually abandoned, in
accordance with the applicable regulations. The receiver replied that 21 of the wells had been transferred to other parties, and
that it was striving to transfer all of the assets and liabilities.

51      The receiver was eventually able to sell the remaining Northern Badger assets for $1.85 million. The sale, however,
allowed the purchaser to exclude any wells that had inherent abandonment costs greater than the value of the well. The Court
approved the sale, but neither it or the Board had been told about the back-out clause. The purchaser subsequently returned 7
wells, which carried abandonment obligations of about $200,000, back to the receiver, which in turn proposed to turn them over
to the trustee in bankruptcy. In 1989 the Board discovered what had happened, and issued an order requiring the preparation
of abandonment programs for the 7 wells.

52      The issue then arose as to whether the receiver could pay the net sale proceeds to the secured creditor, or whether it had to
devote sufficient funds to cover Northern Badger's share of the abandonment costs of the 7 wells. A chambers judge concluded
that the claim of the secured creditor had priority over the claim of the Board, but the Court of Appeal reversed. The Court held:

(a) The Board's order did not create a "claim provable in bankruptcy". While Northern Badger had a reclamation liability
"inchoate from the day the wells were drilled", there was nothing owed to the Board so as to make it a "creditor". A public
authority enforcing public law is not a "creditor" of the person owing the public duty;

(b) The statutory obligation to abandon spent wells was part of the general law of Alberta, binding on all licensees, but
this duty is owed to the public at large. Enforcement of that duty does not involve the recovery of money, and is merely
enforcement of the general law;

(c) The issue was not therefore whether the Board as a "creditor" had priority over the other creditors, but rather whether
the receiver, which had operated the wells, had a duty to abandon them;

(d) While the Board had never granted an operating licence to the receiver, the receiver had by court order stepped into the
shoes of Northern Badger, had operated the wells for three years, and as an officer of the court was under an obligation to
discharge Northern Badger's public duty to abandon the wells. The back-out clause in the sale contract had been deliberately
inserted to impermissibly sidestep this obligation;

(e) The provincial legislative scheme did not conflict with federal insolvency legislation, because the provincial statute was
legislation of general application relating to the regulation of the oil and gas industry, and while there might be incidental
effects on the priority provisions of the Bankruptcy Act, there was no direct conflict in operation.

The effect of Northern Badger was to make receivers responsible for discharging environmental obligations of the insolvent
company, and to place the costs of remedying environmental damage ahead of the claims of even secured creditors. The
Legislature of Alberta subsequently amended the legislation to include receivers and trustees in bankruptcy in the definitions
of "licensee", thus confirming the interpretation in Northern Badger.
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53      Amendments first introduced into the BIA in 1997 deal with environmental claims in some detail:

No trustee is bound to act

14.06 (1) No trustee is bound to assume the duties of trustee in matters relating to assignments, bankruptcy orders
or proposals, but having accepted an appointment in relation to those matters the trustee shall, until discharged or
another trustee is appointed in the trustee's stead, perform the duties required of a trustee under this Act.

Application

(1.1) In subsections (1.2) to (6), a reference to a trustee means a trustee in a bankruptcy or proposal and includes

(a) an interim receiver;

(b) a receiver within the meaning of subsection 243(2); and

(c) any other person who has been lawfully appointed to take, or has lawfully taken, possession or control of any
property of an insolvent person or a bankrupt that was acquired for, or is used in relation to, a business carried on
by the insolvent person or bankrupt.

. . .

Liability in respect of environmental matters

(2) Notwithstanding anything in any federal or provincial law, a trustee is not personally liable in that position for any
environmental condition that arose or environmental damage that occurred

(a) before the trustee's appointment; or

(b) after the trustee's appointment unless it is established that the condition arose or the damage occurred as a result of
the trustee's gross negligence or wilful misconduct or, in the Province of Quebec, the trustee's gross or intentional fault.

Reports, etc., still required

(3) Nothing in subsection (2) exempts a trustee from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by a law referred to
in that subsection.

Non-liability re certain orders

(4) Notwithstanding anything in any federal or provincial law but subject to subsection (2), where an order is made which
has the effect of requiring a trustee to remedy any environmental condition or environmental damage affecting property
involved in a bankruptcy, proposal or receivership, the trustee is not personally liable for failure to comply with the order,
and is not personally liable for any costs that are or would be incurred by any person in carrying out the terms of the order,

(a) if, within such time as is specified in the order, within ten days after the order is made if no time is so specified,
within ten days after the appointment of the trustee, if the order is in effect when the trustee is appointed, or during
the period of the stay referred to in paragraph (b), the trustee

(i) complies with the order, or

(ii) on notice to the person who issued the order, abandons, disposes of or otherwise releases any interest in any
real property, or any right in any immovable, affected by the condition or damage;
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(b) during the period of a stay of the order granted, on application made within the time specified in the order referred
to in paragraph (a), within ten days after the order is made or within ten days after the appointment of the trustee, if
the order is in effect when the trustee is appointed, by

(i) the court or body having jurisdiction under the law pursuant to which the order was made to enable the trustee
to contest the order, or

(ii) the court having jurisdiction in bankruptcy for the purposes of assessing the economic viability of complying
with the order; or

(c) if the trustee had, before the order was made, abandoned or renounced or been divested of any interest in any real
property, or any right in any immovable, affected by the condition or damage.

Stay may be granted

(5) The court may grant a stay of the order referred to in subsection (4) on such notice and for such period as the court
deems necessary for the purpose of enabling the trustee to assess the economic viability of complying with the order.

Costs for remedying not costs of administration

(6) If the trustee has abandoned or renounced any interest in any real property, or any right in any immovable, affected
by the environmental condition or environmental damage, claims for costs of remedying the condition or damage shall
not rank as costs of administration.

Priority of claims

(7) Any claim by Her Majesty in right of Canada or a province against the debtor in a bankruptcy, proposal or receivership
for costs of remedying any environmental condition or environmental damage affecting real property or an immovable
of the debtor is secured by security on the real property or immovable affected by the environmental condition or
environmental damage and on any other real property or immovable of the debtor that is contiguous with that real property
or immovable and that is related to the activity that caused the environmental condition or environmental damage, and
the security

(a) is enforceable in accordance with the law of the jurisdiction in which the real property or immovable is located,
in the same way as a mortgage, hypothec or other security on real property or immovables; and

(b) ranks above any other claim, right, charge or security against the property, despite any other provision of this Act
or anything in any other federal or provincial law.

Claim for clean-up costs

(8) Despite subsection 121(1), a claim against a debtor in a bankruptcy or proposal for the costs of remedying any environmental
condition or environmental damage affecting real property or an immovable of the debtor shall be a provable claim, whether
the condition arose or the damage occurred before or after the date of the filing of the proposal or the date of the bankruptcy.

54      The effects of s. 14.06 can be summarized:

(a) a trustee in bankruptcy is not personally liable for

(i) pre-bankruptcy environmental "conditions" or damage (s. 14.06(2)(a)),

(ii) post-bankruptcy environmental "conditions" or damage, absent specified misconduct ("gross negligence or
wilful misconduct") (s. 14.06(2)(b)),
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(iii) compliance with post-bankruptcy "orders", "notwithstanding anything in any federal or provincial law", so
long as the trustee abandons or releases any interest in the "real property" that is "affected by the condition or
damage" within the time specified (s. 14.06(4)(a)),

but, a trustee is bound to comply with environmental reporting duties (s. 14.06(3)),

(b) notwithstanding the general definition of provable claims in subsection 121(1), a claim for the costs of remedying
any environmental condition is provable in bankruptcy whether the condition arose before or after the bankruptcy (s.
14.06(8)). This provision is of general application and is not tied to "personal liability" of trustees,

(c) the bankrupt estate remains liable for environmental damage, and must comply with environmental reporting
duties, and

(i) remediation costs for abandoned property do not rank in priority as "costs of administration" (s. 14.06(6)),

(ii) claims by Canada or a province for "remedying any environmental condition or environmental damage"
are a secured charge on the real property or any "contiguous" property "related to the activity" that caused the
environmental damage (s. 14.06(7)), and

(iii) the deemed secured charge ranks prior to any other claim or security against the property (s. 14.06(7)(b)).

The environmental sections of the BIA are provisions of general application, in force all across Canada, applicable to all types
of assets. The general wording used has to be interpreted and applied having regard to the particular circumstances. Oil and gas
properties have certain unusual features which require a contextual application of these provisions.

55      For example, s. 14.06(7) grants a security interest to a government that remediates property. That section does not create
any generalized priority or super priority for existing or contingent environmental liabilities; it only comes into play where a
government has actually remediated specific contaminated property. While that section operates through the use of a limited and
focused super priority, it is based on the restitutionary principle that a party that discharges the obligation of another is entitled to
be compensated for its efforts by the original obligee and its successors in title. It simply recognizes a type of subrogated claim,
and is not a part of any broader "statutory compromise". If a government ends up having to incur the expense of remediating
property, the previous defaulting owner or its secured creditor cannot insist on getting back the restored land without refunding
those costs to the government. For example, if a government remediates a site (say an industrial site, or an open pit mine)
resulting in a parcel of land with some value (say a clean industrial site, or perhaps only pasture or parkland) the government
has a security interest in that site. If the defaulting owner wants to get that parcel back, it has to pay the remediation costs.

56      Section 14.06(7) will rarely, if ever, have any practical application to oil and gas wells. If a government (directly, or
through an agency like the Orphan Well Association) remediates an abandoned well, there is usually nothing of value left. The
oil well itself is cemented-in at various underground formations, and becomes nothing more than a plugged hole in the ground.
The well is shut-in at the surface, and the surface remediated. At that point the surface rights terminate, and there is no property
interest of value left. Thus, the security interest created by s. 14.06(7) is of no real value, subject to two possible exceptions. It
is possible that in the future someone might drill a new well, parallel to the shut-in well, and again seek to exploit the oil and
gas deposit. This assumes, however, that the deposit has not been depleted, but that it has insufficient present economic value to
be marketable by the trustee, assumptions that have no air of reality to them. The second possible exception is that the security

interest created by s. 14.06(7) also attaches to "contiguous" properties with value. 2

57      For the purposes of these appeals, there are some other consequences of s. 14.06 worth highlighting:

(a) Absent the specified forms of misconduct in s. 14.06(2)(b), the trustee or receiver is not personally liable for
environmental liabilities, meaning that the obligation to remedy that type of damage is limited to the assets available in
the bankrupt estate itself;
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(b) The amendments to the provincial legislation to include receivers and trustees in the definition of "licensee" have no
ultimate effect on the outcome of these appeals, because s. 14.06 states that the BIA provisions apply "notwithstanding any
provincial law." Trustees do not have to "step into the regulatory shoes" of the bankrupt, and do not have to take assets
with "warts";

(c) A trustee can abandon or renounce assets encumbered with environmental obligations, in this case the profits à prendre
in the oil and gas deposits, not the surface or underlying mineral titles in which the bankrupt estate has no other interest;

(d) Environmental claims, whether contingent or "inchoate from the day the wells were drilled", are now provable in
bankruptcy under s. 14.06(8) if sufficiently expressed in monetary terms: AbitibiBowater at para. 26. The already wide
definition of "provable claims" in s. 121 is clarified and expanded with respect to environmental obligations. The decision
in AbitibiBowater, which dealt with claims against the insolvent estate, not just the monitor, demonstrates that s. 14.06(8)
is of general application, and not just about the personal liability of trustees and receivers. For example, any claim for
environmental damage asserted by the owner of the surface title would clearly be a claim provable in bankruptcy;

(e) The amendments do not change the basic priority regime in bankruptcy described supra, para. 42(d). The order of
payment of claims in bankruptcy under s. 136 is still "subject to the rights of secured parties". Parliament did not (as it
could have) provide that provable claims are to be paid "subject to environmental claims, and next subject to the rights
of secured creditors": AbitibiBowater at para. 33.

(f) Section 14.06(7) does not create any generalized super priority, nor does it purport to disrupt the normal priority of
claims. Indeed, if environmental claims do enjoy a general super priority as argued by the appellants, s. 14.07 would appear
to be of little practical effect other than to attach "contiguous" assets;

(g) Specifically, if anyone (such as the Orphan Well Association) did spend funds on remediating a disclaimed oil well,
under s. 14.06(6) those costs are not part of the administration costs in the bankruptcy, and so would not achieve the priority
given to those costs: see supra, para. 42(d). This subsection would not be needed at all if environmental claims had a super
priority over even secured claims, because in that event they would rank prior to administrative costs as well. It was argued
that s. 14.06(6) only applies to "claims", and (it would appear to follow) not remediation costs incurred by the trustee itself.
It is unlikely that a trustee would be permitted to spend estate funds on remediating a well it had disclaimed, as that would

amount to dispersing the estate other than in accordance with the priorities established by law. 3  But if the trustee incurred
expenses on remediation of abandoned wells, why would they be given a higher priority (as administration costs) than the
same expenses when incurred by a third party (which, on this argument, appear to be ordinary unsecured claims)?

Section 14.06 does not except environmental claims out of the general bankruptcy regime; on the contrary, it tries to incorporate
them within that regime. While these provisions should be regarded as a "complete code", in the sense that they provide the only
exceptions to the general bankruptcy regime applicable to environmental claims, they are not a "stand-alone code". They assume
that the general bankruptcy regime applies to environmental claims, except for the particular rules found in s. 14.06 itself.

58      The provisions respecting environmental claims on bankruptcy were examined in AbitibiBowater. Abitibi conducted
mining, logging and pulp and paper operations on five sites in Newfoundland until it became insolvent. It applied for bankruptcy
protection in the United States, and a stay in Canada under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, RSC 1985, c. C-36.
The case is not, strictly speaking, about s. 14.06 of the BIA, but the key provisions in the two statutes are the same.

59      The Province cancelled Abitibi's operational rights, expropriated three of the five Abitibi sites, and issued orders requiring
remediation of all five sites. The issue was whether the stay issued in the CCAA proceedings extended to that type of order. The
Supreme Court confirmed that not all regulatory orders are sufficiently quantified to qualify as "provable claims" in insolvency
proceedings.
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60      If the environmental obligation is framed in monetary terms, it will qualify as a provable claim: AbitibiBowater at paras.
2, 30. If it is not framed in monetary terms, it must be examined to see whether it will "ripen into a financial liability", having
regard to the "factual matrix and the applicable statutory framework" (at paras. 3, 31). There is a three part test (at para. 26):

(a) There must be a debt, liability or obligation to a creditor. When a regulatory body exercises its enforcement powers
against a debtor, it is a "creditor" in insolvency proceedings (at para. 27);

(b) The debt, liability or obligation must be incurred at the relevant time in relation to the insolvency. For environmental
claims, this can be before or after the insolvency proceedings have commenced (CCAA, s. 11.8(9); BIA, s. 14.06(8)); and

(c) It must be possible to attach a monetary value to the debt, liability or obligation. The claim may be contingent, as long
as it is not too remote or speculative to be included with the other claims. That depends on whether there is "sufficient
certainty" that the regulatory body will ultimately perform remediation and crystallize the claim (at para. 36). In assessing
the certainty of the claim, the court can examine the entire factual context, including whether the debtor is in control of the
property, whether it has the means to comply with the order, whether there are other parties responsible for the remediation,
as well as the effect that compliance with the order would have on the insolvency process.

The Supreme Court held that the test had been met in AbitibiBowater, and that the environmental orders were "provable claims"
caught by the stay under the CCAA.

61      AbitibiBowater confirms some general principles about the treatment of environmental claims on insolvency. Firstly,
environmental claims do not have any higher or special priority: AbitibiBowater at para. 19. Section 14.06 does not create
any generalized super priority, nor does it purport to disrupt the normal priority of claims. The order of payment of claims in
bankruptcy under s. 136 is still "subject to the rights of secured parties". "If Parliament had intended that the debtor always
satisfy all remediation costs, it would have granted the Crown a priority with respect to the totality of the debtor's assets":
AbitibiBowater at para. 33.

62      Secondly, bankruptcy does not absolve the bankrupt corporation of its environmental obligations: AbitibiBowater at para.
40. Neither s. 14.06 nor the reasons of the chambers judge "mandate the release of liability of the estate for complying with
regulatory orders", as the Orphan Well Association argues. Those obligations continue, although the corporation will likely be
without the means to satisfy them. The trustee is not personally liable for environmental obligations, but that does not mean that
the bankrupt debtor's estate is not liable. Environmental claims that are not provable in bankruptcy under the AbitibiBowater

test will not be affected by the bankruptcy. 4

63      AbitibiBowater at para. 47 confirms that Northern Badger cannot survive the 1997 amendments to the BIA. For example:

(a) Section 14.06(8) provides that a claim arising from environmental damage can be a claim provable in bankruptcy, and
that a regulator can be a "creditor": AbitibiBowater at paras. 26-7. The findings that environmental claims are not provable
in bankruptcy, and that regulators are not creditors, were central to the analysis in Northern Badger.

(b) Section 14.06(4) confirms that a receiver or trustee can "abandon" property burdened with environmental liabilities,
notwithstanding that all assets of the bankrupt vest in the trustee under s. 71. This effectively reverses the finding in
Northern Badger that the receiver in that case could not take the benefits of some wells, while abandoning the public duty
to remediate other wells. Section 14.06 does not appear to create a right in a trustee to abandon properties without value,
but rather assumes that one exists upon bankruptcy. Even if it does create the right to abandon, and even if abandonment
is limited to "real property", interests in oil and gas properties are interests in real property (supra, paras. 32-3). It is the
physical oil and gas assets that become contaminated, not the paper AER licences. It is the physical assets that are renounced
by the trustee, not the AER licences. In any event, the trustee can merely disregard assets incapable of realization and must
turn them back to the bankrupt under s. 40, making the point moot.
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(c) Under the amended BIA, the environmental liabilities rest on the bankrupt estate. Section 14.06(6) provides that
remediation costs of abandoned properties do not rank as costs of administration. Thus it must be implied that if the trustee
should incur costs in remediating abandoned properties, those costs cannot be paid prior to the other listed preferred claims,
or the claims of secured creditors. The result in Northern Badger is inconsistent with this outcome: General Chemical
Canada Ltd., Re, 2007 ONCA 600 (Ont. C.A.) at paras. 45-6, (2007), 35 C.B.R. (5th) 163 (Ont. C.A.).

(d) Northern Badger only examined the applicability of the paramountcy doctrine based on "direct operational conflict",
whereas the law now confirms that paramountcy also arises when the provincial legislation frustrates the purpose of the
federal legislation: Moloney, 407 ETR Concession Co.. To the extent that the provincial legislation requires a trustee to
give priority to environmental claims, it is inoperative.

Northern Badger categorized environmental claims as not being "provable in bankruptcy", and so outside the bankruptcy
process. Section 14.06(8) and AbitibiBowater now confirm that some environmental claims are provable in bankruptcy, in
particular when they meet the three part test in AbitibiBowater. For claims that do not meet the AbitibiBowater test, Northern
Badger may still apply. Whether the claims at issue in these appeals are provable in bankruptcy must be determined under the
tests in s. 14.06 and AbitibiBowater, and Northern Badger is of limited assistance.

64      The decision in AbitibiBowater cannot be distinguished on the basis that remediation and abandonment obligations
attaching to oil and gas assets are anticipated in advance, "inherent in the nature of the properties", or a part of the overall
permission (represented by the AER licence) to extract the resource. The same thing could be said about the environmental
obligations in AbitibiBowater. The need to close down and remediate the mine (especially its tailing ponds) and pulp and paper
mills involved in that appeal would also have been known and anticipated the first day the mine was opened and the pulp
and paper mills commenced operations. Any regulatory authority granted to operate those facilities would have been given
on the premise that, at the right time, proper remediation would occur. These future obligations of the debtor become claims
provable in bankruptcy when they arise, so long as they are reduced to a monetary claim and meet the other conditions set
out in AbitibiBowater.

65      The appellants argue that s. 14.06 only deals with the personal liability of trustees and receivers. They argue that the
section merely means that the Trustee has no further environmental obligations once the assets of the Redwater estate are
exhausted. However, they argue, until the assets of the estate are exhausted, the Trustee is obliged to discharge all of Redwater's
environmental obligations. The appellants essentially argue that "personal liability" of the Trustee is a condition precedent to
the operation of these provisions.

66      The appellants rely extensively on debates in the House of Commons Standing Committee on Industry as recorded in
Hansard. They argue that these debates demonstrate that the primary purpose of the BIA amendments was to deal with the
personal liability of trustees. The extracts from Hansard quoted by the various parties reveal, however, that many topics other
than personal liability of trustees were discussed by the Committee.

67      Debates in Parliament can be helpful in determining the pith and substance of legislation, in identifying the mischief
addressed, and in determining the overall purpose of the legislation: NAV Canada c. Wilmington Trust Co., 2006 SCC 24
(S.C.C.) at para. 57, [2006] 1 S.C.R. 865 (S.C.C.). Absent some clear ambiguity, they are of limited assistance in interpreting the
precise wording of the legislation: PIPSC v. Canada (Attorney General), 2012 SCC 71 (S.C.C.) at para. 95, [2012] 3 S.C.R. 660
(S.C.C.). That is particularly so when the comments are not those of the responsible Minister: A.Y.S.A. Amateur Youth Soccer
Assn. v. Canada Revenue Agency, 2007 SCC 42 (S.C.C.) at para. 12, [2007] 3 S.C.R. 217 (S.C.C.) ; R. c. Lavigne, 2006 SCC 10
(S.C.C.) at para. 41, [2006] 1 S.C.R. 392 (S.C.C.). In any event, the debates recorded in Hansard cannot prevail over the plain
wording of the legislation as it is eventually enacted, and as it has been interpreted in decisions like AbitibiBowater.

68      Section 14.06(4) does not limit the power of the trustee to renounce or disclaim properties to those circumstances where
it might be exposed to personal liability. Further, there is nothing in AbitibiBowater to suggest any such limit on the operation
of the section; as noted, AbitibiBowater dealt with claims against the insolvent estate, not just the personal liability of the
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monitor. The section does not appear to create a right to disclaim assets, but assumes that the right exists. Both s. 14.06(4)(b)
and 14.06(5) contemplate the trustee considering the "economic viability" of the assets, which obviously goes well beyond the
trustee's personal liability.

69      Section 14.06(2) provides the general rule that trustees are not liable for environmental conditions except those arising from
gross negligence or wilful misconduct. A trustee has no ability to disclaim liability for that level of misconduct. The argument
that potential personal liability of the trustee is a precondition to the operation of s. 14.06(4) implies that by "disclaiming"
under that subsection the trustee is disclaiming a level of liability lower than for misconduct, but that level of personal liability
has already been eliminated by s. 14.06(2). To be meaningful, s. 14.06(4) must be dealing with more than personal liability
of trustees.

70      In any event, the absence of a power to "disclaim" assets does not change the outcome; as noted, the trustee can simply
ignore valueless assets in the estate and turn them back to the bankrupt at the end of the insolvency process (supra, paras. 47,
63(b)). The trustee has no personal liability, the estate's liability to meet its environmental obligations continues, but there are
no assets left to discharge those obligations.

71      The appellants also argue that s. 14.06(4) depends on an "order" being made. In context, the word "order" should be
given a wide meaning. That term is not limited to orders directing that remedial work be done, but would include an order or
directive permitting the transfer of assets of a bankrupt company only if sufficient funds are earmarked to cover remediation
obligations. Ordering that the work be done is the same thing as ordering that money be set aside to do the work. The Alberta
Energy Regulator has clearly stated its position that it will not permit transfer of the valuable Redwater assets unless funds are
earmarked for remediation costs of the disclaimed assets.

72      The timing of the trustee's disclaimer is also not critical. "Ten days after an order" does not mean "between when the order
is made and 10 more days"; "after" includes "before the order is made". As s. 14.06(4)(c) shows, the trustee can renounce or
disclaim assets before or after the order is made, and can disclaim the assets in anticipation of a regulator imposing environmental
obligations on the bankrupt estate. It is consistent with the policy behind the various statutes to have trustees signal their
intention with respect to non-producing wells as early as possible. The Regulator's letter of May 14, 2015 (trial reasons, para.
19) expressly asked the Trustee to confirm its intentions with respect to the assets. Trustees should not be encouraged to disguise
their intentions, and wait until the Regulator actually issues an order requiring remediation before disclaiming the assets.

The Redwater Environmental Claims

73      The essential question is whether the environmental obligations of Redwater meet the test for a provable claim in s. 14.06,
as it is interpreted in AbitibiBowater. It is conceded that the first two parts of the AbitibiBowater test are met: an obligation
exists to the Alberta Energy Regulator as a creditor, and the obligation has arisen prior to the conclusion of the insolvency.
These appeals are only concerned with the third branch of the test.

74      The third part of the test in AbitibiBowater requires that the claim must either be expressed in monetary terms, or not be
too remote and speculative so that there is some certainty that the regulator will actually do the remediation work. The way that
requirement was described in AbitibiBowater must be interpreted in light of the context: the Province had expropriated three
of the sites, and had issued remediation orders with respect to all five of them. There was ample evidence that the Province
was motivated to do the remediation, but there was no existing legal obligation on it to actually do the work. If the remediation
was not to be done in a foreseeable period of time, the claim was not sufficiently crystallized to be dealt with in the insolvency.
Another concern would be that governments not be permitted to make claims in insolvencies for environmental remediation,
and then divert the funds for other purposes. It was that context that informed the requirement that there be some certainty that
the environmental remediation would actually be done. The requirement of certainty can, however, also be met if it is "certain"
that the government is insisting that funds be immediately dedicated to guarantee performance of the environmental obligations.

75      In this case the Regulator has not yet been asked to approve a transfer of the producing wells, although it has indicated
(through the affidavit of its General Counsel) that such a transfer would be contrary to its fixed policies, prompting this litigation.
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It is, however, clear that the Trustee is not going to carry on Redwater's business; the plan is to sell off Redwater's assets,
distribute the net proceeds, and obtain a discharge for the Trustee. It is also clear that if the Trustee does attempt to sell the
producing assets, the Regulator will require the posting of security, or will require the purchaser to purchase all the producing
and non-producing assets. If the purchaser is required to assume the environmental obligations of the non-producing wells, the
uncontradicted evidence of the Receiver is that that will reduce the purchase price that the purchaser will pay: trial reasons at
para. 5. On this record, it would appear that there would be little or no net value to Redwater's oil and gas assets. By placing
restrictions on the conditions under which the oil and gas assets could be transferred, the Regulator would in effect transfer the
value of all of the Redwater assets from the secured creditor to meet the outstanding environmental liabilities.

76      As the chambers judge noted at para. 173:

173 Does this situation meet the sufficient certainty criterion as described in AbitibiBowater? The answer is no in a narrow
and technical sense, since it is unclear whether the AER will perform the work itself or if it will deem the properties subject
to the orders, orphans. If so, the OWA will probably perform the work, although not necessarily within a definite timeframe.
However, the situation does meet, in my opinion, what was intended by the majority of the Court in AbitibiBowater.
Compliance with the orders would require the Trustee and Receiver to expend funds by way of security that would be used
to perform the abandonment work. The effect is that if the obligations to remediate property are fully complied with by
the Trustee within this bankruptcy context, the claim of the Province for remediation costs will be given a super priority
not provided for under section 14.06. The creditors deprived of the usual order of priority in bankruptcy will be subject
to a "third-party-pay" principle in place of the "polluter-pay" principle. The history of amendments to the BIA in this case
shows that Parliament intended that the priority of creditors as provided under section 14.06, and thus the distribution of
funds, ought not to be disturbed by provincial legislation. In the result, I find that although not expressed in monetary
terms, the AER orders are in this case intrinsically financial.

The chambers judge was correct that the reality of the Regulator's position should prevail over any narrow and technical
interpretation. The facts here do, however, satisfy the AbitibiBowater test in both a technical and substantive way.

77      First of all, the substance of the Alberta Energy Regulator's requirements must be examined. As pointed out in
AbitibiBowater at paras. 19, 31, environmental obligations may appear in many different forms, and it is the substance of the
obligation that must prevail. It is irrelevant whether Redwater's obligation to remediate the wells arises directly from a cleanup
order, or indirectly from a Directive which imposes financial consequences on the transfer of assets. The Regulator's policy on
transfers essentially strips away from the bankrupt estate enough value to meet the outstanding environmental obligations.

78      Secondly, it does not matter which public body actually does the remediation, and which therefore qualifies as the "creditor"
in the insolvency proceedings. It does not matter whether the remediation work will be done directly by the government of
Alberta, by an administrative agency like the Alberta Energy Regulator, or by a sub-delegate like the Orphan Well Association:
Oil and Gas Conservation Act, s. 70(1)(a)(ii). In any case there is a "creditor" with a provable claim in bankruptcy. As a result, it
is no answer that the Alberta Energy Regulator rarely does any remediation work itself. Further, it is no answer that the Regulator
does not attempt to enforce its remediation orders until no solvent parties remain, making it academic at that late point to seek
recovery of those remediation costs. If the Regulator insists on funds being set aside up front by the trustee for environmental
remediation, the AbitibiBowater principles are engaged. The obligation has been reduced to a certain monetary claim.

79      Thirdly, whether it is sufficiently "certain" that the remediation work will be done depends on the factual context. The
Regulator cannot manage the timing of its intervention in order to escape the insolvency regime: AbitibiBowater at paras. 37,
44-5. It cannot do indirectly what it cannot do directly: AbitibiBowater at para. 19; Moloney at para. 29. It cannot insist that
security be posted to cover environmental costs, but at the same time argue that it may be a long time before the Orphan Well
Association actually does the remediation. If the Regulator takes security for remediating Redwater's orphan wells, those funds
cannot be used for any other purpose. If security is taken, it is no answer that the security might be held for an indefinite period
of time; the consequences to the insolvency proceedings and distribution of funds to the creditors are immediate and certain.
Further, if security is taken, the environmental obligation has clearly been reduced to monetary terms.
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80      The concept of "certainty" was described in AbitibiBowater at para. 50 as arising in the context of a "unique set of facts".
The Province had not actually done the remediation work, but the trial judge found that:

. . . in all likelihood, the pith and substance of the EPA orders is an attempt by the Province to lay the groundwork for
monetary claims against Abitibi, to be used most probably as an offset in connection with Abitibi's own NAPTA claims
for compensation. (quoted at para. 51)

The Supreme Court concluded at para. 52 that this was "an implicit finding that the Province would most likely perform
the work and make a claim to offset its costs". "Certainty" can, however, be manifested in many forms. Requiring the
depositing of security, or diverting value from the bankrupt estate to ensure that the remediation will be done, clearly meets
the standard. There is nothing more certain than "cash on the table". This not only reduces the claim to a specific monetary
amount, it has an immediate effect on the distribution of the bankrupt estate. Any purchaser who assumes the remediation
obligations will naturally adjust the purchase price accordingly. The level of "certainty" on this record is considerably
higher than the "certainty" found to be sufficient by the majority in AbitibiBowater, and would even meet the stricter test
proposed by the minority.

81      Fourthly, the effect of the Regulator's policy on the sale of assets is to artificially transfer the value of the oil and gas assets
to the AER licence, which itself has no intrinsic value (supra, paras. 37-40). The trustee is disclaiming the profits à prendre in
the oil and gas assets, not the AER licences. The Regulator's policy (relying on Northern Badger) effectively requires that the
full value of the bankrupt's oil and gas assets be applied first to environmental liabilities. That not only demonstrates that the
claim has been sufficiently reduced to money to meet the AbitibiBowater test, it also demonstrates that the effect of the policy
is to create a super priority for environmental claims. The regulatory technique of placing financial conditions on a transfer of
the AER licences in order to shift value in the bankrupt estate to discharge the environmental obligations provides sufficient
"certainty" to meet the AbitibiBowater test. It both fixes a monetary value on the obligations, and makes it certain that funds
will be set aside to perform the remediation. Saying that the trustee "steps into the shoes" of the bankrupt, and that the trustee
must take the licence "warts and all", does not displace the plain wording of s. 14.06, nor does it enable reversal of the priorities
set in the BIA. The Regulator cannot, by purporting to deal with licensing requirements, effectively upset the priorities in the
BIA: Moloney; 407 ETR Concession Co.; Husky Oil Operations Ltd..

82      Even if one assumes that the AER licence is being transferred, or that there is some value in those licenses, the problem
still appears. The Trustee might choose to transfer the 20 producing wells alone, or with their existing AER licences. In either
event, the purchaser would have to be qualified to hold those licences. Each well has its own AER licence. Therefore, what the
Regulator is attempting to do is attach conditions on the 20 AER licences that might be transferred, which really relate to the
107 wells that have been disclaimed by the Trustee and are not being transferred. The effect is to transfer economic value from
the producing wells to the non-producing wells in order to enforce the environmental obligations attached to the latter. This
clearly has the effect of disrupting the distribution scheme under the BIA. Even if the Trustee must take the licences "warts and
all", there is no justification for the Regulator transferring warts from one licence to another.

83      The Alberta Energy Regulator argues that "there is no entitlement under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act to maximize
sale proceeds at the expense of compliance with a public duty" (trial reasons, para. 32). This argument overlooks that regulatory
orders can become "provable claims" if reduced to monetary terms, and that regulators can be "creditors". If those tests are
met, then the "public duty" is converted into a claim provable in bankruptcy, and it is only entitled to the priority accorded
to all other claims. Under the scheme in the BIA, the secured creditors are entitled to "maximize sale proceeds" in priority to
other provable claims.

84      On the one hand, the Alberta Energy Regulator's argument separates the mineral deposits from the AER licences. It argues
it has a legitimate right to regulate transfers of oil and gas assets as a part of regulating the industry, and that it is not really
dealing with estate assets. Under this argument, conditions it puts on the transfer of the AER licences do not interfere with the
property rights of the bankrupt, but only the AER licences. As previously noted (supra, paras. 37-40) the real economic value
rests in the assets, not the AER licences. The Regulator can control the transfer of AER licences of bankrupt companies, but
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not by placing financial conditions on transfer that disrupt the priorities under the BIA. For example, the Regulator can limit
transfers to qualified transferees. The Regulator cannot, however, indirectly interfere with the disposition of the value of the
assets in bankruptcy by placing financial preconditions on the transfer of permissive AER licences.

85      On the other hand, the Alberta Energy Regulator's argument sometimes merges the mineral deposits with the AER licences.
It argues that it can effectively deal with value that is inherent in the mineral deposits, as if that value actually attaches to the
AER licences. By imposing financial conditions on the transfer of the AER licences, it effectively assigns the economic value
of the mineral deposit to the AER licences themselves, and then argues that the trustee "cannot disclaim the AER licences".
This in the end has the impermissible effect of changing the distribution of the estate of the bankrupt company as a result of
dealings with the AER licences.

86      The Alberta Energy Regulator requires the abandonment and remediation of the physical real property, not the AER
licences. The orders directly relate to the property of the bankrupt, Redwater, and would appropriate value from real property
assets in the bankrupt estate and allocate them to remediating other property. Notwithstanding their intended effect as conditions
of licensing, the Regulator's policies have a direct effect on property, priorities, and the Trustee's right to renounce assets, all
of which are governed by the BIA.

87      Analogous issues were recently considered in Moloney and 407 ETR Concession Co.. Both of those decisions
involved a provincial licensing scheme premised on the assumption that certain debts or liabilities were outstanding. Moloney
concerned unsatisfied personal injury judgments, which precluded the judgment debtor from holding a driver's licence. 407
ETR Concession Co. concerned unpaid toll road fees, which precluded the judgment debtor from renewing the registration of
the vehicle. In both cases the debt on which the licence restriction was premised had been extinguished on bankruptcy. The
provinces, nevertheless, purported to apply the regulatory regime as if the debt still existed. The Supreme Court of Canada
found both pieces of provincial legislation to be inoperative under the paramountcy doctrine.

88      In this appeal, the regulatory regime controlling the transfer of AER licences is also premised on the assumption
that there is an obligation outstanding. That obligation is the actual or potential cost of abandoning the well. However, if the
environmental obligation is provable in bankruptcy, it cannot be enforced indirectly outside the bankruptcy regime under the
Regulator's licensing scheme: Moloney; 407 ETR Concession Co.. The Alberta Energy Regulator's licensing scheme depends on
the enforcement of environmental liabilities outside the bankruptcy regime, in violation of the "single proceeding" model. The
Regulator cannot sidestep the problem by artificially distinguishing between "managing obligations" and "recovering claims".
The Regulator cannot establish a parallel process to collect claims.

89      As previously noted, the Alberta Energy Regulator takes the position that receivers and trustees are liable for all of the
obligations imposed on licensees because the definition of "licensee" in both the Oil and Gas Conservation Act and the Pipeline
Act include receivers and trustees. On this theory, receivers and trustees are liable for:

(a) the duty to abandon oil wells under s. 27(1) of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act;

(b) the duty to abandon pipelines under s. 24 of the Pipeline Act;

(c) the costs of remediation performed by other persons (s. 29 of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, and s. 25 of the
Pipeline Act);

(d) the duty to obey any order of the Regulator (s. 106(1) of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, and s. 52(2) of the Pipeline
Act).

These obligations are in operational conflict with the provisions of the BIA that exempt a trustee and receiver from personal
liability, the provisions allowing a trustee and receiver to disclaim assets, and the provisions respecting the priority of
remediation costs. They also frustrate the federal purpose of managing the winding up of insolvent corporations and settling
the priority of claims against them. As such they are unenforceable by the Regulator.
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90      The Alberta Energy Regulator effectively concedes the outcome of this appeal by the following statement in its factum:

75. The AER acknowledges that compliance with its orders may ultimately lessen amounts recovered by the creditors
because the costs of compliance are paid from the assets in the estate. However, the AER submits that the objective of
maximizing recovery for creditors cannot be at the expense of complying with the licensee's statutory end of life obligations.

This frank statement confirms that the effect of the Regulator's orders is to interfere with the priority of distribution in the
bankrupt estate. It also confirms that the Regulator's orders directly engage the paramountcy doctrine.

91      It follows that under the proper interpretation of the BIA, the Regulator cannot insist that the Trustee devote substantial
parts of the bankrupt estate in satisfaction of the environmental claims in priority to the claims of the secured creditor. To the
extent that the interpretation of the provincial legislation leads to a different result, the paramountcy doctrine is engaged.

Policy and Fairness Considerations

92      The appellants and some of the intervenors presented a number of arguments based on general policy considerations, the
overall fairness or reasonableness of the outcome, and the impact that the trial court's decision would have on environmental
regulation. These considerations should be kept in mind, but it must also be assumed that Parliament considered and balanced
them in drafting the BIA: AbitibiBowater at para. 32. The bankruptcy court has no ability to create exceptions to the statute
based on general considerations of fairness or public policy.

Importance of Environmental Protection

93      For example, the appellants pointed to the importance to society in general of environmental protection and of holding
polluters accountable, values that have been recognized in the case law: R. v. Canadian Pacific Ltd., [1995] 2 S.C.R. 1031
(S.C.C.) at para. 55; Cie pétrolière Impériale c. Québec (Tribunal administratif), 2003 SCC 58 (S.C.C.) at paras. 24-5, [2003] 2
S.C.R. 624 (S.C.C.). They noted the legitimacy and importance of the Alberta Energy Regulator's desire to have orphan wells
shut-in and remediated. None of the parties or interveners disagreed with any of this, but broadly based policy concerns cannot
override the wording of the statute. Section 14.06 of the BIA has given environmental claims the priority that Parliament deems
appropriate.

94      The Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers summarized the sentiments of a number of the parties in its factum: "It
is not in the public interest for a receiver or trustee to be able to freely disclaim certain assets and thereby sidestep the obligations
of abandonment and reclamation." In the abstract, the importance and legitimacy of the provincial purpose cannot have any
ultimate effect on the outcome. Moloney outlines two bases under which the paramountcy doctrine might be applied:

(a) impossibility of compliance with both the federal and provincial legislation, or

(b) frustration of the purpose of the federal legislation by the provincial legislation.

There is no exception to these rules, such as:

(c) the public policy considerations behind the provincial legislation are more compelling than those underlying the federal
legislation.

This hypothetical proviso would undermine the whole concept of division of powers and paramountcy. It is not open to the
provinces to decide when their policy concerns outweigh those of the federal government. The Alberta Energy Regulator's
argument that a licensee's "provincial public duty" must prevail over the bankruptcy regime (a line of argument that prevailed
in Northern Badger) approaches this hypothetical.

"Fairness" of the Outcome
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95      The appellants also argue that it is unfair or inappropriate for the cost of remediating the orphan wells to fall on the
Orphan Well Association. That Association is funded by the levy imposed by the Alberta Energy Regulator on the industry,
meaning that the "responsible" participants in the industry end up funding the insolvent ones. The appellants argue that this is at
some level inappropriate, and therefore contend that the number of orphaned wells should be kept to a minimum. Again, these
considerations cannot override the plain wording of the statute.

96      The appellants also argued that general considerations of fairness support downloading some of the environmental costs
on creditors, including secured creditors. This was said to be more appropriate than having these costs fall on the general public
or the landowner. Creditors who have profited from the activities of the bankrupt should not complain if they have to bear some
of the inchoate costs. The short answer, again, is that Parliament considered all of these competing policies: AbitibiBowater
at para. 32. In addition to the environmental considerations, Parliament undoubtedly was concerned that giving environmental
claims a super priority would drive away lenders, and deprive highly leveraged industries (like the oil and gas industry) of
necessary financing.

97      The appellants specifically noted that the secured creditor, the Alberta Treasury Branches, was aware of the obligations
of Redwater Energy to remediate its wells. Those obligations were evaluated and included in the Alberta Treasury Branches'
assessment of the creditworthiness of Redwater Energy when the loans were first advanced. The Alberta Treasury Branches
concluded at that time that Redwater Energy would be able to meet all of its obligations (including its remediation obligations);
otherwise, presumably Alberta Treasury Branches would not have advanced credit. Thus, the appellants argue, there is no
unfairness in subordinating the Alberta Treasury Branches' position to Redwater's environmental obligations. Albert Treasury
Branches knew of these risks, assessed them in its creditworthiness analysis, and should not now be able to complain that they
have come to fruition.

98      Fairness is perhaps in the eye of the beholder, but this argument cannot succeed. A secured creditor will always assess the
creditworthiness of the potential borrower before making advances. The recognition of the actual and contingent obligations of
the potential borrower does not, however, mean that the creditor is prepared to subordinate its interests to those obligations, nor
that it is prepared to discharge those obligations if the borrower fails to do so.

99      Further, the assessment of creditworthiness is not the end of the credit analysis. If it was, secured creditors would simply
rely on that assessment and never ask for security. On the contrary, secured creditors always ask the next question: "What if
we are wrong about creditworthiness?". Secured creditors hope that they are right, but if they are wrong they want to be first
in line, and therefore they take security. If it turns out that the borrower is not as creditworthy as projected, the secured party
always insists that its claim has priority and be paid first. Whether this is fair or not is not the issue, because the BIA and the
general law of priority of claims expressly recognize the priority of secured claims.

Indulgences or Concessions by the Regulator

100      On a related point, the validity of the position adopted by the Alberta Energy Regulator must be analysed without regard
to any indulgences or concessions the Regulator is prepared to extend in this or any particular case. If the Regulator is right
that it is not a creditor, and that environmental claims are not provable in bankruptcy, then environmental claims effectively
have a super priority over all the creditors, including secured creditors. If that position is correct, the Regulator need not grant
any indulgences.

101      To illustrate, even though the definition of licensee in the provincial statutes specifically includes receivers and trustees,
the Regulator does not attempt to enforce environmental orders other than against the assets of the insolvent estate. In other
words, the Regulator is prepared to concede that receivers and trustees are not personally liable for environmental obligations.
However, if the Regulator is correct that environmental claims fall outside the bankruptcy regime, and its rules merely relate to
the regulation of the oil and gas industry and not to bankruptcy priorities, then presumably the immunity from personal liability
granted to receivers in the BIA would not apply.
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102      Secondly, the Regulator does not insist that all of the assets in the bankrupt estate be applied towards environmental
liabilities. It only insists on the oil and gas assets being used for that purpose. Thus, if Redwater had valuable non-oil and gas
assets (for example, valuable real estate or shareholdings) the Regulator would not insist that the Receiver or Trustee use those
assets to meet Redwater's environmental obligations. But again, if the Regulator is correct in its position, it could insist on all of
the assets in the bankrupt estate being applied towards the "public duty" to perform the environmental cleanup. For example, if
s. 14.06 only deals with personal liability of trustees, there would be no reason to limit the obligation to discharge environmental
liabilities to the oil and gas assets themselves. Resort to all the assets in the estate appears to be authorized by the provisions of
the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act, RSA 2000, c. E-12, s. 240(3).

103      Thirdly, any indulgences that the Regulator might presently give with respect to the Licensee Management Rating cannot
change the outcome. Even if the Regulator is presently satisfied that the existing rating (even if less than 1.0) be maintained, if
it is correct the Regulator could insist on any rating, even one well in excess of 1.0. Even if the Regulator at present only insists
on security equal to the formula deficit resulting from the Licensee Management Rating process, there is nothing to prevent it
from insisting on security to cover the entire anticipated cost of remediation of all oil and gas assets.

104      These indulgences presently extended by the Regulator are put forward as evidence of the reasonableness of its position.
They are said to show that the Regulator is achieving a proper balance between the importance of environmental claims, and the
"fair" rights of creditors. The first problem is that any balancing of considerations of this nature has been done by Parliament,
and the Regulator has no mandate to rebalance them. Secondly, eliminating these indulgences from the analysis demonstrates
the profound effect that the Regulator's position would have on the insolvency regime in Canada. The entire system would be
converted from a "polluter-pay" system to a "third-party pay" system: AbitibiBowater at para. 40. Lenders would be justifiably
wary of ever advancing funds to any industry with potential environmental obligations.

Abuse of the Insolvency Process

105      A final related point is the argument that the decision of the chambers judge would motivate corporate reorganizations
and insolvencies merely for the purpose of avoiding environmental liabilities. As pointed out in AbitibiBowater at para. 42,
bankruptcy or insolvency are not easy solutions to financial problems, and these fears are exaggerated. Further, there is enough
judicial discretion in the insolvency regime to prevent abuses.

Conclusion

106      In conclusion, the chambers judge's decision discloses no errors, and the appeals are dismissed.

Frederica Schutz J.A.:

I concur

Sheilah Martin J.A. (dissenting):

1. Overview

107      The issues on this appeal arise in the context of the bankruptcy of an oil and gas company, Redwater Energy Corporation.
Redwater leaves behind numerous licensed oil wells and other facilities, which have not been properly and safely abandoned as
required by Alberta provincial legislation. There are two valid legislative regimes at play, one provincial and one federal, each
with significant policy objectives. The question is whether both can co-exist. I have concluded that they can. Fundamentally,
this is a constitutional case, one which underscores that there is no more important arena for co-operative federalism than the
environment. Governments at both levels share the environment and the imperative need to protect it for all Canadians today and
in the future. The right to a natural environment free of pollution is a widely held value throughout Canada: see R. v. Canadian
Pacific Ltd., [1995] 2 S.C.R. 1031, 24 O.R. (3d) 454 (S.C.C.) at para 55. Canadians and their elected representatives recognize
that this right is to be enjoyed not only by those living today but by future generations also. That objective depends upon the
vigilant enforcement of legislative safeguards.
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108      Under s 92(13) of the Constitution Act, 1867, (UK), 30 & 31 Vict, c 3 reprinted in RSC 1985, App II, No 5 Alberta
has the exclusive constitutional jurisdiction over property and civil rights in this province. Under s 92(A), it has the exclusive
jurisdiction to make laws in relation to "the development, conservation and management of non-renewable natural resources" in
Alberta. Under provincial legislation, the Alberta Energy Regulator (Regulator or AER) regulates all aspects of the exploration
and extraction of the province's oil and gas resources. It governs, for example, who is entitled to receive a licence to exploit
the resource; the terms and conditions for transfer of such licences; and the obligations imposed on licensees for operation and
abandonment of oil wells and reclamation of well sites. Alberta's legislative power to enact legislation to regulate all aspects of
oil and gas in the province is uncontested and the independent powers enjoyed by the provinces are "as plenary and as ample"
as those of Parliament: Hodge v. R. (1883), (1883-84) L.R. 9 App. Cas. 117 (Jud. Com. of Privy Coun.) at 132. The Supreme
Court of Canada has directed that "the Court should avoid blocking the application of [provincial] measures which are taken to
be enacted in furtherance of the public interest": Canadian Western Bank v. Alberta, 2007 SCC 22 (S.C.C.) at para 37, [2007]
8 W.W.R. 1 (S.C.C.).

109      Under s 91(20) of the Constitution Act, 1867, Canada has exclusive jurisdiction to make laws relating to bankruptcy and
insolvency. The Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, c B-3 [BIA], engaged because of Redwater's bankruptcy, seeks an
equitable distribution of a bankrupt's assets among creditors, and financial rehabilitation of the debtor.

110      Redwater's trustee in bankruptcy, the respondent Grant Thornton (Trustee), has invoked the constitutional law doctrine
of paramountcy. The Trustee argues that the BIA, when read in the manner it proposes, allows it to take the benefit of profitable
wells and walk away from the rest. In particular, it asserts that the Trustee is entitled to: (1) segregate out and sell only the 20
profitable wells from among Redwater's 127 licensed assets; (2) transfer those 20 licences to a party of the Trustee's choosing;
(3) retain all proceeds for the secured creditors; and (4) and, most significant for this appeal, renounce the end of life obligations
imposed by Alberta and assumed by the licensee to secure access to the resources in the first place. On this theory, Redwater
walks away from its legislated obligations and public environmental duties in respect of the remaining 107 licensed assets.
The sites Redwater used will either never be properly abandoned and reclaimed, or the end of life licensing obligations from
its activities will be downloaded onto others: either the public or the industry. Both results breach the Alberta legislation and
offend the underlying "polluter-pay" principle.

111      Further, and as explained in more detail later, the most common situation in Alberta is that a company like Redwater
exploits publicly owned oil or natural gas on lands it does not typically own and which most often belong to others. Therefore,
when remediation work is not completed as required by law, the many deleterious and potentially dangerous impacts are often
felt most acutely by the third-party landowners, usually farmers and ranchers, because it is their lands which were used to
extract the resource. Wells and facilities that are abandoned in the colloquial sense, without being abandoned and remediated in
the legal sense, continue to exist on their lands and serve as a reminder of unfulfilled statutory obligations and broken licence
conditions. The Trustee argues that when the province insists on compliance with its generally applicable licence conditions,
it is really trying to gain a position superior to that permitted under the BIA. The Trustee claims that the provincial legislation
conflicts with and frustrates the federal and must give way. The Regulator disagrees.

112      The chambers judge framed the issue as whether the Regulator can "effectively create a priority for abandonment and
environmental liabilities in bankruptcy". In my view, this framing of the issue is incorrect. It is premised on the assumptions that
licence obligations are debts not public duties, and that there is a conflict between the legislative schemes. However, this steps
past the real issue, which is: given Alberta's exclusive jurisdiction to regulate its oil and gas resources, do the licence obligations
created by provincial legislation conflict with or frustrate the scheme of priorities set out in the BIA? I have concluded there is
no such conflict or frustration; both schemes may continue to co-exist.

113      In my view, the distinctive Alberta regulatory and licensing regime for oil and gas resources, which is wholly within
provincial jurisdiction, creates generally applicable public legal duties, outside the scope of "claims provable in bankruptcy"
as defined in the federal legislation and relevant jurisprudence. Most legal obligations have some compliance costs associated
with them. However, the mere ability to assign a dollar value to compliance costs does not transform them into a monetary
claim under the bankruptcy legislation. Since it "is presumed that Parliament intends its laws to co-exist with provincial laws,"
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courts should favour harmonious over conflicting interpretations of provincial and federal laws: Alberta (Attorney General) v.
Moloney, 2015 SCC 51, [2015] 3 S.C.R. 327 (S.C.C.) at para 27.

114      Since the issues on this appeal arise in a constitutional context, I do not accept that the BIA should be read as widely
as the Trustee contends. To allow trustees in bankruptcy to pick and choose when they will comply with valid and generally
applicable provincial law would be a power so extraordinary that it would require clear and express articulation. There is no
such clear and express conferral of this power in the BIA. Nor should this power be inferred when to do so contravenes principles
of statutory interpretation, co-operative federalism and the rule of law. Specifically, I conclude that the Trustee cannot disclaim
the end of life licence obligations on the basis they are not real property. Further, while trustees have certain powers under
the BIA, these are designed to protect trustees from personal liability, not confer on them the authority to disregard binding
provincial legislation. The estate of the bankrupt remains liable for these end of life environmental obligations and they cannot
be renounced by the Trustee.

115      For the reasons that follow, the Trustee has not demonstrated the high constitutional law threshold of an operational
conflict or frustration of the federal purpose. The provincial legislation may have an impact on the value of Redwater's estate,
but that does not mean the province is seeking an unauthorized priority in bankruptcy. Rather, it is enforcing laws and licence
conditions designed to protect the public interest, the environment, and the rights of third-party landowners affected directly
by this distinctive resource and regulatory regime.

2. Facts

116      The background to the appeal is set out in the reasons for judgment of the majority, and need not be repeated here.

3. Alberta's Regulatory Regime

117      An understanding of Alberta's oil and gas regulatory regime, and the nature of the resource itself, is essential to a proper
disposition of the issues on this appeal. The regulatory regime governing Alberta's oil and gas resources addresses serious
environmental concerns, but is also distinct from other general forms of environmental protection legislation. It is holistic
legislation, aimed at regulating all aspects of the development and exploitation of Alberta's natural resources. A licensee is
subject to a comprehensive approach with detailed and generally applicable requirements for conduct from the time a well
is drilled or a facility constructed, through to its abandonment and reclamation. The keystone in the regulatory framework is
that the licensee is responsible for the significant risks caused by its chosen activities and assumes end of life obligations, like
abandonment and reclamation. Similar requirements apply in all cases. Bankrupt licensees are not specifically targeted by any
provincial legislation. They are simply subject to the same ongoing obligations imposed on all licensees.

118      The provincial licensing regime applies to all oil and natural gas extraction, whether publically or privately owned.
However, the reality is that over eighty percent of the oil and gas in Alberta is owned by the public and administered on its behalf
by the Crown in right of Alberta. This level of public ownership is a key aspect of the factual matrix of this case and affects
the realities and equities of the situation. The oil and gas industry is a main driver of the Alberta economy, and the distinctive
and longstanding legislative regime that governs it is a product of history and the 1930 Natural Resources Transfer Agreement.
It is also true that Alberta, like other jurisdictions in Canada, has other legislation that deals broadly with the protection of
the environment.

119      By way of overview, a company, like Redwater, that seeks to exploit Alberta's public or private oil and gas reserves will
typically require many authorizations to take an underground resource to market. The first involves a transfer of the mineral
holder's right of ownership to take away the resource. Over eighty percent of the time, this will involve a Crown grant, in
whatever form, that gives the right to take possession of the resource on prescribed terms and conditions. One of those terms
is that the grantee will abide by all relevant laws governing extraction, as they exist from time to time. Second, all public or
private grantees require a licence issued by the Government of Alberta that permits and governs various aspects of operation.
It is this licensing regime and the provincial government's ability to set terms and conditions on the permissions it grants that
are at the core of this appeal. Third, because of the nature of the resource, Redwater needs to place equipment such as wells,
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pumps, and other facilities on lands from which they may extract the resource. This distinctive regulatory regime also allows
licensees to enter upon, use and occupy the surface of land owned by third parties to extract and remove the licensed resource.
Sometimes this third party is the Crown, but very often they are farmers and ranchers.

120      Thus, the most common situation for oil and gas extraction in Alberta is that a company like Redwater seeks to exploit
publically owned resources on lands it does not own and which belong to others. The licensing regime as a whole is complex.
It takes a "cradle to grave" approach to the regulation of the resource, and is intended to allow for minimal disruption to third-
party landowners and to the future of the resource.

121      An essential part of the distinctive licensing regime is a requirement that non-producing wells be safely and properly
abandoned, meaning that the well is plugged down hole to seal it shut and prevent leaks. Remedial repairs are conducted
to protect groundwater and prevent well leaks, and the wellhead is removed from the surface. The site is then reclaimed,
contaminants removed, and the surface of the land restored to its previous condition. Abandonment and reclamation are
necessary for many reasons, including ensuring public health and safety, reducing the environmental impact of drilling activities,
and addressing the concerns of private landowners so that they are not left with unused and potentially unsafe well sites on their
land. The company that drilled and operated the well, like Redwater, is legally responsible for abandonment and reclamation
at the end of the well's life.

122      There are thousands of oil well sites that need to be properly abandoned sitting on public and private lands in Alberta,
a number almost certain to increase in times of financial difficulty. End of life obligations are the key manner in which the
Regulator has sought to ensure that there is the proper and safe abandonment of wells and the reclamation of well sites. End
of life obligations are imposed by law and stipulated and accepted as conditions on the granting of the right to take away any
public resources, the permission to extract through the required licence, and as part of any surface rights acquired. The issue
on this appeal addresses if, and how, the bankruptcy of a licensee affects its end of life obligations. The implications for the
regulation of Alberta's publicly owned resource, and for the Alberta public, are significant.

(i) The Alberta Energy Regulator

123      As has been noted, anyone who wishes to benefit from the exploration and development of Alberta's oil and gas resources
must apply for and be granted a licence by the AER, Alberta's sole regulator for all upstream oil and gas activities. The licensee
must also hold an underlying property interest in the resource, most commonly by way of a mineral lease with the Crown. I
will focus first on the AER-issued licences.

124      The AER was established by the Responsible Energy Development Act, SA 2012, c R 17.3 [REDA]. To fulfill its
mandate, the AER establishes rules regarding Alberta upstream oil and gas activities and issues licences, approvals, permits,
orders, decisions and directions. An AER licence is required in order to explore, drill, extract and produce oil and gas resources.
The licence requirement permits the provincial government to control who is developing the resource, to ensure a responsible
licensee is available to deal with potentially dangerous situations, and to control who gets access to public property for the
purpose of resource development activities. Without an AER licence, it is not possible to extract or exploit the resource. The
provincial legislation is premised on the understanding that even when it is not a publicly owned resource, all extraction in
Alberta should be governed by a public licensing regime, under which there is a public duty to ensure the safety and security
of wells and facilities permitted under the regime.

125      The AER's mandate is set out in its governing legislation, and includes providing "for the efficient, safe, orderly and
environmentally responsible development of energy resources in Alberta": REDA at s 2(1)(a). The AER is also responsible to
carry out the purposes of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, RSA 2000, c O-6 [OGCA], which are set out in s 4 and include:

4 (a) to effect the conservation of, and to prevent the waste of, the oil and gas resources of Alberta;

(b) to secure the observance of safe and efficient practices in the locating, spacing, drilling, equipping, constructing,
completing, reworking, testing, operating, maintenance, repair, suspension and abandonment of wells and facilities
and in operations for the production of oil and gas or the storage or disposal of substances;
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(c) to provide for the economic, orderly and efficient development in the public interest of the oil and gas resources
of Alberta;

(d) to afford each owner the opportunity of obtaining the owner's share of the production of oil or gas from any pool;

(e) to provide for the recording and the timely and useful dissemination of information regarding the oil and gas
resources of Alberta;

(f) to control pollution above, at or below the surface in the drilling of wells and in operations for the production of
oil and gas and in other operations over which the Regulator has jurisdiction.

126      The regulatory regime takes a "cradle to grave" approach to the regulation of exploration and development activities,
from exploration, drilling and production, to the end of life obligations associated with wells, facilities and pipelines — closure,
abandonment, remediation and reclamation.

127      The end of life obligations are an inherent part of the issuance of a well licence. For example, s 16(3)(b) of the OGCA
provides that the licensee of a well licence remains liable to complete or abandon the well and reclaim the well site even after
the cancellation of the licence. Section 27(1) requires a licensee to suspend or abandon a well or facility when directed to do
so by the AER, or required by regulations or rules. As this Court noted in its decision in Panamericana de Bienes y Servicios
S.A. v. Northern Badger Oil & Gas Ltd., 1991 ABCA 181 (Alta. C.A.) at para 21, "... the process of abandonment of oil and
gas wells is part of the general law of Alberta enacted to protect the environment and for the health and safety of all citizens".
In this context, the "abandonment" of an oil well refers to the process of "sealing a hole which has been drilled for oil or gas,
at the end of its useful life, to render it environmentally safe": Northern Badger at para 2.

128      The nature of the AER licences, and the end of life obligations attached to and inherent in them, are known to all industry
participants, including lenders and those individuals and companies who put themselves forward to obtain licences and thereby
obtain access to the resource. Undertaking to fulfill the end of life obligations is a pre-condition to access the resource. It is
a threshold requirement of becoming a licensee; a public duty and charge that is known from the outset of the issuance of a
licence. Unlike many environmental problems that are governed by other types of environmental legislation, the end of life
obligations of licensees are anticipated. They will arise, without exception, at the end of the life of the well or pipeline, generally
when the licensee runs out of oil, gas, or money.

129      Although AER-issued licences are necessary for resource development, they are not sufficient to permit a licensee to
take the benefit of the resource. The licence permits the licensee to explore and to drill, but does not grant an interest in the
oil and gas. To take the benefit of the resource, therefore, the resource company must also hold an underlying property interest
in the mineral resources. As the vast majority of mineral titles in Alberta are publicly-held, a resource company that wishes
to exploit the resource will most commonly do so under a mineral lease agreement with the Crown. The licensee will also be
obliged to secure the right to place the wells and other facilities on the surface of land if owned by third parties. The commercial
understanding and legal expectation is that when drilling has stopped, the licensee will secure and stabilize the formation drilled
and restore the landowner's property.

130      The third requirement arises because ownership of, or an interest in, the minerals does not include the right to occupy
the surface of the land: Surface Rights Act, RSA 2000, c S-24, s 12. The title to privately-owned land in Alberta is generally
separated into a surface title and a mineral title. The surface of the land may be owned by the Crown, or be privately owned by
a third party. The land is not often owned by the resource company that seeks to exploit and develop the mineral resource. The
resource company must, therefore, also obtain the right to occupy the surface. In most cases, a surface lease agreement with
the landowner, or a right of entry order issued by the Surface Rights Board, is required for the resource company to be able to
access the well site and place infrastructure on the surface of the land. The surface of the land remains the property of the Crown
or the third-party landowner. While safety concerns drive the need for abandonment and reclamation, the underlying equities
and practical consequences of what happens when wells are not abandoned as promised and as required are also important.
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The failure to fulfill these public duties creates disproportionate burdens on the third-party landowners forced to live with the
physical evidence of unfulfilled obligations.

131      There is a distinction between the rights granted by the AER licence and those granted by the mineral lease; the lease
conveys an interest in property, while the licence does not. A licence, at its most basic, is the right to do that which would
otherwise be illegal, or would amount to a trespass absent the licence. The common law recognizes three types of licences: (1) a
"mere" or "bare" licence, which is unsupported by consideration and revocable; (2) a contractual licence, subject to contractual
terms; and (3) a licence coupled with a grant of legal interest, such as a profit à prendre: Bruce Ziff, Principles of Property Law,

6 th  ed. at 318-321; see also Anne Warner La Forest, Anger & Honsberger, Law of Real Property, 3 rd  ed. at §16:40. The oil
and gas lease is conceptualized as a profit à prendre at common law, and carries with it an implied licence to enter land and
capture resources as a necessary incident to the mineral interest acquired: Alberta Energy Co. v. Goodwell Petroleum Corp.,
2003 ABCA 277, [2003] A.J. No. 1207 (Alta. C.A.) at para 63, see also Berkheiser v. Berkheiser, [1957] S.C.R. 387, 7 D.L.R.
(2d) 721 (S.C.C.) at 391-392. That implied licence is not to be confused with the regulatory licences issued by the AER, which
are necessary to carry out lawfully specific development activities.

132      A profit à prendre is an interest in land, but a licence on its own is neither an interest in land, nor a profit à prendre. In
this respect, I agree with Justice Rowe, as he was, in Chain Lakes Logging Corp. v. Abitibi-Price Inc., 2005 NLCA 13, [2005]
N.J. No. 79 (N.L. C.A.) at para 16:

Profit à prendre is dealt with in Halsbury's Laws of England, 4 th  ed., vol. 14 (London: Butterworths, 1980), from which
various excerpts are reproduced below. While Canadian law undoubtedly differs in many particulars from English law
relating to profits à prendre, nonetheless I take the laws of both countries to be similar in the following ways:

A profit à prendre is a right to take something off another person's land. It may be more fully defined as a right to enter
another's land and to take some profit of the soil [including timber] ... for the use of the owner of the right. ... [para. 240]

A profit à prendre is an interest in land, and for this reason any disposition of it must be in writing. A profit à prendre
which gives a right to participate in a portion only of some specified produce of the land is just as much an interest
in the land as a right to take the whole of that produce. ... [para. 241]

The owner of a profit à prendre has rights of a possessory nature, and can bring an action for trespass at common
law for their infringement. [para. 251]

Profits à prendre, though sometimes called "licences", must be carefully distinguished from mere licences, which are
not tenements and do not pass any interest or alter or transfer property in anything, but only make an act lawful which
otherwise would have been unlawful. A mere licence is not transferrable, nor can it be perpetual; it is not binding on
the tenement affected, but is a personal matter between the licensor and the licensee. [para. 252]

(Emphasis added)

133      AER-issued licences exist separate and apart from any implied licence to enter land brought into existence by the oil
and gas lease. The AER licence is obtained from the provincial regulatory body, not the lessor. In issuing the licence, the AER
does not confer property interests in the minerals, only the right to do that which is otherwise made unlawful by statute. To take
the benefit of the resource, a resource company requires both the AER licence and the mineral lease.

(ii) The AER's Licensee Liability Rating Program

134      The generally applicable provincial legislation requires AER approval before an AER-issued licence is transferred to
a new licensee: OGCA s 24; Pipeline Act, RSA 200 c P-15, s 18. The government retains the unfettered ability to grant or
withhold a licence, whether the application is for an initial grant or a subsequent transfer of an existing licence. Any approved
transfers are subject to conditions or restrictions prescribed by the AER, to ensure that parties who acquire and hold AER
licences meet applicable qualifications. For example, the AER is concerned with the safety record and reputation of prospective
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licensees. Another such requirement is the AER's licensee liability rating (LLR) program, which is set out in AER Directive 006:
Licensee Liability Rating (LLR) Program and Licence Transfer Process. The purpose of the LLR program and licence transfer
requirements are to ensure there are sufficient funds for end of life obligations and to prevent the costs of those obligations being
borne by the Alberta public. The LLR program applies to all AER-licensed upstream oil and gas wells, facilities and pipelines.

135      Essentially, the LLR program treats the licences held by a given licensee as a "package". The AER conducts a liability
assessment for each licensee, based on the estimated cost of the end of life obligations associated with all the AER licensed
assets of that licensee. Each licensee is assigned a liability management ration (LMR), which is the ratio of the licensee's eligible
deemed assets as compared to its deemed liabilities. Consideration is given to all of the licensee's assets, and the estate is treated
as a whole. There is no segregation or parcelling of assets.

136      If a licensee's LMR becomes non-compliant with the requirements of Directive 006, the AER will typically issue closure
and abandonment orders requiring the licensee to abandon the properties specified in the order. This involves removing surface
equipment, debris and produced liquids by a specified date. A licensee may bring itself into compliance with the LLR program
requirements by (1) abandoning and reclaiming one or more licensed properties in order to reduce its deemed liabilities; (2)
transferring, with the AER's consent, one or more licensed properties and their associated obligations; or (3) posting security
to ensure the work is done.

137      The LMR is also a relevant consideration in licence transfers, which must be approved by the AER. Before the AER will
consent to the transfer of a licence, the AER assesses the LMRs of both the proposed transferor and transferee, and assesses
how the proposed transfer will affect the ratios of each party. If the transfer will cause the LMR of either party to fall below
1.0, the AER will either deny the transfer or require that additional security be posted.

138      The LLR program, and the regulatory oversight of the AER generally, applies to all holders of AER-issued licences,
including the receiver of an insolvent licensee. "Licensee" in the provincial legislation is defined to include a trustee or receiver-
manager of the property of a licensee: see OGCA s 1(cc). Accordingly, the receiver or trustee "steps into the shoes" of the
licensee in the case of receivership or bankruptcy. This is a vital part of the regulatory scheme, as it ensures that there remains an
entity that is responsible for the care and custody of AER licensed wells, pipelines and related facilities; and an entity responsible
for emergency and incident response and ensuring public safety. This responsibility also includes the fulfillment of end of life
obligations under the terms of the licence and the governing statutes.

139      The bankrupt licensee in this case, Redwater, held 127 AER-issued licences, comprising 84 well licences, 7 facility
licences, and 36 pipeline licences. The Trustee proposes to take possession of only 20 of Redwater's licensed assets, representing
approximately $6.7 million, while the majority of Redwater's licensed assets (which the Trustee proposes to disclaim) represent
approximately $664,000. The Trustee's proposal presents three difficulties. First, it would leave the disclaimed assets with no
responsible party to respond to safety and environmental issues. Second, it is an attempt by the Trustee to avoid the end of
life obligations associated with that portion of the licensed assets that the Trustee seeks to disclaim, without posting any of the
security that would normally be required as a condition of licence transfers of the non-disclaimed assets, in direct contravention
of the LLR program. Third, the Trustee says that it no longer needs to commit estate assets to end of life obligations, although
the debtor's full estate was considered when individual licences were granted and the totality of the assets, as a package, are
generally the guiding factor in any licence transfer.

140      In some circumstances, approval of a transfer will be subject to the posting of security to ensure sufficient funds remain
to cover the end of life obligations for licensed assets. The chambers judge noted that the AER may block a sale by withholding
the transfer of a licence unless the transfer conditions are met. The Trustee argues that in a case of bankruptcy, it, and not
the Regulator should determine whether, and to whom it may transfer Redwater's licensed assets. The Trustee also says that
Redwater need not post security from its assets on any requested transfer and that the value of its estate should not be used to
satisfy the end of life obligations imposed by law and assumed in the licence. The Trustee's approach contravenes the validly
enacted provincial legislation that governs the oil and gas industry in Alberta.
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141      It is important to appreciate that the statutory end of life obligations associated with AER-issued licences are known
to all industry participants, including lenders, and can and should be considered by lenders when assessing the risk exposure
involved in lending to holders of such licences. The primary lender in this case was no exception. The record makes clear that the
respondent ATB approached the lending of funds to Redwater with full knowledge of the end of life obligations associated with
Redwater's assets. An internal document of ATB, entitled "Industry Knowledge Guide — Oil and Gas Extraction", expressly
notes that "[t]he costs for the borrower of abandoning a well and returning the well and land site to their pre-drilled condition
can be significant. ... Abandonment liability and calculations are required in third party engineering reports". A third party
engineering report that took into account Redwater's abandonment obligations was prepared in this case. The answers to
undertakings given by ATB's representative also confirm that abandonment and reclamation liabilities are considered by ATB
in its calculation of a customer's borrowing base.

(iii) The Orphan Well Association

142      Another participant in the regulatory regime is the Orphan Well Association (OWA). The OWA is a non-profit
organization that conducts abandonment or site reclamation activities on specific properties that have been designated by the
AER as "orphans" pursuant to the OGCA. Such a designation may occur where the licensee is insolvent, defunct, or is dissolved
or struck as a corporation. The OWA is funded primarily by the oil and gas industry in Alberta, through an annual levy collected
by the AER and paid directly to the OWA. The OWA is overseen by a board of directors made up of representatives from
the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, the Explorers and Producers Association of Canada, the AER, and Alberta
Environment and Parks.

143      Proper abandonment and reclamation of well sites is important for public safety and land use. These activities involve
the proper plugging of the orphan wells down hole, removing the wellhead at the surface of the well site, and returning the land
use capability of the site, including removing contaminants.

144      As of September 2015, the OWA had about 695 wells to be abandoned and 503 sites to be reclaimed. It aspires to have all
of the current orphan sites reclaimed or abandoned over the next 10 to 12 years. Evidence from a director of the OWA expressed
concern about a troubling trend in the number of new orphaned wells; he says that if that trend continues, the OWA's current
resources will not be sufficient to maintain its target timeline for abandonment and reclamation. The number of new orphaned
wells designated in 2013/2014 was 80; in 2014/2015 that number had increased to 591.

145      The OWA prioritizes its abandonment work according to the following factors: health and public safety risk,
environmental impacts, regulatory concerns, stakeholder concerns (such as landowner complaints), and an assessment of
potential technical difficulties and probability of success. The OWA does not seek reimbursement from licensees of its costs
related to abandonment and reclamation, and has no power to seek reimbursement from the licensee. Where the AER holds a
security deposit on behalf of the licensee, the OWA is eligible to be reimbursed once the work is completed, up to the amount
of the deposit.

4. Constitutional and Interpretive Principles

146      This challenge to Alberta's regulatory regime must be placed within the appropriate framework. First, the regulatory
regime is validly enacted provincial legislation; no one has suggested otherwise. The Alberta legislation at issue is clearly intra
vires the province as involving property and civil rights in the province, and the exploration, development, conservation and
management of non-renewable natural resources in the province: Constitution Act, 1867, ss 92(13) and 92A(1).

147      The nature of the regulatory regime is also relevant to the analysis. Unlike more general environmental legislation
establishing agencies or departments aimed at tackling various environmental issues in whatever industry or location they occur,
the licensing regime at issue here governs all aspects of the development and management of a specific natural resource. It is
an overall system of regulation designed to protect the public and a resource which is owned largely by the public. There is
no doubt that the province is competent to regulate the exploration and development of oil and gas, to ensure that exploration
and development activities are carried out with adequate safeguards for public and environmental safety, and to regulate the
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issuance and transfer of licences that permit the activities necessary for resource development. Decisions regarding aspects of
the regime must take into account the nature of the regime as a whole.

148      The only challenge to the Alberta legislation is that it conflicts with the provisions of the BIA and that it is, therefore,
"inoperative to the extent of the inconsistency", pursuant to the paramountcy principle: Rothmans, Benson & Hedges Inc. v.
Saskatchewan, 2005 SCC 13, [2005] 1 S.C.R. 188 (S.C.C.) at para 11; Saskatchewan (Attorney General) v. Lemare Lake Logging
Ltd., 2015 SCC 53, [2015] 3 S.C.R. 419 (S.C.C.) at para 15. A conflict between validly enacted provincial and federal legislation
is said to arise in one of two situations: (1) operational conflict, meaning that it is impossible to comply with both the federal and
provincial law; or (2) frustration of purpose, meaning that the provincial law thwarts the purpose of the federal law: Moloney
at para 18. The burden to establish a conflict is on the party alleging that it exists.

149      Fundamentally, whether such a conflict exists is a constitutional issue, and there are several constitutional principles
that must be borne in mind. In Lemare Logging at paras 20-21, the Supreme Court emphasized the principle of cooperative
federalism, and stated that courts should favour harmonious interpretations of allegedly conflicting legislation:

[21] Given the guiding principle of cooperative federalism, paramountcy must be narrowly construed. Whether under the
operational conflict or the frustration of federal purpose branches of the paramountcy analysis, courts must take a 'restrained
approach', and harmonious interpretations of federal and provincial legislation should be favoured over interpretations that
result in incompatibility. [citations omitted]

150      In Moloney at para 27, the Supreme Court explained the proper approach to statutory interpretation when applying
the doctrine of paramountcy:

In keeping with co-operative federalism, the doctrine of paramountcy is applied with restraint. It is presumed that
Parliament intends its laws to co-exist with provincial laws. Absent a genuine inconsistency, courts will favour an
interpretation of the federal legislation that allows the concurrent operation of both laws. ... Conflict must be defined
narrowly, so that each level of government may act as freely as possible within its respective sphere of authority. [Citations
omitted]

151      As noted above, there are two branches to the paramountcy test. An operational conflict requires an actual conflict;
an inability to comply with both laws concurrently. If both laws "can operate side by side without conflict", or if "both laws
can apply concurrently, and citizens can comply with either of them without violating the other", no operational conflict exists:
Moloney at para 19.

152      Even if there is no operational conflict there can still be a frustration of the purpose of the federal law. In Moloney,
the Supreme Court identified two purposes said to be furthered by the BIA: (1) an equitable distribution of assets; and (2) the
financial rehabilitation of the debtor: para 32. It was the second purpose that was frustrated in Moloney, where it was found that
the provincial legislation purported to enforce a provable claim in bankruptcy that had been released by that bankruptcy: para
75. The purpose of financial rehabilitation of the debtor is not applicable here.

153      The first purpose, the equitable distribution of assets, is achieved by requiring creditors wishing to enforce a claim
provable in bankruptcy to participate in one collective proceeding. "For this model to be viable, creditors must not be allowed
to enforce their provable claims individually, that is, outside the collective proceeding": Moloney at para 34.

154      For this reason, provincial laws may be said to frustrate the purpose of the federal insolvency scheme when they
alter bankruptcy priorities by giving priority to one provable claim over others. The Supreme Court has been clear that it is
the substance, and not the form, of the provincial regime that must be examined, and that provincial laws will be rendered
inapplicable in bankruptcy when the effect of the law is to conflict with or alter the order of priorities established by the BIA:
Husky Oil Operations Ltd. v. Minister of National Revenue, [1995] 3 S.C.R. 453, 107 W.A.C. 81 (S.C.C.) at para 40.
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155      The Supreme Court has been equally clear that it is only a clear conflict, entailing a reordering of federal priorities that
will result in a declaration that a provincial law is inapplicable in bankruptcy. This was made clear in Husky Oil Operations
Ltd. at para 36.

[37] I underline that the "effect" which Roman and Sweatman speak of is the effect on bankruptcy priorities....
Consequently, clear conflict, that is an inconsistent or mutually exclusive result, which in this case entails a reordering of
federal priorities, is necessary to declare a provincial law to be inapplicable in bankruptcy. [emphasis in original]

156      A mere effect on bankruptcy generally, such as an effect on the value of a bankrupt's estate or the amount that is available
for distribution under the bankruptcy regime, does not frustrate the purpose of the BIA, and does not render a provincial law
inapplicable in bankruptcy: see Northern Badger at para 63. This is made explicit by s 72(1) of the BIA, which ensures that
provinces continue to have the ability to regulate property and civil rights during bankruptcy. The provincial law must have
the much narrower effect of reordering bankruptcy priorities before it will be declared in conflict with the BIA and therefore
inapplicable.

157      In AbitibiBowater Inc., Re, 2012 SCC 67, [2012] 3 S.C.R. 443 (S.C.C.), the Supreme Court considered whether certain
orders issued under Newfoundland's Environmental Protection Act were "claims" for the purpose of the Companies' Creditors
Arrangement Act, RCS 1985, c C-36 [CCAA]. The court noted that it is the substance of the provincial actions that must be
considered, stating at para 19, "[i]f the Province's actions indicate that, in substance, it is asserting a provable claim within the
meaning of federal legislation, then that claim can be subjected to the insolvency process". Conversely, if the province's actions
are not the assertion of a provable claim, they are not subject to the insolvency process.

158      The Supreme Court in Abitibi recognized that not every provincial order regarding environmental issues is a provable
claim, or has the effect of reordering bankruptcy priorities. Not all provincial regulation is rendered inoperative in bankruptcy.
As Deschamps J noted at para 2, "[a]s a matter of principle, reorganization does not amount to a licence to disregard rules".
The Ontario Court of Appeal in Nortel Networks Corp., Re, 2013 ONCA 599, [2013] O.J. No. 4458 (Ont. C.A.) agreed and
cautioned against a broad approach that would "result in virtually all regulatory environmental orders being found to be provable
claims": para 32.

159      When one considers the substance of the licensing regime governing end of life obligations for AER-licensed wells,
pipelines and facilities, it is apparent that there are fundamental distinctions between it and the environmental orders considered
by the Supreme Court in Abitibi and governed by s 14.06 of the BIA, the provision on which the Trustee relies. The respondents'
approach equates all provincial regulations touching on environmental matters, regardless of their source or substance. The
Supreme Court in Abitibi made clear that is not the correct approach. Although some environmental claims by regulators are
claims provable in bankruptcy, and must be dealt with in accordance with s 14.06 of the BIA, other regulatory requirements
are public obligations that exist outside, and survive, the bankruptcy. Alberta's oil and gas licensing regime creates such public
obligations, as this Court concluded in Northern Badger. At issue is not Alberta's general power to regulate pollution, enforced
through an environmental agency, but its ability to set licensing terms on the extraction of natural resources within the province,
most of which are publically owned.

5. Issues on Appeal

160      In approaching the issues on this appeal, I have considered, first, whether the regulatory regime governing Alberta's
oil and gas industry creates a provable claim that is subject to the bankruptcy scheme. I then considered whether the regulatory
regime conflicts with the BIA, either by way of operational conflict or by reordering bankruptcy priorities so as to frustrate the
BIA's purpose of ensuring equitable distribution to creditors. I have concluded that the answer to both questions is "no".

6. Are the Licensing Obligations a Claim Provable in Bankruptcy?

(i) This Court's decision in Northern Badger
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161      In Northern Badger, the regulator (the predecessor of the AER) sought compliance with its order to carry out proper
abandonment procedures on seven suspended oil wells. The issue was whether the receiver-manager of the insolvent and
bankrupt oil company was prevented from complying by the terms of the BIA. The chambers judge concluded that the provincial
licence granting authority was "a creditor seeking to have its claim to have the seven wells abandoned preferred to the claim of
the secured creditor and to the scheme of distribution set forth in the Bankruptcy Act". A similar argument is made on behalf
of the respondents on this appeal.

162      On appeal in Northern Badger, this Court disagreed with the chambers judge's characterization of the regulator's actions,
and rejected the contention that, in enforcing the requirement for the abandonment of oil and gas wells, the regulator was acting
as a creditor. The obligation to abandon the wells was a general regulatory obligation, not a provable claim in the bankruptcy.
Chief Justice Laycraft said, at para 33:

The statutory provisions requiring the abandonment of oil and gas wells are part of the general law of Alberta, binding on
every citizen of the Province. All who become licensees of oil and gas wells are bound by them. ... The duty is owed as
a public duty by all the citizens of the community to their fellow citizens. When the citizen subject to the order complies,
the result is not the recovery of money by the peace officer or public authority, or of a judgment for money, nor is that
the object of the whole process. Rather, it is simply the enforcement of the general law. The enforcing authority does not
become a "creditor" of the citizen on whom the duty is imposed.

(ii) Developments subsequent to Northern Badger

163      The respondents submit that the reasoning in Northern Badger has been completely overtaken, indeed overruled, by
the Supreme Court of Canada's more recent decision in Abitibi and by s 14.06 of the BIA. They argue these two changes have
fundamentally altered the law of bankruptcy.

164      I acknowledge these two recent changes, but do not accept that they lead to a different conclusion on the facts of this
case. The Supreme Court in Abitibi did not overturn Northern Badger, but rather emphasized the need to consider the substance
of provincial regulation in assessing whether it creates a claim provable in bankruptcy. That is precisely what this Court did
in Northern Badger, and what I am doing here.

165      In my view, the respondents' argument, and the approach taken in the court below, do not give sufficient consideration
to the substance and unique nature of the Alberta regulatory regime over oil and gas extraction. Rather, there is an attempt to
shoehorn Alberta's regulation of its oil and gas resources into the provisions of s 14.06 of the BIA. As I will explain further
below, this distinctive regulatory regime differs in fundamental ways from the environmental orders at issue in Abitibi and the
matters that Parliament intended to address through the enactment of s 14.06.

(iii) The Supreme Court of Canada's decision in Abitibi

166      In Abitibi, the Supreme Court considered remediation orders issued by the provincial government for the clean-up
of five contaminated sites in the context of a CCAA proceeding. The case involved contamination at several industrial sites
that were owned by the debtor Abitibi. The facts of the case are involved and rather unique because of the interplay between
generally applicable governmental environmental orders and specific legislation that targeted only Abitibi in an expropriation
of some of its property.

167      The main issue before the court was whether the remediation orders were a "claim provable in bankruptcy", and therefore
subject to the insolvency process. In other words, were the orders, in effect, a claim by the provincial government for repayment
of remediation work undertaken by the regulator? If so, then that claim was subject to the priorities established in the insolvency
process. Writing for the majority in Abitibi, Deschamps J noted that environmental orders may come in many forms, "including
stop, control, preventative and clean-up orders": para 31. She went on to describe the issue, from an insolvency perspective,
at para 32:
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Parliament recognized that regulatory bodies sometimes have to perform remediation work ... When one does so, its claim
with respect to remediation costs is subject to the insolvency process ...

168      In considering whether a particular order is a "claim provable in bankruptcy" within the meaning of s 2 of the BIA
and therefore subject to the insolvency process, the court set out three requirements: (1) there must be a debt, a liability, or an
obligation to a creditor; (2) the debt, liability or obligation must be incurred before the debtor becomes bankrupt; (3) it must be
possible to attach a monetary value to the debt, liability or obligation: para 26 (emphasis of Deschamps J).

169      It is clear from the court's approach in Abitibi that not every provincial regulation that touches on environmental matters
is in conflict with insolvency legislation, nor is every order issued to enforce compliance with provincial regulation a claim
provable in bankruptcy. To the contrary, the Abitibi decision expressly recognizes that "orders relating to the environment may
or may not be considered provable claims": Abitibi, para 43. Only those orders that are "monetary in nature" and "will ripen
into a financial liability owed to the regulatory body that made the order" are subject to the CCAA process: Abitibi at paras 3,
43. A similar sentiment was expressed by the Ontario Court of Appeal in Nortel, which rejected the argument that any order
requiring an expenditure of funds is monetary within the meaning of the Abitibi test: Nortel at para 32.

170      The Abitibi approach makes a distinction between monetary claims that are part of a bankruptcy and general regulatory
obligations. This distinction was succinctly expressed by Chief Justice McLachlin in her dissenting reasons in Abitibi, when she
noted that the CCAA and the BIA draw "a fundamental distinction between ongoing regulatory obligations owed to the public,
which generally survive the restructuring, and monetary claims that can be compromised": para 72. She went on to note that
"[t]he distinction between regulatory obligations under the general law aimed at the protection of the public and monetary claims
that can be compromised in CCAA restructuring or bankruptcy is a fundamental plank of Canadian corporate law": at para 74.

171      The Chief Justice noted several examples of "ongoing regulatory obligations" under the general law that survive
restructuring, including those arising from statutory schemes governing matters like "employment, energy conservation and
the environment": paras 71, 74. She also cited this Court's decision in Northern Badger as an example of such a regulatory
obligation, noting that "the Alberta Court of Appeal held that a receiver in bankruptcy must comply with an order from the
Energy Resources Conservation Board to comply with well abandonment requirements" because "the duty is owed as a public
duty by all the citizens of the community to their fellow citizens": para 73.

172      These are important distinctions, and I do not read the majority judgment in Abitibi as disagreeing with the Chief Justice
on this point. The majority considered this Court's decision in Northern Badger, but did not overrule it. Throughout her reasons
for the majority, Deschamps J emphasized the need to consider the substance of provincial regulations: see, e.g., para 31. At
para 45, she noted that "courts have never shied away from putting substance ahead of form", referring to this Court's decision
in Northern Badger, seemingly as an example of that approach.

173      The need to consider the substance of provincial legislation was reiterated at para 48, when Deschamps J continued:

Whether the regulatory body has a contingent claim is a determination that must be grounded in the facts of each case.
Generally, a regulatory body has discretion under environmental legislation to decide how best to ensure that regulatory
obligations are met. Although the court should take care to avoid interfering with that discretion, the action of a regulatory
body is nevertheless subject to scrutiny in insolvency proceedings.

174      This quote recognizes expressly that regulatory bodies have the discretion, albeit subject to supervision, to decide how to
best ensure that environmental obligations are met. It is noteworthy that this was addressed to environmental liabilities, a large
category of regulated conduct that can occur anywhere, anytime, across any industry or other form of legal regulation. The same
reasoning would apply, even more strongly, when the provincial legislation is a valid exercise of a province's jurisdiction to
decide how best to regulate the exploration and development of a largely public resource in a manner that best serves the public,
and exists to ensure those who are licensed to conduct such development meet the obligations imposed on them. The regime
imposes "ongoing regulatory obligations owed to the public", not monetary claims in the bankruptcy. There are two sources for
this ongoing public duty in the Alberta situation. There is a public obligation imposed by the regulatory regime and, moreover,
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those obligations were imposed in return for access to a public resource. As this Court concluded in Northern Badger, such
public obligations are not provable claims that can be counted or compromised in the bankruptcy.

175      The test in Abitibi, intended to permit courts to assess when an environmental order should be treated as a claim made
in the bankruptcy, demonstrates the continued validity of the Northern Badger conclusion.

176      The third branch of the Abitibi test, whether the obligation or liability owed by the debtor amounts to a monetary claim,
was described at paras 59 and 61:

[59] ... an environmental order issued by a regulatory body can be treated as a contingent claim, and ... such a claim can
be included in the claims process if it is sufficiently certain that the regulatory body will make a monetary claim against
the debtor.

. . .

[61] ... the contingency to be assessed in a case such as this is whether it is sufficiently certain that the regulatory body
will perform remediation work and be in a position to assert a monetary claim.

177      It is important to bear in mind the nature of the environmental claims at issue in Abitibi: five environmental clean-up orders
aimed at industrial pollution on the debtor's land. These were the general environmental orders issued by the environmental
agency to address various types of pollution and environmental challenges and which may "come in many forms, including
stop, control, preventative, and clean-up orders": para 31. What these orders have in common is that they are aimed at the
prevention and clean-up of a limited number of environmental problems, such as spills of industrial chemicals, that often arise
unexpectedly, during operations on the property of the debtor. These events are often contingent, episodic and unpredictable.

178      That is what occurred in Abitibi. During the course of its operations, various contaminants spilled on the lands owned
by Abitibi and the government issued orders and tried to have those lands transferred to the government through legislation.
As the Supreme Court noted, when such conditions arise, "regulatory bodies sometimes have to perform remediation work".
The decisions of the Ontario Court of Appeal in Nortel and Northstar Aerospace Inc., Re, 2013 ONCA 600, 234 A.C.W.S. (3d)
642 (Ont. C.A.), both decided after Abitibi, also dealt with the same type of industrial contamination on land owned by the
debtors, and the same kind of clean-up order.

179      Contrast that with the licensing and regulatory regime here. The abandonment obligations are not an unknown or
unexpected event; all parties involved know these obligations will arise at the end of the life of the well. The AER is not in
the business of performing abandonment work itself; the evidence of the AER's affiant was that it rarely, if ever, conducts
abandonment work on behalf of its licensees, and when it does so it virtually never asserts a claim for reimbursement.
Specifically with respect to the Redwater assets, the AER does not intend to perform the abandonment work. Abandonment is
the obligation of the licensee. It is sometimes funded through the LLR program, using security posted by licence-holders. This
is the funding system the Trustee seeks to avoid. It is not a claim by the Regulator.

180      If the wells are declared to be orphaned wells, the OWA may eventually abandon the wells, but it has no ability to seek
reimbursement from the licensee or anyone else. The OWA's involvement is subject to the priorities assigned to the hundreds
of other orphan sites within its mandate and would likely involve a significant timeline. In 2015, with less wells orphaned than
currently exist, the OWA predicted it would take between 10 and 12 years to complete the necessary work. Moreover, as the
OWA points out, it is a non-profit organization, largely funded by industry, and is separate from the AER. In neither situation
(the LLR program nor the OWA) is the abandonment work performed by, or funded by, the provincial government. There is
no "sufficient certainty" that the regulatory body, or the provincial government, will perform the end of life obligations and be
in a position to assert a monetary claim.

181      The chambers judge apparently recognized this uncertainty, noting at para 173 of his reasons:
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Does this situation meet the sufficient certainty criterion as described in AbitibiBowater? The answer is no in a narrow and
technical sense, since it is unclear whether the AER will perform the work itself or if it will deem the properties subject to
the orders, orphans. If so, the OWA will probably perform the work, although not necessarily within a definite timeframe.

182      Nevertheless, the chambers judge went on to hold that the situation met the intention of the majority in Abitibi because the
Trustee would have to expend funds, in the nature of the posted security, in order to comply with the orders and that, "although
not expressed in monetary terms, the AER orders are in this case intrinsically financial".

183      With respect, that is an erroneous application of the test. It is not enough that a regulatory order is "intrinsically financial"
to render it a claim in bankruptcy. The Ontario Court of Appeal rejected a similar characterization in Nortel, in which the
respondents had argued that, "as long as the order requires an expenditure of funds its nature is monetary". In rejecting this
position, the Court of Appeal said at paras 31 and 32:

... the Supreme Court's decision is clear: ongoing environmental remediation obligations may be reduced to monetary
claims that can be compromised in CCAA proceedings only where the province has performed the remediation work and
advances a claim for reimbursement, or where the obligation may be considered a contingent or future claim because it is
"sufficiently certain" that the province will do the work and then seek reimbursement.

The respondents' approach is not only inconsistent with AbitibiBowater, it is too broad. It would result in virtually all
regulatory environmental orders being found to be provable claims. As Deschamps J observed, a company may engage
in activities that carry risks. When those risks materialize, the costs are borne by those who hold a stake in the company.
A risk that results in an environmental obligation becomes subject to the insolvency process only when it is in substance
monetary and is in substance a provable claim.

184      I would apply the same reasoning here. The chambers judge's approach to the question of whether the application of the
provincial regulation amounts to a monetary claim is too broad. There is not sufficient certainty that the work will be done, either
by the AER or the OWA, and no certainty at all that a claim for reimbursement would be made. There is no monetary claim
that can be compromised in bankruptcy proceedings here; what we are dealing with are public duties and regulatory obligations
that survive the bankruptcy. In law, the end of life obligations are licence conditions which must be assumed before an entity
may profit from resource extraction. These are costs to comply with generally applicable laws. Even if end of life obligations
are seen as part of the price of obtaining the desired licence, this does not transform them into a monetary claim in bankruptcy.

185      In my view, the regulatory regime also does not satisfy the first requirement of the Abitibi test for monetary claims
— that the regulatory body is a creditor of the insolvent debtor. The obligation to abandon a well and reclaim the well site,
imposed on a licensee by provincial legislation, is not, in my view, the claim of a creditor. This was the view of Laycraft CJA
in Northern Badger at para 32-33, when he noted that the cost of abandoning licensed wells "was one of the expenses, inherent
in the nature of the properties themselves, taken over for management by the Receiver". That cost is not owed to the Regulator,
or to the province.

186      I recognize that the majority in Abitibi cast the creditor net widely, holding that the provincial government in that rather
unique case was a "creditor" for purposes of the CCAA as soon as it had exercised its enforcement power against the debtor: at
para 27. In that case, it was the issuance of the environmental clean-up orders that identified the regulator as a creditor.

187      In this case, even if one could characterize the AER's issuance of the abandonment orders as fitting the description
of creditor in Abitibi, the LLR program, which requires the posting of security upon licence transfer in certain circumstances,
stands on a different footing. The LLR program applies to all licensees and pre-dates any bankruptcy. The continued application
of the program upon insolvency falls outside the spirit of Abitibi on this issue. The requirement that a licensee obtain AER
approval for licence transfers is fundamentally different from the clean-up orders at issue in Abitibi. The province has to be able
to maintain control over the transfer of well and pipeline licences during a bankruptcy and there is no reason why that regulatory
requirement cannot co-exist with the distribution of a debtor's estate. The trustee must comply with the licensing requirements
during the bankruptcy process. The trustee cannot, for example, transfer AER-issued well licences to an unqualified licensee;
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AER approval is required for any transfer. Similarly, the trustee must comply with the LLR program when seeking to transfer
licences. The requirement to post security as part of the licence transfer is not, in my view, a "debt" owed to the AER or the
province. It is part of the conditions attached to the licence. The AER does not become a creditor when it seeks to enforce
the licence conditions, whether it does so by the issuance of abandonment orders or otherwise. The definition of "creditor" in
Abitibi does not fit comfortably with the LLR program at issue here.

188      The application of the provincial legislation does not result in a "monetary claim" as defined in Abitibi. It is, rather, an
ongoing regulatory obligation that continues following the bankruptcy.

(iv) The proper interpretation of section 14.06 of the BIA

189      The respondents also argue that s 14.06, enacted after the decision in Northern Badger, fundamentally changed
the approach to environmental claims in bankruptcy proceedings and constitutes a complete code governing the treatment
of all environmental liabilities in bankruptcy. I accept that it is a specific provision that overrides any general power the
trustee may otherwise have to renounce real property. I also accept that the amendments capture both provincial and federal
environmental claims. However, the respondent argues for too expansive a reading of what is an awkwardly worded provision.
The extraordinary power claimed by the trustees to pick and choose when they will comply with validly enacted and generally
applicable provincial law would require a most clear, express and unambiguous grant of that extraordinary power. With respect,
that is not s 14.06. When this overbroad interpretation is applied so as to capture the provincial licensing regime, it is also
contrary to the direction of the Supreme Court to construe paramountcy narrowly: see Lemare Logging; Moloney.

190      Moreover, the respondents' interpretation disregards the requirement to examine the substance of provincial regulations.
Nor does it accord with the Supreme Court's decision in Abitibi. A review of the language and context of s 14.06 demonstrates
that it, like the definition of monetary claim in Abitibi, does not encompass every provincial regulation that touches on
environmental matters. It does not encompass the provincial regulations at issue here.

191      For convenience, the particularly relevant provisions of s 14.06 are set out below:

14.06(2) Notwithstanding anything in any federal or provincial law, a trustee is not personally liable in that position for
any environmental condition that arose or environmental damage that occurred

(a) before the trustee's appointment; or

(b) after the trustee's appointment unless it is established that the condition arose or the damage occurred as a result
of the trustee's gross negligence or wilful misconduct ...

(4) Notwithstanding anything in any federal or provincial law but subject to subsection (2), where an order is made which
has the effect of requiring a trustee to remedy any environmental condition or environmental damage affecting property
involved in a bankruptcy, proposal or receivership, the trustee is not personally liable for failure to comply with the order,
and is not personally liable for any costs that are or would be incurred by any person in carrying out the terms of the order,

(a) if, within such time as is specified in the order, ... the trustee

(i) complies with the order, or

(ii) on notice to the person who issued the order, abandons, disposes of or otherwise releases an interest in any
real property, or any right in any immovable, affected by the condition or damage;

..., or

(c) if the trustee had, before the order was made, abandoned or renounced or been divested of any interest in any real
property, or any right in any immovable, affected by the condition or damage.
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(5) The court may grant a stay of the order referred to in subsection (4) on such notice and for such period as the court
deems necessary for the purpose of enabling the trustee to assess the economic viability of complying with the order.

(6) If the trustee has abandoned or renounced any interest in any real property, or any right in any immovable, affected
by the environmental condition or environmental damage, claims for costs of remedying the condition or damage shall
not rank as costs of administration.

(7) Any claim by Her Majesty in right of Canada or a province against the debtor in a bankruptcy, proposal or receivership
for costs of remedying any environmental condition or environmental damage affecting real property or an immovable
of the debtor is secured by security on the real property or immovable affected by the environmental or condition or
environmental damage and on any other real property or immovable of the debtor that is contiguous with that real property
or immovable and that is related to the activity that caused the environmental condition or environmental damage, and
the security

. . .

(b) ranks above any other claim, right, charge or security against the property, despite any other provision of this Act
or anything in any other federal or provincial law.

(8) Despite subsection 121(1), a claim against a debtor in a bankruptcy or proposal for the costs of remedying any
environmental condition or environmental damage affecting real property or an immovable of the debtor shall be a provable
claim, whether the condition arose or the damage occurred before or after the date of the filing of the proposal or the date
of the bankruptcy.

192      In any statutory interpretation exercise, the starting point is Driedger's modern principle: "the words of an Act are to be
read in their entire context and in their grammatical and ordinary sense harmoniously with the scheme of the Act, the object of
the Act, and the intention of Parliament": Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd., Re, [1998] 1 S.C.R. 27, 154 D.L.R. (4th) 193 (S.C.C.) at
para 21. A review of both the language used in s 14.06 and the context in which it was enacted is important to understanding
the intention of Parliament in adding these provisions to the BIA: Bell ExpressVu Ltd. Partnership v. Rex, 2002 SCC 42, [2002]
2 S.C.R. 559 (S.C.C.).

193      The first point to note is that ss 14.06(2) and (4) both expressly speak of the personal liability of the trustee; both
provisions specify situations in which a trustee will not be "personally liable" for environmental conditions on land belonging to
a debtor that pre-exist the trustee's mandate. Sub-section 14.06(2) entered the BIA by way of amendment in 1992, following this
Court's decision in Northern Badger: see Bill C-22, An Act to Amend the Bankruptcy Act and to amend the Income Tax Act in

consequence thereof, 3 rd  Sess, 34 Parl, 1992, cl 14.06(2). As the respondent ATB points out, the decision in Northern Badger
dealt with the liability of court officers for an insolvent debtor's environmental obligations. To address concerns regarding the
potential liability of insolvency professionals, Parliament enacted s 14.06(2).

194      The Supreme Court noted this legislative response at para 47 of Abitibi, saying "[i]n 1992, Parliament shielded trustees
from the very liability imposed on the receiver in [Northern Badger]". Accordingly, the 1992 amendment to the BIA made it
clear that trustees could not be personally liable for environmental damage that occurred before their appointment; if there was
damage after the trustee's appointment, they could be liable only if the damage resulted from their negligence: SC 1992, c 27, s
9(1), enacting s 14.06(2) of the BIA. This was later amended to require gross negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of the
trustee: SC 1997, c 12, s 15. These amendments were motivated by and aimed at concerns about the protection of trustees, not
the protection of the full value of the estate for the creditors. This is apparent from the express language chosen by Parliament.

195      Jacques Hains, Director of Corporate Law Policy Directorate at the Department of Industry Canada, was involved in
the 1992 amendments, as well as later amendments in 1997. He explained the purpose of the addition of s 14.06(2) in 1992
as follows:
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What Parliament tried to do in 1992 was to provide a relief to insolvency practitioners — essentially these are receivers and
trustees, although it was only trustees in 1992 — because they were at risk when they accepted a mandate to liquidate an
insolvent business. That was so because, technically and legally speaking, they are vested with the assets of the bankrupt
individual; they become more or less the owner of those assets and are in control of them. Under environmental laws,
therefore, they could have been subject to personal liability to clean up the environment. I am speaking of personal liability
here, meaning "out of their own pockets".

Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce, No 13 (4 November 1996)

(Emphasis added)

196      Moreover, shortly after Northern Badger was decided and the 1992 BIA amendments were enacted, the definition
of "licensee" in Alberta's oil and gas legislation was amended to specifically include "trustee and receiver-manager", further
pointing out the potential for the personal "out-of-pocket" liability of a trustee for environmental conditions that arose prior
to the trustee's mandate.

197      Additional amendments to the BIA followed in 1997: Bill C-5, An Act to amend the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act,

the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act and the Income Tax Act, 2 nd  Sess, 35 th  Parl, 1997, cl 15. The Hansard debates
at that time demonstrate that a continued aim of s 14.06 was to limit the personal liability of insolvency professionals, as was
noted by Mr. Hains:

The aim is to provide a better definition of the liability of insolvency professionals and practitioners in order to encourage
them to accept mandates where there may be problems related to the environment. It is hoped that this will reduce the
number of abandoned sites both for the benefit of the environment and the safeguard of businesses and jobs.

House of Commons Debates, Evidence of the Standing Committee on Industry, 35 th  Parl, 2 nd  Sess, No 16 (11 June 1996)
at 1549-1555.

198      This was also noted by Gordon Marantz, Legal Advisor to the Department of Industry, who said that the 1997 amendments
were intended to "provide the trustee with protection from being chased with deep-pocket liability": House of Commons

Debates, Evidence of the Standing Committee on Industry, 35 th  Parl, 2 nd  Sess, No 21 (25 September 1996) at 1715.

199      Sub-section 14.06(4), enacted as part of the 1997 amendments, contains the key contested provisions relevant to this
appeal. It refers to "orders" to remedy an environmental condition or damage, and provides that a trustee is not "personally
liable" to comply with or pay costs associated with such orders if the trustee has "released an interest in real property" affected
by the condition or damage, or has "abandoned or renounced or been divested of any interest in any real property" affected
by the condition or damage.

200      The respondents argue that s 14.06(4) grants to trustees a broad right to renounce any assets that are affected by any
environmental order. This, they say, allows the trustee of Redwater's estate to avoid the costs associated with compliance with
Redwater's licensing obligations, and to increase the value of the estate for the benefit of the creditors.

201      I cannot accept the respondents' interpretation of s 14.06(4). As I will explain, their interpretation requires that several parts
of the sub-section be read impermissibly broadly. Such a broad reading conflicts with the principle of cooperative federalism,
which requires courts to avoid placing too broad an interpretation on the federal legislation and to read the federal and provincial
legislation harmoniously so as to avoid a conflict wherever possible. The only matter on which all parties before the Court
agreed was that the language of s 14.06(4) is not a model of clarity. It is certainly not apparent on the face of the provision that
the respondents' preferred, expansive interpretation is the only available interpretation.

202      First, the respondents' interpretation requires that the phrase "personal liability of the trustee" include the liability of
the debtor's estate. In making the 1997 amendments, including s 14.06(4), Parliament chose to repeat the language adopted
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in s 14.06(2) regarding the protection of trustees from personal liability. That choice of language, and the context, indicates
that Parliament's intent was to continue the protection earlier granted to trustees; to avoid trustees being saddled personally
with liabilities the estate could not cover. As has been noted, this was Parliament's response to Northern Badger, and to the
subsequent amendment of Alberta's oil and gas legislation.

203      The appellants say that the trustee's ability to renounce real property is limited to that which is necessary for the trustee to
avoid personal liability for complying with an environmental order, but that s 14.06(4) does not prevent the assets of the estate
being used to comply with the order. I accept that argument to the extent that it reinforces that end of life obligations bind the
estate and cannot be renounced. However, in my view the inapplicability of s 14.06 as a whole, and s 14.06(4) specifically, to
Alberta's licensing regime is also apparent from other parts of the provision.

204      For instance, the respondents would read the word "order" to encompass any and all regulation that touches on
environmental matters. This reading is overbroad and is inconsistent with the decision of the Supreme Court in Abitibi. Not
every provincial regulatory obligation is covered by the bankruptcy scheme.

205      The respondents' interpretation would treat s 14.06 as a complete code, occupying the entire field of environmental
regulation after a bankruptcy has occurred. The Supreme Court in Abitibi rejected that approach, instead maintaining the
distinction between ongoing regulatory obligations, as opposed to monetary claims by regulators that are subject to bankruptcy
priorities. If s 14.06 occupied the entire field, there would be no need for the Abitibi test. As the Supreme Court has noted, the
enactment of s 14.06 was, in part, a response to this Court's decision in Northern Badger. The respondents' argument ignores
the holding in Northern Badger that some regulatory claims are duties owed to the public and that such public obligations
survive bankruptcy, a distinction that was maintained by the Supreme Court in Abitibi. If, as the respondents argue, the BIA
amendments in s 14.06(4) were intended to allow a trustee to pick and choose which ongoing regulatory obligations it would
fulfill, the legislation would have to say so clearly. It does not. The Hansard debates would also be replete with analysis on
the point. They are not.

206      I do not read s 14.06(4) as allowing trustees to pick and choose which regulatory obligations apply to them. A proper
interpretation of the provision must take a narrower focus. It is not only that the respondents' reading of the subsection is
unnecessarily broad, although that renders it inconsistent with the constitutional imperative to read the federal and provincial
legislation harmoniously together. For the following reasons, the respondents' interpretation is also contrary to the plain language
of the provisions of s 14.06 and the context in which they were enacted.

207      Sub-section 14.06(4) must be read together with the balance of s 14.06, in accordance with the interpretive principle
that a statutory provision must be read as a whole. As Sullivan notes in her Construction of Statutes, "The broad general rule
for the construction of statutes is that a section or enactment must be construed as a whole, each portion throwing light, if need

be, on the rest" 5  . Subsection 14.06(4) does not stand in "splendid isolation" in the BIA, or even within s 14.06. It is part of
an interconnected set of provisions that must be interpreted together.

208      The provisions of subsections 14.06(4) to (8) were enacted together, as part of the 1997 amendments, and must be
read together. Those provisions combine to enact a compromise with respect to the environmental clean-up of a bankrupt's real
property. The Hansard debates prior to the 1997 amendments demonstrate that intention. Mr. Morantz, quoted above, spoke of
the "trade-off" envisioned by the provision:

You can't just look at one part of the environmental section, because it's a package. It's designed to ensure that a receiver
or a trustee can take control of a property and determine whether or not there's an environmental problem and whether or
not it's worth cleaning up, and to provide the trustee with protection from being chased with deep-pocket liability.

The trade-off of the environmental authorities agreeing to give that freedom to a trustee is that the environmental authorities
get the lien on the property, so if it's abandoned to them, they have an easy means of getting title, remedying the damage
and then recouping their cost out of the sale of the property.



41

House of Commons Debates, Evidence of the Standing Committee on Industry, 35 th  Parl, 2 nd  Sess, No 21 (25 September
1996) at 1715

(emphasis added)

209      To similar effect is the following statement by Jacques Hains:

Bill C-5 then adds two more options. The first is the possibility for trustees or receivers — insolvency practitioners — to
seek time from courts to say, "I need to assess the economic viability of the proposal". Regulators would be there to say,
"There is a health hazard; therefore you have 24 hours," or "You can take two to three weeks." The court will give that
time. Moreover, knowing that the bill will be too expensive and will not be economically viable, the trustees are then out
of it and can abandon that piece of property subject to the order.

That is when the third element of the proposal kicks in. For the first time, the Canadian Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
will give environmental claims an absolute first-rank priority over banks, over all secured creditors, over the real property
that is the object of the order, plus any contiguous property related to the activity that caused the contamination. They will
have an absolute super-priority, recognized in law, over the banks. A super-lien.

Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce, No 13 (4 November 1996)

210      To the extent, then, that s 14.06(4) is intended to permit trustees to renounce assets that are subject to remediation orders,
that ability is restricted to real property that is the subject of the statutory compromise. If one side of the trade-off does not apply
to a particular situation, none of the trade-off can apply. Section 14.06 puts into effect a quid pro quo, a balancing of interests.
On my reading of the provision, the trustee's ability to renounce assets is restricted to real property of the debtor that is subject
to an order that amounts to a monetary claim (and is therefore a claim provable in the bankruptcy). The ability to renounce
is accompanied by a balancing provision to ensure the regulatory authority does not bear the full burden of remediating the
debtor's real property, and creditors do not unduly benefit from remediation work performed by the authority. This balance is
effected by provisions that grant the Crown a super-priority over contaminated real property of the debtor, or property of the
debtor contiguous to it, for costs incurred in remedying environmental damage affecting that real property: s 14.06(7). If the
super-priority is insufficient to cover the incurred clean-up costs, the remaining costs are a provable claim in the bankruptcy
and will rank as an unsecured claim against all the debtor's assets: s 14.06(8).

211      This interpretation is borne out by the intention of Parliament in enacting ss 14.06(4) to (8), as exhibited in the Hansard
debates, is consistent with the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in Abitibi, and is supported by the language of the provision.

212      In addition to the legislative debates already cited, Mr. Hains further explained the mechanism put in place for the
balancing of interests, prior to the enactment of ss 14.06(4) to (8):

My colleagues from the Department of the Environment also asked me what would become of the abandoned site. The
Department of the Environment would be responsible for cleaning up the land and confirming the cost of such a clean-
up. The contaminated land would then recover commercial value, it would be sold and the amount would first of all be
used to refund the Department of the Environment.

House of Commons Debates, Evidence of the Standing Committee on Industry, 35 th  Parl, 2 nd  Sess, No 16 (11 June 1996)
at 1655.

213      The Supreme Court also reviewed the Parliamentary debates, and described Parliament's intention at para 32 of Abitibi:

Parliament recognized that regulatory bodies sometimes have to perform remediation work (see House of Commons,

Evidence of the Standing Committee on Industry, No 16, 2 nd  Sess., 35 th  Parl., June 11, 1996). When one does so, its
claim with respect to remediation costs is subject to the insolvency process, but the claim is secured by a charge on the
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contaminated real property and certain other related property and benefits from a priority. ... Thus, Parliament struck a
balance between the public's interest in enforcing environmental regulations and the interest of third party creditors in
being treated equitably.

(Emphasis added)

214      In other words, the balance struck by s 14.06 applies to those regulatory orders that are properly considered monetary
claims, or claims provable in bankruptcy, pursuant to the test set out by the Supreme Court in Abitibi. When real property
that is subject to such a claim is renounced, that real property is subject to the balancing super-priority. These conditions are
exemplified by the situation at issue in Abitibi — pollution, industrial contamination, or similar environmental damage on the
debtor's land. In Abitibi, the Supreme Court stated that the purpose of this part of s 14.06 was to "balance the creditor's need for
fairness against the debtor's need to make a fresh start": para 47. Rather than having the creditor pay for environmental damage
it could not foresee, therefore, Parliament devised a compromise, which would allow the Crown, if it proceeded with the clean-
up of the debtor's land, to recoup some of its costs through a super-priority over that land.

215      The balancing of interests created by these provisions does not apply to ongoing regulatory obligations in the nature
of a public duty; it does not apply to permit a trustee to renounce the end of life obligations inherent in the licences issued to
permit access to Alberta's oil and gas resources. It does not apply to a licence that requires the consent and approval of the
Regulator to transfer. The provisions of s 14.06 are simply inapplicable to those public obligations in the distinctive context
of oil and gas development and regulation.

216      Each of ss 14.06(4), (7) and (8) refer to "real property"; s 14.06(4) speaks of the trustee releasing "an interest in any
real property affected by the condition", and s 14.06(7) speaks of the Crown having a claim for the cost of "remedying any
environmental condition ... affecting the real property of the debtor". These subsections all focus on the debtor's interest in
real property. The debtor would be in a position to transfer this real property to another, without the consent of any regulator.
Alberta's regulatory regime, however, addresses the AER-issued licences, which, as discussed earlier, are not an interest in
real property, and the wells drilled pursuant to those licences, which comprise chattels attached to land that is owned by the
owner of the surface, not the debtor. Further, the consent of the Regulator is needed to transfer the licence. The unique nature
of Alberta's oil and gas industry comes into play here, and it has significant implications for any attempt to apply s 14.06 to
Alberta's regulatory regime.

217      On the respondents' reading of the provision, section 14.06(4) permits a trustee to walk away from an asset of the debtor
— the debtor's interest in land affected by environmental damage — when the costs to remediate that land will exceed its value.
This ability to renounce must be read in conjunction with the other half of the compromise - the super-priority over the debtor's
real property established by s 14.06(7).

218      Section 14.06(7) grants the Crown a super-priority in the debtor's real property so that the Crown may recoup some of
the costs incurred to clean up the environmental damage on that same property. This provision, and the compromise inherent
in it, is effective only where it is the debtor's real property that has suffered environmental damage. It has no application here.
There is no "real property of the debtor" in which the Crown can take a super-priority. The well licence is not real property,
and it is nonsensical to contemplate a super-priority attached to an abandoned well or to a mineral interest often already owned
by the Crown and leased to the debtor. In enacting subsection 14.06(7), Parliament intended to provide a meaningful source
of recompense if the public incurs remediation costs to clean up a debtor's property. In this situation, that intention is rendered
meaningless.

219      Abitibi and cases decided subsequent to it concern contamination on land owned by the debtor. In Abitibi, the company's
operations were carried out on, and industrial contamination occurred on, the company's land (although on the unique facts
of that case, the land was subsequently expropriated by the government). In Nortel, manufacturing activities were carried out
on several sites owned by Nortel, some of which had since been transferred to other owners. Clean up orders were directed to
Nortel as well as the former and current owners of the land. The order found to be a claim provable in bankruptcy was associated
with a site still partially owned by Nortel. In Northstar, the company operated a manufacturing and processing facility. A site
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at Cambridge was contaminated while Northstar owned it. The government commenced remediation work on the site, which
established that the clean-up order was in substance a claim provable in bankruptcy.

220      That is not the situation with Alberta's oil and gas regulation. The well licence conditions that impose ongoing public
obligations to safely abandon and reclaim wells are not the sort of "order" at issue in these cases, and contemplated by s 14.06(4).
Neither AER-issued well licences nor the chattels that comprise the well itself are the sort of "real property" contemplated by
that provision. Importantly, the end of life obligations the trustee seeks to avoid primarily affect land that belongs not to the
debtor, but to a third party — either the Crown or a private third party who owns the surface of the land on which the well and
other facilities were placed. The creditor, who granted credit with full knowledge of the nature of the collateral available and
the end-of-life obligations inherent in it, will take the benefit of more profitable portions of the debtor's estate, while leaving
the surface owner's land in unsafe and less valuable condition. This sort of undesirable and unintended consequence should not
happen unless there is no other available statutory interpretation.

221      At para 132 of his reasons, the chambers judge stated that, "section 14.06 ensures that creditors do not unduly bear the
burden of a debtor's environmental liabilities". The Supreme Court in Abitibi expressed a similar concern at para 40:

... full compliance with orders that are found to be monetary in nature would shift the costs of remediation to third-party
creditors, including involuntary creditors, such as those whose claims lie in tort or in the law of extra-contractual liability.
In the insolvency context, the Province's position would result not only in a super-priority, but in the acceptance of a "third-
party-pay" principle in place of the polluter-pay principle.

222      However, in this case, it is a third party owner of the surface and/or the public at large that is being asked to bear
the burden of the debtor's unfulfilled obligations, while the lender receives more value than it bargained for when it made its
decision to lend.

223      Sub-section 14.06(4) was not intended to operate in Alberta's regulatory environment. The balance struck by s 14.06
does not take into account the third party surface owner, who is a common player in the Alberta system. The diminution in
value of that party's land will be the result of the debtor's failure to fulfill obligations that were statutorily imposed when the
licence was issued, and the lender, who knew of the obligations when funds were advanced, will benefit. Sub-section 14.06(4),
and its reference to a trustee renouncing interests in real property, simply does not apply to the end of life obligations attached
to AER licences. Even assuming the assets can be renounced, the end of life obligations would continue to bind the remaining
parts of the estate.

224      Finally, s 14.06(8) ensures "a claim against a debtor for environmental clean-up costs is a provable claim", but there is
no such claim under the Alberta licensing and regulatory regime. Pursuant to the Abitibi analysis, discussed earlier, there is no
monetary claim by the Crown that would qualify as a claim provable in bankruptcy. These known, assumed licence conditions
are public duties, different from generally applicable environmental regulations.

225      The interaction of ss 14.06(4) to (8) is a clear compromise between the cost to clean up environmental hazards or
pollution on a debtor's real property, as incurred by a regulator, and the ability of the regulator to recoup some of those costs
by selling the remediated property. It has absolutely no applicability to a provincial licensing regime that imposes obligations
on licensees as part of granting access to develop a largely public resource.

226      The chambers judge considered the effect of the BIA amendments on the reasoning in Northern Badger, noting that
Burrows J in Strathcona (County) v. Fantasy Construction Ltd. Estate (Trustee of), 2005 ABQB 559, [2005] A.W.L.D. 2962
(Alta. Q.B.) held that "the amendments did not overrule the principles stated in Northern Badger regarding compliance with
public duty, namely the bankrupt's obligation to comply with public safety or environmental standards even where it impacts
creditors". I agree with that conclusion. The chambers judge seemed, however, to prefer the reasoning of the Ontario Court
of Appeal in General Chemical Canada Ltd., Re, 2007 ONCA 600, 160 A.C.W.S. (3d) 217 (Ont. C.A.) which he described
as follows:
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... to the extent that Northern Badger dealt with priorities in relation to the payment of environmental remediation costs,
it was no longer applicable because subsections 14.06(7) and (8) of the BIA expressly stipulate the ranking of such claims
and provincial legislation cannot reorder BIA priorities: Redwater (ABQB), para 127.

227      As neither subsection 14.06(7) nor 14.06(8) has any application to the provincial regulations at issue here, I do not
find this reasoning compelling in the situation before us. It does not recognize the need to consider the substance of Alberta's
licensing regime. This is not surprising, as the Ontario Court of Appeal was dealing with a situation that was clearly covered
by the BIA provisions, and found that the Ontario Ministry of the Environment had security against the debtor's real property
pursuant to those provisions. The Ontario decision pre-dates Abitibi, but it seems to me that the orders at issue in General
Chemical Canada Ltd., Re would likely have been classified as monetary claims under the test set out in that case. Only those
orders that are monetary claims are captured by s 14.06. Ongoing regulatory obligations remain outside the bankruptcy process
and the reasoning in Northern Badger continues to apply to them.

228      Alberta's regime for regulating the exploration and development of oil and gas resources and ensuring public and
environmental safety during and after the life of a licensed well does not fit comfortably within the language of s 14.06 of the
BIA. It requires a strained interpretation to make it fit. Courts should not have to work so hard to find a conflict. The Supreme
Court has cautioned that conflict between provincial and federal legislation should not be found lightly. Paramountcy must
be narrowly construed, and "conflict" must also be defined narrowly, "so that each level of government may act as freely as
possible within its respective sphere of authority": Husky Oil Operations Ltd..

7. Does Alberta's Regulation Of The Oil And Gas Industry Conflict With The BIA?

229      The ultimate question on the appeal is: does Alberta's regulatory regime conflict with the BIA, in the sense that (i)
it is operationally impossible to comply with both the federal and provincial law, or (ii) the provincial regime frustrates the
purpose of the federal law.

(i) There is no operational conflict between the BIA and the regulatory regime

230      In Moloney, Gascon J, writing for the majority of the court, cited the following description of the first branch of the
paramountcy test, from Multiple Access Ltd. v. McCutcheon, [1982] 2 S.C.R. 161, 138 D.L.R. (3d) 1 (S.C.C.) at para 19 of
his reasons:

In principle, there would seem to be no good reasons to speak of paramountcy and preclusion except where there is actual
conflict in operation as where one enactment says "yes" and the other says "no"; "the same citizens are being told to do
inconsistent things"; compliance with one is defiance of the other. (Emphasis of Gascon J.)

231      Gascon J further described the test as being whether "both laws 'can operate side by side without conflict', ... or whether
both 'laws can apply concurrently, and citizens can comply with either of them without violating the other'": para 19. He rejected
the suggestion that there must be a conflict in the literal meaning of the words of the provisions at issue, instead preferring
to look at "a proper reading of the provisions based on the modern approach to statutory interpretation" and asking whether
this reading "led to the conclusion that the provincial and federal laws could operate side by side without conflict": para 23. In
Moloney itself, the majority found an operational conflict because the provincial scheme was read as compelling payment of a
provable claim that had been released, in direct contradiction with s 178(2) of the BIA.

232      The only operational conflict said to arise here is between s 14.06(4) of the BIA and the definition of "licensee" under the
OGCA and the Pipeline Act, which explicitly includes trustees. This conflict, as described in the respondents' arguments and the
decision of the chambers judge, is premised on the entitlement of the Trustee to abandon or renounce some of Redwater's assets,
said to be granted by s 14.06(4) of the BIA. The respondents say that the entitlement to renounce granted by the BIA includes
the entitlement to renounce the corresponding end of life obligations associated with the renounced assets. The AER, they
say, seeks to prevent the Trustee from renouncing those assets and the corresponding obligations by relying on the definition
of licensee under the provincial legislation. They say the Trustee cannot be forced to comply with obligations imposed by
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provincial statute when it has renounced those obligations pursuant to the federal statute. The chambers judge concluded that
there was an operational conflict, on the basis of this reasoning.

233      The foundation for this conclusion falls completely away, of course, if s 14.06(4) does not grant a right to renounce
the end of life obligations imposed by the regulatory regime. I have concluded that, on a proper interpretation of s. 14.06(4),
it does not apply in this situation to permit the trustee to renounce those obligations. The BIA does not, therefore, release the
Trustee from its ongoing regulatory obligations with respect to Redwater's licensed assets. If there is no entitlement to renounce
the obligations under the BIA, there is no operational conflict in enforcing those obligations under the provincial regulatory
regime. There is nothing in the BIA that prevents the trustee, or any licensee, from complying with the requirements of the
provincial legislation.

234      Conflict is a high standard and should not be easily inferred, created or satisfied. Conflict requires actual inconsistency,
like in Moloney where the province sought to enforce a debt that was discharged and forgiven under the federal BIA. For about
twenty-five years, before this constitutional challenge, the AER and trustees worked together to comply with the end of life
licence conditions, while maximizing recovery for the creditors. This co-operation ended when the AER communicated changes
in how it would exercise its discretion to permit or disallow licence transfers. While bankrupt licensees were certainly not
targeted specifically, and trustees enjoy personal immunity, the trustees determined they could no longer work within the new
rules. I do not say that because provincial licences have co-existed with federal legislation for many years that this precludes a
finding that they are in operational conflict. What is relevant is not the mere passage of time, but the substance of the legislation.
The fact that for over two decades trustees in bankruptcy have been able to discharge their mandates while also respecting the
terms of the provincial oil and gas licences acquired through the estate suggests that these federal and provincial obligations
are, in the language of paramountcy, not mutually exclusive. End of life obligations and bankruptcy have lived and operated
together and their concurrent application has not then, and does not now, produce any genuine inconsistency.

(ii) The regulatory regime does not frustrate the purposes of the BIA

235      In my view, the regulatory regime also does not frustrate the purpose of the BIA. As was discussed earlier, the
relevant bankruptcy purpose for this analysis is the equitable distribution of assets among creditors. It will be recalled that this
purpose is achieved by requiring creditors wishing to enforce a claim provable in bankruptcy to participate in one collective
proceeding: Moloney at para 34. There is frustration of purpose where the effect of a provincial law is to conflict with or alter
the priorities established by the BIA; where the provincial law purports to give priority to one provable claim over others: Husky
Oil Operations Ltd. at para 40.

236      In Northern Badger, this Court considered the substance of Alberta's regulatory regime for oil and gas development,
and found that it did not involve a reordering of bankruptcy priorities, and did not conflict with the BIA. Chief Justice Laycraft
set out the issue as follows, at para 45:

What was further contended is that the receiver or trustee in bankruptcy is unable to obey the general law enacted by the
provincial legislature to govern oil wells because to do so would subvert the scheme Parliament has devised for distribution
of assets in a bankruptcy.

237      The Chief Justice rejected this argument, concluding at para 63:

In my view, there is no such direct conflict in this case. The Alberta legislation regulating oil and gas wells in this province
is a statute of general application within a valid provincial power. It is general law regulating the operation of oil and gas
wells, and safe practices relating to them, for the protection of the public. It is not aimed at subversion of the scheme of
distribution under the Bankruptcy Act though it may incidentally affect that distribution in some cases. It does so, not by
a direct conflict in operation, but because compliance by the Receiver with the general law means that less money will
be available for distribution.

(Emphasis added)
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238      A consideration of Alberta's oil and gas regulatory regime in its current form leads me to the same conclusion.

239      The cost of abandoning licensed wells and reclaiming well sites is an ongoing regulatory obligation and an inherent part
of the licensed asset, well known and understood by the debtor licensee and the licensee's lenders. The record makes clear that
it was well understood by the respondent ATB, the primary lender here. The end of life obligations associated with licensed
assets, being compliance costs to generally applicable laws, are factored in to the lender's risk assessment and its decision to
lend on the strength of the debtor's collateral.

240      The continued application of the regulatory regime following bankruptcy does not determine or reorder priorities among
creditors, but rather values accurately the assets available for distribution. The value of the debtor's estate must take into account
the end of life obligations associated with the licences that form a part of that estate. If this means that, in the end, there is less
value available for distribution to the creditors, that is part of the bankruptcy scheme and the risk that the creditor takes when
lending on the basis of the debtor's assets, with their associated obligations.

241      It is a fundamental principle of bankruptcy law that "creditors should not gain on bankruptcy any greater access to their
debtors' assets than they possessed prior to bankruptcy": Ramgotra (Trustee of) v. North American Life Assurance Co., [1996]
1 S.C.R. 325, [1996] 3 W.W.R. 457 (S.C.C.) at para 18. An approach to the issues raised in this appeal that does not include
sufficient consideration of the nature of the regulatory regime risks contravention of that principle. The regulatory regime, prior
to bankruptcy, contemplates that the value of all a licensee's licensed assets will be available to satisfy all end of life obligations.
This is the basis of the LLR program, and that regulatory approach is factored into decisions regarding, for example, the approval
of licence transfers, a licensee's entitlement to additional licences, and the amount of security the licensee will be required to post
upon licence transfer. The licensee's lenders are aware of the system. The occurrence of a bankruptcy should not enable lenders
to avoid the system and access the value of specific licensed assets while ignoring the corresponding end of life obligations.

242      The LLR program, as part of the regulatory scheme, continues to apply following bankruptcy and applies, specifically,
to any proposed licence transfers. Compliance with that program may affect the value of individual assets, but it does not alter
priorities among creditors. The Trustee, by attempting to avoid its regulatory obligations, seeks to increase the value of the
estate above what it would have been but for the bankruptcy. As in Northern Badger, compliance by the trustee with the law,
through the posting of security upon licence transfer in accordance with the LLR program, may affect the overall value of the
estate and therefore the amount of money available for distribution, but it does alter the priority of claims.

243      The Alberta legislation operates to manage the exploration and exploitation of a largely public resource, and ensure public
and environmental safety in the development of that resource. These are fundamentally provincial concerns. The legislation
does not seek to reorder priorities on bankruptcy, nor, in my view, is that its effect. This is not the sort of "clear conflict" required
to declare a provincial law to be inapplicable in bankruptcy: Husky Oil Operations Ltd. at para 37. Constitutionality is to be
presumed, and the provincial and federal legislation should be read harmoniously together if it is possible to do so. That is what
this court did in Northern Badger, and I would do the same here.

244      The appellants argue that if Redwater can shed its end of life obligations, this would provide an incentive for many
other similarly situated enterprises to organize their affairs to do the same, resulting in even more orphaned wells. They have
a point, as the ability to avoid end of life obligations will not arise only on bankruptcy, but under the CCAA as well. This may
encourage licensees to place wells with significant end of life expenses into one entity and separate that entity from other, more
profitable, holdings. If that entity goes bankrupt or is re-organized, there is the fear that these public duties would be washed
away from the entity and placed instead on others. There is unfairness if the entity is permitted to reserve and preserve any
"assets" for itself and to avoid the costs of the public obligations assumed to gain access to the resource in the first place. The
respondent and bankruptcy professionals before this Court argued that this fear is exaggerated. With respect, it is difficult to
share their optimism. It is more realistic to assume that individuals will operate as rational economic actors who organize their
affairs to maximize their own self-interest, within the limits allowed by law. If they are allowed to avoid or evade the end of
life responsibilities attached to their licences, abandonment and reclamation, so necessary for the environment, would likely be
among the first sacrifices made in times of fiscal difficulty.
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8. Conclusion

245      For the foregoing reasons, I would allow the appeal.
Appeals dismissed.

Footnotes

1 The Receiver calculated the actual deficit as being much more than that. It estimated that the non-producing wells have no value,
and the abandonment costs likely exceed the estimates.

2 The record does not disclose whether any "contiguous" properties are in issue in this case. The argument that "contiguous" means "all
assets of the same type" seems implausible. In any event this issue was not fully argued in these appeals, and need not be discussed
further.

3 If a trustee spent such funds to avoid engaging in "gross negligence or wilful misconduct" the question would arise whether those
are costs of administration, an issue that need not be decided in these reasons.

4 One example of an environmental claim that would survive the bankruptcy is the inchoate environmental obligations that are inherent
in the 20 Redwater producing wells that the Trustee proposes to sell. See supra, para. 18.

5 Ruth Sullivan, Sullivan on the Construction of Statutes, 6 th  ed (2014, LexisNexis) at 404, citing Greenshields v. R., [1958] S.C.R.
216 (S.C.C.) at 225
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Definitions 
1(1)   In this Regulation, 

 (a) “Act” means the Oil and Gas Conservation Act; 

 (b) “Association” means the Alberta Oil and Gas Orphan 
Abandonment and Reclamation Association; 

 (c) repealed AR 89/2013 s21; 

 (d) “facility” has the same meaning as set out in section 68(d) 
of the Act; 

 (e) “facility site” has the same meaning as set out in section 
68(e) of the Act; 

 (e.1) “mineral” means a mineral as defined in the Mines and 
Minerals Act; 

 (f) “Minister” means the Minister of Energy; 
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 (g) “orphan fund” means the orphan fund continued under 
section 69(1) of the Act; 

 (g.1) “Regulator” means the Alberta Energy Regulator; 

 (g.2) “third party account” means any amount of money 
payable but not yet paid by a person other than the 
Association related to a well, facility, well site or facility 
site; 

 (h) “well site” has the same meaning as set out in section 
68(h) of the Act. 

(2)  For the purposes of sections 11(2.1) and 12(2.1) of the Act, 

 (a) “holder of the mineral rights” means a person to whom the 
owner of mineral rights has given the right to win, work 
and recover a mineral pursuant to an agreement; 

 (b) “person who has the right to win, work and recover a 
mineral” means a person to whom the holder of mineral 
rights has given the right to win, work and recover a 
mineral.   

AR 45/2001 s1;251/2001;254/2007;89/2013;88/2020 

Establishment of delegated authority 
2   The Alberta Oil and Gas Orphan Abandonment and 
Reclamation Association incorporated under the Societies Act is 
hereby designated as a delegated authority for the purposes of Part 
11 of the Act. 

AR 45/2001 s2;251/2001 

Delegation 
3(1)  The following powers, duties and functions of the Regulator 
are delegated to the Association: 

 (a) all of the powers, duties and functions of the Regulator for 
the purpose of administering the payment of money for 
the purposes set out in section 70(1) of the Act;  

 (b) the powers, duties and functions of the Regulator under 
sections 28(b), 41, 102(1), 104(1)(b) and (2)(b) and 106.1 
of the Act and, for the purposes of the enforcement of an 
order made by the Regulator, section 105(1)(a), (c), (d) 
and (e) and (3) of the Act, subject to the following terms 
and conditions: 

 (i) the Association shall act under section 28(b) of the 
Act and, for the purposes of the enforcement of an 
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order made by the Regulator, section 105(1)(a), (c), 
(d) and (e) and (3) of the Act, in accordance with the 
overriding direction and authorization of the 
Regulator; 

 (ii) the powers, duties and functions of the Regulator 
under sections 41, 102(1), 104(1)(b) and (2)(b) and 
106.1 of the Act and, for the purposes of the 
enforcement of an order made by the Regulator, 
section 105(1)(a), (c), (d) and (e) and (3) of the Act 
may be exercised and carried out only in relation to 
suspension, abandonment, remediation and 
reclamation in respect of orphan wells, facilities, well 
sites and facility sites, and only in relation to 
providing reasonable care and measures to prevent 
impairment or damage in respect of wells, facilities, 
well sites and facility sites; 

 (iii) the powers, duties and functions of the Regulator 
under section 105(1)(a) and (c) and (3) of the Act for 
the purposes of the enforcement of an order made by 
the Regulator must be exercised and carried out in 
accordance with section 5.3(3) to (8) of this 
Regulation; 

 (iv) where the Association receives money on a sale or 
disposal carried out under section 41 or 102(1) of the 
Act, it shall apply the money to the payment of the 
suspension costs, abandonment costs, remediation 
costs and reclamation costs it has incurred, and shall 
pay any amount remaining to the Regulator to be 
dealt with under section 102(3) of the Act; 

 (v) where the Association receives money on the 
disposition of an escaped substance under section 
104(2)(b) of the Act, it shall, after applying the 
proceeds to pay its costs and expenses, pay any 
amount remaining to the Regulator. 

(2)  In exercising and carrying out the powers, duties and functions 
delegated to it under subsection (1), the Association shall act in 
accordance with 

 (a) the Act, regulations, rules and any other applicable law, 

 (b) applicable requirements, guidelines, directions and orders 
of the Regulator, and 

 (c) generally accepted engineering and operating practices. 
AR 45/2001 s3;251/2001;35/2007;89/2013;88/2020 
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Agreements 
4(1)   The Association may enter into agreements with the 
Regulator, the Crown in right of Alberta, the Crown in right of 
Canada or any person for any reason related to 

 (a) exercising and carrying out its delegated powers, duties 
and functions, 

 (b) taking over management and control of a well, facility, 
well site or facility site, or 

 (c) carrying out any order or direction of the Regulator. 

(2)  For greater certainty, each of the following agreements 
constitutes an agreement under subsection (1) if it relates to a 
purpose set out in subsection (1)(a) to (c): 

 (a) a loan or other borrowing agreement entered into for the 
purposes of carrying out the Association’s delegated 
powers, duties and functions; 

 (b) an agreement with working interest participants for the 
purpose of suspension, abandonment, remediation or 
reclamation of a well, facility, well site or facility site; 

 (c) an agreement to pay the costs of a receiver, 
receiver-manager, trustee or liquidator; 

 (d) an agreement to purchase, lease or obtain access to lands 
for the purposes of suspension, abandonment, remediation 
or reclamation of a well, facility, well site or facility site; 

 (e) an agreement providing a reasonable likelihood of 
reducing the number of, or preventing the occurrence of, 
orphan wells, facilities, well sites or facility sites. 

AR 45/2001 s4;89/2013;105/2017;88/2020 

Powers and duties re funds 
5(1)  The Association may 

 (a) collect money paid pursuant to agreements referred to in 
section 4; 

 (a.1) collect revenue generated through the lawful operation by 
the Association of wells, facilities, well sites or facility 
sites; 

 (b) charge fees for services provided by the Association in 
exercising and carrying out its delegated powers, duties 
and functions; 
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 (c) receive gifts, donations, grants and bequests made to the 
Association. 

(2)  Investment income earned on money and gifts collected by the 
Association accrues to and forms part of the funds of the 
Association. 

(3)  The Association may use the funds collected by or paid to the 
Association under this Regulation only 

 (a) to exercise and carry out its delegated powers, duties and 
functions, 

 (b) fund its obligations under agreements referred to in 
section 4, or 

 (c) to conduct work for any purpose for which the orphan 
fund may be used under section 70 of the Act, where the 
work is ordered or directed by the Regulator. 

(4)  Salaries, fees, costs and liabilities incurred in the 
administration of the Association and the exercising and carrying 
out of its delegated powers, duties and functions under this 
Regulation are to be paid out of the funds collected by or paid to 
the Association under this Regulation. 

AR 45/2001 s5;88/2020 

Purposes for which orphan fund may be used 
5.1   The following are prescribed as purposes for which the 
orphan fund may be used: 

 (a) to pay the payments set out in section 5.3(2); 

 (b) to pay for obligations of the Association under agreements 
referred to in section 4; 

 (c) to pay for a third party account, where approved by the 
Regulator after the Regulator has determined that payment 
of the third party account is in the public interest; 

 (d) to pay for suspension, abandonment, remediation or 
reclamation work done by or on behalf of the Regulator. 

AR 88/2020 s6 

Payment, application of orphan fund money 
5.2   Payments set out in section 5.3(2) made by the Association 
from the orphan fund must be made from the date that the 
Association begins to undertake production at a well or facility 
under section 11(2) or 12(1) of the Act. 

AR 88/2020 s6 
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Management and operation of wells or facilities 
5.3(1)  In this section, “management and operation” in the context 
of a well or facility includes any related activities on the well site 
or facility site and any related activities in respect of associated 
equipment and non-licensed facilities that occur while the well or 
facility is operating. 

(2)  The following payments associated with the management and 
operation of a well or facility are costs and expenses arising out of 
the management and operation of a well or facility under section 
105(5) of the Act: 

 (a) payment of royalty compensation, deposits or other 
consideration payable to the owner in respect of the 
royalty share on the minerals recovered from a well by the 
Association; 

 (b) payment of royalty compensation or other consideration 
payable to the owner in respect of the royalty share on any 
product obtained from   

 (i) the mineral recovered from a well by the 
Association, or 

 (ii) a royalty share of the mineral recovered from a well 
by the Association; 

 (c) payment of municipal taxes, other than third party 
accounts, imposed under Part 10 of the Municipal 
Government Act in respect of a well, facility, well site or 
facility site; 

 (d) payments, other than third party accounts, pursuant to a 
private surface agreement that applies to the well site or 
facility site; 

 (e) payment of entry fees, other than third party accounts, 
under section 19 of the Surface Rights Act, in the 
circumstances set out in section 12(1), 13(1) or 13.2 of 
that Act; 

 (f) payment of compensation, other than third party accounts, 
pursuant to a compensation order under the Surface Rights 
Act naming the Association; 

 (g) payments in respect of  

 (i) a mineral surface lease on which a producing well is 
located or a disposition on which a facility connected 
with production activity is located, or  
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 (ii) any licence of occupation, pipeline agreement, 
pipeline installation lease or other type of disposition  

  associated with a well or facility in respect of which the 
Association has been ordered or directed to provide 
reasonable care and measures to prevent impairment or 
damage; 

 (h) payment of compensation, remuneration and other 
amounts for any steps taken or for employing any person 
the Association considers necessary under section 
105(1)(a) of the Act for the purposes of the enforcement 
of an order made by the Regulator under section 26.2 of 
the Act or section 22.1 of the Pipeline Act; 

 (i) payment of interest, other than third party accounts, under 
the Mines and Minerals Act or pursuant to an agreement 
with an owner in respect of payments referred to in 
clauses (a) and (b); 

 (j) payment of penalties imposed by a bylaw of a council 
under sections 344 and 345 of the Municipal Government 
Act in respect of payments referred to in clause (c); 

 (k) payment of interest, other than third party accounts, under 
the Surface Rights Act in respect of payments referred to 
in clauses (e) and (f). 

(3)  On taking over management and control of a well or facility 
under section 105(1)(c) of the Act for the purposes of the 
enforcement of an order made by the Regulator under section 26.2 
of the Act, the Association shall not undertake production at the 
well or facility unless the Association makes all applicable 
payments set out in subsection (2) as they become payable in 
respect of the well or facility. 

(4)  On taking over management and control of a well or facility 
under section 105(1)(c) of the Act for the purposes of the 
enforcement of an order made by the Regulator under section 26.2 
of the Act, the Association may manage and operate the well or 
facility for a period ending not later than March 31 of the second 
full fiscal year of the Association after the order is issued. 

(5)  Despite subsection (4), the Regulator may authorize the 
Association to manage and operate a well or facility in the 
circumstances referred to in subsection (3) for a period of up to 12 
months after the expiry of the time period referred to in subsection 
(4). 

(6)  Where the Association takes over management and control of a 
well or facility under section 105(1)(c) of the Act for the purposes 
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of the enforcement of an order made by the Regulator under section 
26.2 of the Act or section 22.1 of the Pipeline Act, any 
management and operations undertaken on the direction or with the 
consent of the Regulator under section 11 or 12 of the Act or 
section 16 of the Pipeline Act must be conducted in good faith and 
in a commercially reasonable manner. 

(7)  For greater certainty, where the Association takes over the 
management and control of a well or facility under section 
105(1)(c) of the Act for the purposes of the enforcement of an order 
made by the Regulator under section 26.2 of the Act, proceeds 
from the sale of oil, gas, crude bitumen, water or any other 
substance produced at the well or handled at the facility shall be 
applied in accordance with section 105(5)(a) of the Act, and any 
amount remaining shall be paid to the Regulator to be applied 
under section 105(5)(b) and (c) of the Act. 

(8)  For greater certainty, the proceeds referred to in subsection (7) 
are part of the orphan fund until they are paid to the Regulator. 

AR 88/2020 s6 

Business plan and reporting 
6(1)  The Association shall 

 (a) not less than 90 days before the start of each fiscal year, 
commencing with the 2002-03 fiscal year, provide to the 
Regulator a business plan that 

 (i) indicates the Association’s goals, strategies and 
performance measures, and 

 (ii) contains a budget for each of the upcoming 3 fiscal 
years, 

 (b) not more than 6 months after the end of each fiscal year, 
commencing with the 2001-02 fiscal year, provide to the 
Regulator an annual report summarizing the activities of 
the Association and containing the audited financial 
statements of the Association for the fiscal year, and 

 (c) provide records and information, audits, reviews or 
reports prepared for or by the Association to the Regulator 
on request. 

(2)  Repealed AR 67/2006 s2. 

(3)  The remuneration and benefits that were paid or provided to 
the following persons during the fiscal year must be reported in the 
financial statements or as a note or schedule to the financial 
statements: 
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 (a) all members of the board of directors of the Association; 

 (b) all management personnel of the Association who report 
directly to one or more of the members of the board of 
directors. 

(4)  The remuneration and benefits must be reported 

 (a) on an individual basis by name in the case of persons 
referred to in subsection (3)(a), and 

 (b) on an aggregate basis in the case of the persons referred to 
in subsection (3)(b). 

(5)  The Regulator is authorized to disclose personal information 
reported under this section, and this section constitutes an 
authorization for the purposes of section 40(1)(f) of the Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 

AR 45/2001 s6;238/2001;251/2001;67/2006;89/2013 

Transfer of funds to Association 
7(1)  As soon as possible after the coming into force of this 
Regulation, the Regulator shall, on application by the Association, 
pay to the Association the net assets held by the Regulator to the 
account of the orphan fund. 

(2)  On application by the Association, the Regulator shall make 
ongoing payments from the orphan fund to the Association to 
enable it to exercise and carry out its delegated powers, duties and 
functions under this Regulation. 

(3)  The amounts and frequency of the ongoing payments must be 
based on the Association’s needs as set out in its most recent 
business plan, and the Regulator shall at the end of each fiscal year 
pay to the Association the net assets then in the orphan fund. 

(4)  An application under this section must be in a form acceptable 
to and contain the information required by the Regulator. 

(5)  The Regulator may, with respect to payments from the orphan 
fund under this section, 

 (a) enter into agreements with the Association, and 

 (b) make the payments subject to any terms and conditions 
the Regulator considers appropriate including, without 
limitation, terms and conditions under which all or part of 
the money must be repaid to the Regulator. 

AR 45/2001 s7;89/2013 
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Audit, inspection, Schedule 10 of  
Government Organization Act 

7.1   In regard to the delegation of authority to the Association 
under the Act, section 9 of Schedule 10 to the Government 
Organization Act applies with the following modifications: 

 (a) a reference to “this Schedule and the regulations and rules 
under it” is to be read as a reference to “the Oil and Gas 
Conservation Act and the regulations and rules under that 
Act”; 

 (b) a reference to “Minister or a person designated by the 
Minister” is to be read as a reference to “Alberta Energy 
Regulator”;  

 (c) a reference to “Minister or designated person” is to be 
read as a reference to “Alberta Energy Regulator”;  

 (d) a reference to “Minister” is to be read as a reference to 
“Alberta Energy Regulator”; 

 (e) a reference to “Crown” is to be read as a reference to 
“Alberta Energy Regulator”. 

AR 88/2020 s7 

By-laws 
8   The Association may make by-laws generally respecting the 
exercising and carrying out of its delegated powers, duties and 
functions under this Regulation. 

Limitation of liability 
9(1)  No action or proceeding may be brought against 

 (a) the Association, 

 (b) the Association’s employees, agents, directors or officers, 
or 

 (c) a member of a committee 

in respect of anything done, not done or purported to be done in 
good faith when they are carrying out any order or direction of the 
Regulator, exercising and carrying out delegated powers, duties and 
functions or taking over management and control of a well, facility, 
well site or facility site. 

(2)  The Association and its directors, officers, employees and 
agents are not liable for any damage caused by any information, 
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advice or recommendation given or made in good faith to the 
Regulator. 

AR 45/2001 s9;238/2001;89/2013;88/2020 

10   Repealed AR 67/2006 s2. 

11   Repealed AR 88/2020 s9. 
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January 31, 2019 

 
The Orphan Well Association is encouraged by the decision from the Supreme Court of Canada. The 
OWA is currently reviewing the decision to understand the impact it will have on our organization. 
This decision has potential impacts to not only the OWA but to the regulatory and financial 
community as well as oil and gas producers and will take time for those involved to determine next 
steps. 
 
The OWA remains dedicated to reducing our current inventory of sites to be decommissioned and 
reclaimed. We have a multi-year plan in place that focuses on ensuring public safety and addressing 
environmental concerns.  
 
We have been scaling up our decommissioning and reclamation program over the last year as a result 
of the increase in Industry funding through the annual Orphan Levy as well as the loan from the 
Alberta Government. We expect to decommission (abandon) over 700 wells in our current fiscal year. 
This is a three-fold increase in activity compared to last year and we plan to increase our activity in 
2019 as well. We have also been able to improve our cost efficiencies during this increase in activity 
allowing us to address more sites this year than we had originally planned. 
 
This problem has developed over several years and it will take several years to address. The vast 
majority of sites in our inventory are considered low risk and therefore do not require immediate 
closure. 
 
 
 

  

Orphan Well Association  
Media Release 

Supreme Court of Canada Decision on Redwater Energy Appeal 



Background Information on the OWA 
 

• The Orphan Well Association (OWA) is an independent, not for profit organization operating under the 
delegated authority of the Alberta Energy Regulator (AER).  
o The OWA operates financially and legally separate from the AER 
o Individual properties, wells, pipeline segments, facilities and associated sites are designated as 

orphans by the AER. 
 
• The OWA’s mandate is to manage the decommissioning (abandonment) of upstream oil and gas 

“orphan” wells, pipelines, facilities and the remediation and reclamation of their associated sites.   
o An orphan is a well, pipeline, facility or associated site which does not have any legally 

responsible or financially able party to deal with its decommissioning (abandonment) and 
reclamation obligations. 

 
• The OWA operates under the direction of a Board of Directors comprised of representatives from 

industry - Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers (CAPP) and The Explorers and Producers 
Association of Canada (EPAC), and the provincial government - the AER and Alberta Environment and 
Parks (AEP). 

 
• The OWA is a result of forward thinking by government to provide legislation to establish a program 

to address orphan wells; and industry’s willingness to contribute funding to a solution through 
payment of an annual Orphan Fund Levy.   

 
• The OWA program provides a financial safety net and protects taxpayers from any financial liability 

resulting from orphan wells in Alberta. 
 
• The upstream oil and gas industry, through the Orphan Fund Levy, is the main funding source for the 

work done by the OWA 
o This levy is based on the decommissioning (abandonment) and reclamation liabilities held by 

each company and it is collected by the AER and then remitted to the OWA. 
o The 2018 Orphan Levy in was $45 million bringing Industry’s contribution to $314 million 

over the last 20 years. The Orphan Levy for 2019 will be $60 million. 
o In December 2017, the Alberta Government provided a loan to the OWA of $235 million. The 

loan was a result of a $30 million grant the province received from the Federal Government.  The 
loan will be repaid by the OWA through the annual Orphan Fund Levy starting in 2019. 

 
• The goals of the OWA are safety, environmental protection, compliance with government 

regulations, efficient operations and on-going communication with stakeholders. 
 

• There has been an increase in the number of Orphans due to the sustained period of low 
commodity prices and the ability of Receivers to disclaim assets. The historical inventory is provided 
below. 

 
Date Wells for Abandonment Wells for Reclamation 

31-Mar-13 74 387 
31-Mar-14 162 416 
31-Mar-15 705 451 
31-Mar-16 768 540 
31-Mar-17 1,391 683 
31-Mar-18 1,778 1,085 
 



• For the 2018 fiscal year the OWA has accomplished the following work to date (reminder – year end 
is March 31, 2019) 

o 501 wells decommissioned (abandoned) 
o 382 wells downhole decommissioned (abandoned) and waiting on cut and cap of 

wellhead only. 
 
• Not every site licensed to a Defunct company is the responsibility of the OWA to undertake the 

decommissioning and reclamation work. If there is a working interest participant (WIP) in the 
property, the WIP is responsible to conduct this work and not the OWA. The AER ensures that these 
other WIPs undertake the necessary decommissioning and reclamation work.  

o The WIP may apply to the AER and the OWA for reimbursement of the defunct 
company’s portion of reasonable costs after the work has been completed. 

 
• The OWA has a well-defined risk assessment and work prioritization process to determine annual 

priorities including: 
o Ensuring public safety  
o Addressing environmental concerns with consideration for various stakeholders including 

landowners 
o Maximizing operational efficiency by conducting our work within a specific area or region 

 
• There are tens of thousands of inactive wells in Alberta 

o Wells that have been inactive for more than 12 months should be suspended in a manner that 
meets regulatory requirements. 

o If the well has a legally responsible and financially viable party, this party is responsible for 
suspending or abandoning the well. 
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The Orphan Well Association began as an innovative collaboration among 

the Alberta Government, provincial regulators and the oil and gas industry 

to work toward a common goal: protecting public safety and managing the 

environmental risks of oil and gas properties that do not have a legally or 

financially responsible party that can be held to account. These properties 

are known as “orphans.”

The mandate of the OWA is to safely decommission orphan oil and gas wells, 

pipelines and production facilities, and restore the land similar to its original 

state. Since its formation in 2002, the OWA has successfully decommissioned 

approximately 3,100 orphan wells, with 940 sites reclaimed.

Our Vision  
and Mandate

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements based on current expectations, estimates, projections and assumptions, 
and certain operating and financial measures. By the nature of its mandate and work, there are potential impacts to the 
organization’s future operations and related finances that the OWA cannot predict. Where expressed, forward-looking statements 
are provided in the interest of context that stakeholders may find useful. The OWA fiscal year is from April 1 to March 31. For this 
annual report, years are referenced as the first year; that is, 2019 refers to April 1, 2019 through March 31, 2020.
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Highlights

Overall funding for the OWA 
decreased in 2019 due to how 
the Government of Alberta loan, 
announced in 2017 and provided 
over three years, is structured. All 
other funding increased in 2019. 
The OWA increased its operational 
activities and, as a result, the 
orphan well inventory decreased. 
There was also an increased 
number of sites reclaimed and 
closed. The reclamation process 
takes several years as vegetation 
grows and sites become ready 
for the detailed site assessment 
required for a reclamation 
certificate application.
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The Year in Perspective 
Message from the Chair
Investment in the oil and gas industry has long 
been a leading indicator of prosperity for Alberta—
and for all of Canada. The work of the Orphan 
Well Association is, frankly, more often a trailing 
indicator of the health of our provincial and national 
economies and our domestic energy industry. When 
our economic engine begins to slow, we see the 
results in our work.

We have certainly seen in the past five years some 
difficult times for many energy producers. It’s a 
resilient industry, and oil and gas price cycles are 
nothing new, but we have experienced sustained 
low commodity prices over a long period, with 
less access to capital, and some companies have 
struggled to recover. This ultimately led to several 
insolvencies and a significant increase in our orphan 
well inventory in 2018. It was, however, an increase 
for which we were well prepared, with more funding 
from industry and a ramped-up mobilization plan. 
Critically, that accelerated work was supported by a 
repayable loan from the Government of Alberta to 
help cover near to mid-term costs, and a grant from 
the Government of Canada to cover interest charges 
on this loan.

Although 2019 was a strong year for the OWA’s 
results on the ground, the economic context has 
remained difficult for the energy industry for now, 
and likely for the next few years which has a direct 
impact on our plans.

Our last fiscal quarter—January to March of 2020—
saw the Saudi-Russia price war that dragged 
benchmark WTI prices down by half and the Western 
Canada Select benchmark below $5 per barrel. This 
price shock was compounded with the alarming 
spread of the COVID-19 virus. This pandemic has 
had the doubly deleterious effect of throwing 
uncertainty on our planning as we focus on safety 
close to home, as well as the impact of reduced 
energy demand in an over-supplied global market 
in the mid-term. Although the price war looks, 
at the time of this writing, to be heading toward 

resolution, these factors have had the collective 
effect of reducing capital spending plans in the 
energy industry. This, in turn, reduces direct and 
indirect jobs, and may also ultimately impact OWA 
budgets, as we are funded based on a levy on every 
oil and gas producer in Alberta. 

In response to these extraordinary circumstances, 
we have seen extraordinary efforts from the OWA 
management, staff experts and contractors. And 
very importantly, we have seen the governments of 
Alberta and Canada continue to step up to support 
our work. 

In early March of 2020, the Province committed 
$100 million in new, repayable loans to the OWA. 
This available funding is in addition to a staged loan 
of $235 million announced in 2017.

Along with loans, the OWA has also been supported 
by the Government of Alberta’s passage of Bill 12, 
which updates and expands our mandate to better 
manage current challenges as our project closures 
have gone from single digits per year to nearly a 
thousand. The new legislation provides additional 
scope and authority as we work on the operational 
and financial management of sites that range from 
those that are economically viable to those that are 
truly at end of life, often within the same company. 
I believe the new tools and flexibility we have will 
help the OWA team to manage ongoing work safely, 
efficiently and effectively.

In addition to provincial funds and legislative 
support, the federal government has also 
stepped up to support the energy sector with a 
$1.7 billion commitment for decommissioning 
and reclamation, which includes a $200 million 
repayable loan to the OWA. This investment in an 
industry that has invested so much in Canada is 
timely and appreciated by working people in every 
corner of Alberta, not just in the energy industry, 
but in all the businesses, large and small, that 
support our work.
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Message from the Executive Director
Over the past year, the OWA continued to build 
momentum, decommissioning more wells and 
completing more reclamation projects than ever 
before. In 2019, despite receiving a substantial 
number of new orphan wells—more in just one 
year than in 2014 to 2017 combined—we actually 
decreased the overall inventory with a steady and 
strategic approach. With our existing inventory 
of just under 3,000 wells, we decommissioned 
982 wells in 2019—that’s a third of the inventory, 
showing that our organization is more than capable 
of tackling what lies ahead. 

There were several drivers behind our 2019 
performance. Funding from industry sources 
continued to increase, while the loan from the 
Government of Alberta allowed for additional 
activity in the field. With our team’s growing 
expertise and experience, we are collaborating with 
other operators and fine-tuning our processes so 
that, simply put, we are getting the job done better, 
faster and at a lower cost. A substantial part of this 

success can be attributed to an approach that goes 
beyond a well-by-well basis to a regional strategy 
covering multiple wells and facilities known in the 
industry as Area Based Closure. This allows us to 
better leverage industry expertise, local services and 
economies of scale. 

Better and faster can only be celebrated if it can 
also be done safely. One area of concern for me is 
injury incidents, which increased from three to five 
last year. Understanding the critical importance of 
safety, we almost doubled our safety assessments 
in 2019, which we expected to result in decreased 
injury incidents. We are disappointed that, instead, 
the number increased. We are steadfastly focused on 
investigating and reducing that number. 

Taking action to protect the safety of our workers and 
the communities we visit took an unprecedented turn 
with the COVID-19 pandemic in the last quarter of 
our fiscal year. The pandemic began at the tail end of 
our winter operations as we headed into a pause in 

In our current context, we need to manage our 
orphan well inventory, the safety of our workers 
and communities, our shared environment, and 
the very important need to get Albertans working. 
The expanded work of the OWA with industry and 
government support is the very definition of a 
“win-win.” 

Orphan wells that range from nuisances for 
landowners to potential environmental risks will be 
decommissioned at a faster rate and the reclamation 
work advanced, while a significant fiscal stimulus 
will be pumped into communities across the 
province where front-line energy employees live 
and work. 

The same skilled workforce that has driven a very 
professional “business-as-usual” in our industry 
is well prepared to take on “business-as-unusual”. 
Over 2019, we saw steady or increased spending on 
decommissioning, remediation and reclamation in 
most regions of the province and, with additional 

industry and government funding now committed, 
that’s a trend that we expect to continue over time.

On behalf of the operations, safety and 
environment experts who deliver results for the 
Orphan Well Association across Alberta, we thank 
you for your support. With the guidance of the 
OWA’s Board of Directors, the Alberta Energy 
Regulator that oversees our efforts and the industry 
members that share learnings and fund us, we have 
been hard at work.

We have met extraordinary challenges over the past 
year—and we remain strong, capable and ready to 
meet the challenges going forward.

Brad Herald 
Chair, OWA
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our operations when we were waiting for wet spring 
conditions in the field to dry up. This made it easier 
for us to follow the direction of health authorities 
for physical distancing and staying home without 
negatively impacting our performance in the field. The 
downtime was used to modify some of our procedures 
so that when operations can resume, they will be done 
safely. We believe our work is very important, but not 
more important than the health of our contractors and 
the communities where we do business. 

The impact of the pandemic has, of course, also 
been felt economically in Alberta. The OWA will 
continue to support contractors during this trying 
time as we expect to build on a workforce impact 
of close to 1,600 people over the past three years to 
create 500 new direct and indirect jobs. Our annual 
spend with contractors is more than $100 million 
per year and growing across the province from the 
Peace Country and the Athabasca to the Eastern 
Slopes and farming and ranching communities 
across the province.

And, while we lay out plans to move quickly on 
decommissioning and reclamation, we are also 
taking all measures possible to ensure service 
providers are paid quickly to get money into 
local businesses where it means the most. Days 
and weeks count a lot in our current economic 
environment.

Looking ahead, we expect our inventories of orphan 
wells and reclamation sites to grow. At the same 
time, while we’ve resolved many of the easier 
projects in our inventory, we have some tough 

technical work to tackle. We continue to prepare 
to meet this challenge through organizational 
effectiveness and operational excellence. From 
goal setting to keep us striving forward, to end-
of-project reviews so we can learn from ourselves 
and others, we are building our expertise and 
improving the “assembly line” approach to efficient 
decommissioning and reclamation. 

We aren’t alone in this work. We are also learning 
from our colleagues in industry, some of whom 
are global leaders in this type of work. We want to 
ensure we use the best practices to get the most 
bang for our buck. 

We have the experience and know-how built on the 
foundation of a maturing organization to take care 
of what lies ahead. We are ready.

Underpinning all of the OWA’s efforts is our 
relationship with our contractors—nearly 600 large 
and small businesses across Alberta. They are the 
arms and legs of the OWA and critical to how we do 
our job, meet our goals and perform our mandate. I 
would like to thank them for their hard work in 2019 
and look forward to continuing our partnerships. 
2020 may be the most difficult year we face as a 
province and an industry, but we are confident we 
will overcome the challenges ahead. 

Lars De Pauw 
Executive Director
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Sometimes You Need
a Plan ‘Bee’

When Jeff Smitten of JSK Consulting Ltd. and his 
decommissioning crew arrived at the Lockwood 
orphan well site just outside of Wainwright the 
summer of 2019, they expected a typical site walk. 
An above-ground pipeline ran from the orphan 
well into a gas metering shack, where 
the volume of gas going into a larger 
pipeline was tracked. As the team 
approached the wooden shack 
to investigate the work ahead, 
a buzzing sound got louder and 
louder. 

Jeff and his team had stumbled upon 
a colony of about 30,000 honeybees, 
their honeycomb filling the space 
between the inner and outer panels of two 
building walls.

“We talked to the landowner and paused the work 
for a few days to find a beekeeper who could safely 
relocate the hive,” Jeff recalls. “Plus, a member of 
our team was allergic to bees, so we needed to be 
extra careful.”

Jeff came across a couple in the area who were just 
starting out as honey farmers and were looking for 
colonies. Not only are colonies expensive, but the 
previous summer had been a tough one: high winds 
and gusts had pushed some colonies to relocate. 

With Jeff in charge of site safety, the honey 
farmers spent two hours prying apart 

the building walls so they could peel 
and scrape the honeycombs off, using 
special brushes to coax the bees into 
their new temporary home: two bee 
boxes. The key was to make sure the 

queen bee had been transferred to one 
of the boxes. If she was successfully 

moved, then the whole hive—including the 
many free bees buzzing about—would join her 

overnight, transitioning the entire colony. 

Everyone left overnight to wait and see if the bees 
would return to the boxes and call them home. The 
next day, the returning team could see the transition 
had been a success. The beekeepers gathered up 
their boxes, and the decommissioning work began.
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Operational Summary
Since its inception, the OWA has been guided by our belief in a social 

contract, where “good neighbours” in the industry fund the clean-up for 

insolvent companies. Over the past several years, with the increase in our 

inventory, our pace of work has increased substantially, with the curve of 

decommissioned wells increasing with it. 

The OWA is busier than ever, with a record number of projects underway. 

This section is a snapshot of the OWA’s activities in 2019.
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2500

1500

3500

0

up to 2011 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

1000

W
el

ls
 A

ba
n

do
n

ed
 b

y 
O

W
A

500

2000

3000

Year



8 | OWA 2019 Annual Report

Funding the OWA

Overall funding for the OWA decreased 8% to $138.4 
million in 2019, from $149.5 million the year before. 
This is due to the structure of a Government of 
Alberta loan for $235 million, provided from 2017 
to 2020. Interest on this loan is covered by a $30 
million grant from the Government of Canada. All 
other funding increased in 2019.

Typical OWA funding is provided from the Orphan 
Fund Levy, First Time Licensee (FTL) and Regulator 

Directed Transfer (RDT) fees, and interest and 
other sources. 

The related graph shows the Orphan Fund Levy 
decreased in 2017; however, this is not a true 
representation of the trend due to the timing of 
when the funding was received. Historically, the 
financial statements showed a substantial surplus at 
year-end that would be used in the following fiscal 
year. To address this timing issue, starting in 2018, 
the levy was issued in April instead of March. As a 
result, it was accounted for in the 2018 fiscal year, 
causing the funding for fiscal 2017 to appear lower. 

In reality, the Orphan Fund Levy provided to the 
OWA increased 49% to $45.4 million in fiscal 2018, 
from $30.4 million. The levy has continued to 
increase and was issued at $60 million in 2019; 
however, due to the insolvency of some operators, 
$3.4 million was not received and is written down on 
the OWA balance sheet as bad debt.

The Orphan Fund Levy is based on the estimated 
cost of decommissioning1 and reclamation activities 
for the upcoming fiscal year with the goal of 
managing the overall inventory at an acceptable 
pace. The Orphan Fund Levy is set by the AER in 
consultation with the OWA, Canadian Association of 
Petroleum Producers, and Explorers and Producers 
Association of Canada. 

First Time Licensee and Regulator Directed Transfer 
fees increased 9% to $634,000 in 2019, from 
$580,000 the year before. A First Time Licensee fee 
of $10,000 is required by the AER from companies 
applying for eligibility to hold a well, facility or 

Overall funding for the OWA decreased in 2019 due to how the Government of 

Alberta loan, announced in 2017 and provided over three years, is structured. 

All other funding increased in 2019. The OWA increased its operational 

activities and, as a result, the orphan well inventory decreased. There was 

also an increased number of sites reclaimed and closed. The reclamation 

process takes several years as vegetation grows and sites become ready for the 

detailed site assessment required for a reclamation certificate application.

1  The OWA Annual Report uses the term “decommission” to refer to the responsible abandonment of energy infrastructure, in a manner that ensures 
it will not pose a risk to the environment or the public.
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pipeline license. The AER collects Regulator Directed 
Transfer fees from an active company when it 
acquires a property licensed to a defunct company. 
The AER gathers and remits these fees to the OWA.

Funding from interest and other sources increased 
161% to $9.4 million from $3.6 million. This category 
includes salvage sales and deposits held through the 
Alberta Energy Regulator’s (AER) Licensee Liability 
Rating (LLR) Program. 

Salvage sales increased 191% to $2.3 million, 
from $780,000 the year before, due to the OWA’s 
increased capability and focus on selling salvageable 
equipment. LLR funding increased dramatically 
to $3.7 million, from $96,000 the year before, due 
to work the OWA completed that was eligible for 
reimbursement by the AER with deposits held 
on behalf of various defunct companies. The LLR 
program assesses companies’ abilities to address 
their decommissioning and reclamation obligations 
by calculating a ratio of deemed assets (oil and 
natural gas production) to deemed liabilities 
(estimated decommissioning and reclamation 
costs). When companies do not maintain a ratio 
above 1.0, the AER requires a security deposit to 
cover these closure costs in the event the company 
is not able to meet its obligations in the future. 
The AER remits this money to the OWA when 
appropriate, if the company is no longer solvent.

Operating Expenditures
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The OWA’s operating expenditures over the last 
five years are divided by well decommissioning, site 
reclamation, pipeline decommissioning, facility 
decommissioning, and reimbursement for Working 
Interest Partner claims and other costs, including 
reimbursing the AER for decommissioning work 
they performed in 2015. 

Total OWA expenditures increased 13% to $106.6 
million in 2019, from $94.4 million the year before. 
The increase in expenditures over the last two years 
is due in part to OWA receiving the loan advance 
from the Alberta Government, which allowed more 
field work to be conducted. 

Detailed expenditures are:

• well decommissioning increased 1% to $46.2 
million, from $45.9 million the year before. 

• site reclamation increased 17% to $26.9 million, 
from $22.9 million the year before.

• pipeline decommissioning decreased 27% to $7.4 
million, from $10.1 million the year before. 

• facilities decommissioning increased 18% to $12.1 
million, from $10.3 million the year before.

• Working Interest Partner/AER reimbursements 
increased 171% to $14.0 million, from $5.2 million 
the year before. 

Working Interest Partner claims are made by active 
companies when they manage the decommissioning 
and/or reclamation of assets jointly owned with 
defunct partners. In these situations, the active 
company performs a function comparable to the 
OWA to properly decommission and reclaim the 
property. A typical project can take years for a 
company to complete. The OWA reimburses the 
active company for the defunct company’s portion 
of the decommissioning and reclamation activities. 

In fiscal 2019, working interest reimbursements 
were for 218 decommissioned wells, 228 reclaimed 
wellsites, and 9 decommissioned wells and 
reclaimed wellsites.
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Orphan Well Inventory 

The number of orphan wells in the OWA inventory 
to be decommissioned decreased 5% to 2,983 at the 
end of fiscal 2019, from 3,128 wells at the end of fiscal 
2018. The inventory number does not include orphan 
sites where the well has already been decommissioned 
and only requires remediation and reclamation. 

 

The number of new orphan wells received for 
decommissioning from the AER decreased 61% to 
848 in 2019, from 2,170 the year before. In 2018, 
1,033 Lexin Resources Ltd. wells were changed in 
designation from “suspension only” to “orphan,” 
so that they then required decommissioning. There 
were several large insolvency processes that started 
during 2019, and are still underway, that prevented 
the orphan inventory from increasing further. The 
OWA expects that a large number of the assets from 
Trident Exploration and Houston Oil and Gas will 
ultimately be transferred to new responsible parties, 
as opposed to being designated as orphans.

Reclamation Inventory
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The number of sites in the OWA reclamation 
inventory increased 54% to 3,319 at the end of 
fiscal 2019, from 2,151 at the end of fiscal 2018. 
The reclamation inventory counts how many sites 
require reclamation. In many cases, there was more 
than one well on one site.
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The average cost of decommissioning a 
well in 2019 was $29,000, with most in 
the range of $8,500 to $60,000. These 
numbers reflect the sites that were 
addressed by the OWA during the fiscal 
year and may not be representative 
of all sites in the OWA inventory or 
those across the industry. The average 
cost decreased from $34,000 the 
year previous, demonstrating the cost 
benefit of bundling closure projects 
regionally to maximize efficiencies.

The average cost of reclaiming a site 
in 2019 was $25,000, with most in the 
range of $5,000 to $45,000. These 
numbers reflect the sites that were 
addressed by the OWA during the fiscal 
year and may not be representative of 
all sites in the OWA inventory or those 
across the industry. 
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The reclamation inventory increases when the 
OWA receives new sites—designated as orphans 
by the AER—that only require reclamation, and 
when the OWA is finished decommissioning wells, 
facilities and/or associated infrastructure and has 
transferred the sites into its reclamation inventory. 
The inventory decreases when the OWA receives 
reclamation certificates or when it is discovered 
that a site received by the AER requires further 
decommissioning operations. The inventory also 
decreases when a site is transferred to another oil 
and gas company.

Inspections
Inspections are an important activity that ensures 
protection of public safety and the environment. 
Inspection results support the OWA’s risk 
assessment with higher risk sites being prioritized. 
The OWA contacts landowners or surface rights 
holders to notify them about the OWA and the 
orphan well, pipeline, facility or site to confirm land 
access before conducting an inspection.

South of Calgary

Between Calgary
and Red Deer

Between Red Deer
and Edmonton

North of Edmonton

22%

19%

12%46%

In 2019, the OWA completed 1,433 site inspections 
throughout Alberta. 46% of these inspections were 
completed south of Calgary, 12% between Calgary 
and Red Deer, and 19% between Red Deer and 
Edmonton. The remaining 22% of were completed 
north of Edmonton.

The OWA prioritizes the inspection of new sites 
in its inventory to ensure they are appropriately 
risk-assessed and prioritized for public safety 
and environmental protection. Of the 1,433 sites 
inspected in 2019, 91% were on new orphan wells 
that could be assessed with a single site visit with 
no supplemental laboratory testing required. New 
site inspections requiring lab sampling, such as 

those with suspected surface casing vent flow or 
gas migration, accounted for 5% of the inspections 
completed. The remaining 52 site inspections were 
completed on long-term monitoring sites.

OWA SITE INSPECTIONS FOR 2019

Inspections Count
New site inspections, routine 1,302

New site inspections, non-routine* 79

Repeat inspections/monitoring** 52

Total 1,433

*  New Site Inspections, Non-Routine includes sites requiring multiple 
visits and/or lab testing. Included are surface casing vent flow or gas 
migration sites.

**  Repeat Inspections/Monitoring include return visits to confirm well 
repairs or inspection of long-term wells.
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The number of orphan wells decommissioned 
increased 23% to 982 in 2019, from 799 the year 
before. Wells include those decommissioned by the 
OWA and historically by the AER as an enforcement 
action that were subsequently designated as 
orphans. The AER has reduced this type of 
enforcement work and conducted no enforcement 
activities in the last four years. 

A well is considered decommissioned when 
the AER’s requirements in Directive 020: Well 
Abandonment (Directive 020) are satisfied. Once all 
necessary subsurface decommissioning actions are 
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taken, the final step is to cut and cap the well. In 
this stage, the well casing is cut to a minimum of 
one metre below the surface (with some exceptions 
listed in Directive 020) and a vented cap is placed 
atop the well casing. At this point, remediation and/
or reclamation of the site may begin.

Number of Reclamation Certificate 
Applications Submitted
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The number of orphan sites ready for a regulatory 
decision regarding closure is reflected in the 
number of applications submitted for reclamation 
certificates. The number of sites with applications 
submitted for reclamation certificates increased 
63% to 137 in 2019, from 84 the year before. It takes 
years for a site to become suitable for a reclamation 
certificate application, and so this year’s number 
reflects reclamation work performed in the last 
several years.

The time for a site to be ready for a reclamation 
certificate depends on the land use, type of 
vegetation and factors that affect growing 
conditions, such as amount of rainfall. There are 
several stages in the reclamation process, starting 
with an environmental site assessment. In 2020, the 

OWA had over 1,500 sites at the assessment stage. 
This number reflects new inventory plus sites where 
decommissioning has taken place. 

In 2020, there were nearly 850 sites in the final 
stages of reclamation, including vegetation 
monitoring. It can take several years for sites 
to re-vegetate and be ready for the detailed site 
assessment required for a reclamation certificate 
application. The OWA expects to see an increase in 
the reclamation certificates issued next year.

Number of Sites Closed
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The number of sites the OWA closed increased 57% 
to 146 in 2019, from 93 the year before. Reclamation 
certificates peaked in 2016 when the AER introduced 
a new online reclamation certification system. The 
system, OneStop, cleared a backlog of applications, 
with the OWA receiving 89 reclamation certificates 
within a short period of time. 

The increase in the number of reclamation 
certificates in 2019 is due, in part, to sites becoming 
ready for the detailed site assessment required for a 
reclamation certificate application.
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Safety
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Safety Assessments Injury Incidents

With overall operational activity increasing in 2019,  
recordable injuries increased to five, from three the  
year before. The OWA continues to investigate these  
incidents and ways to reduce the number of injury  
incidents in the future. The OWA assesses the safety  
programs of its vendors and conducts site assessments  
to ensure safe practices are followed during operations.  
During 2019, there were a total of 60 safety 
assessments conducted on Prime Contractors. In 
addition to these more formal assessments, the 
OWA conducted 122 safety engagements, where 
a range of activities were undertaken to support 
contractors’ safety performance from safety 
bulletins to in-person dialogue.

The OWA uses the safety benchmark of Total 
Recordable Injury Frequency (TRIF) to measure our 
field safety performance relative to the number of 
hours worked. In 2019 our TRIF was 1.6 based on 
over an estimated 614,108 contractor hours.
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To the Members of  
Alberta Oil and Gas Orphan Abandonment and Reclamation Association 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Alberta Oil and Gas Orphan Abandonment and 
Reclamation Association (“the Association”), which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at March 31, 2020, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the 
financial position of Alberta Oil and Gas Orphan Abandonment and Reclamation Association as at 
March 31, 2020, and its results of operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.  

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Association in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements   
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Association’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the association’s financial reporting 
process.  

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Association’s internal control.    

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the association to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.   

 

Calgary, Canada          
June 10, 2020 Chartered Professional Accountants                                                    
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Financial Position 
As at March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

            2020             2019

Assets 
Current assets 
 Cash $ 11,820 $ 5,525
       Accounts receivable from the AER 609 1,928

GST receivable (Note 4) 443 718
Prepaid expense and other receivables 

   Short term investments (Note 5)  
1,174

88,500
659

94,000

102,546 102,830

Tangible capital assets (Note 6) 12 36

$ 102,558 $ 102,866

Liabilities and net assets 
Current liabilities 

  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Current portion of long term note payable (Note 7) 

9,167
30,198 

  12,304
18,056

39,365 30,360

Long term note payable (Note 7)  144,957 110,770

Deferred contribution (Note 7) 19,234 15,619

Internally restricted assets (Note 8) 516 506

Unrestricted net assets (101,514) (54,389)

(100,998) (53,883)

$ 102,558 $ 102,866

Commitment (Note 15) 
Subsequent events (Note 16) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

Approved by the Board: 

Director 

Director 

Financial Statements
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Operations 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

2020 2019

Revenues 
Orphan fund levy through the AER 60,345 45,379
Interest income (Note 7) 8,306 5,869
Industry enforcement and licensee liability rating deposit  
    recoveries through the AER 

3,715 96

Salvage sales and rental income 2,400 780
First time licensee fees and regulator directed transfer fees 
    through the AER 694 580

75,460 52,704
Expenditures 

Operating 
Well abandonment  46,247 45,846
Site reclamation 26,871 22,930
Facility decommissioning 12,112 10,286
Pipeline abandonment  7,351 10,121

92,581 89,183
Other 

Working interest claims (Note 9)  12,168 5,181
Fund administration (Note 10) 4,410 4,097

       Interest on long term note payable (Note 7) 5,066 3,177
Bad debt expense (Note 11) 3,353 311
Non-recoverable GST expense (Note 4)  2,347  2,214
AER enforcement activities (Note 13) 1,880 -
Receivership expenses (Note 12)  770 -

29,994 14,980

122,575 104,163

Deficiency of revenues over expenses   $ (47,115) $ (51,459)

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

 Internally 

Restricted Unrestricted 2020 2019 

Balance, beginning of year $ 506 $ (54,389) $ (53,883) $ (2,424) 

Surplus (deficit) 10 (47,125) (47,115) (51,459) 

$ 516 $ (101,514) $ (100,998) $ (53,883) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

2020 2019

Cash provided by (used in) 

Operating 
Deficiency of revenues over expenses   $ (47,115) $ (51,459)
Non-cash items 
       Amortization of tangible capital assets 24 24 
Changes in operating non-cash working capital 

Decrease (increase)  in accounts receivable from the 
AER 1,319 (1,106)

Decrease (increase) in GST receivable 275 (507)
Increase in prepaid expense and other receivables (515) (321)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities  (3,138) 9,110

(49,150) (44,259)

Financing 

Increase in long term note payable  59,319 87,233
Increase in deferred contribution 
Repayment of long term note payable 

   Decrease (increase) in short term investments 

3,616
(12,990)

5,500

 9,589
(2,378)

(94,000)

 55,445 444

Net increase (decrease) in cash 6,295 (43,815)
Cash, beginning of year 5,525 49,340

Cash, end of year $ 11,820 $ 5,525

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

Note 1 Authority and purpose 

The Alberta Oil and Gas Orphan Abandonment and Reclamation Association (OWA or the Association) 
operates under the authority of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, Orphan Fund Delegated Administration 
Regulation, and the Societies Act, Chapter S-18, 1980, as amended.  The OWA was created as a Delegated 
Administration Organization (DAO) under the delegated authority of the Alberta Energy Regulator (AER) and 
was established to manage the abandonment of Alberta’s upstream oil and gas orphan wells, pipelines, 
facilities and the reclamation of associated sites. The OWA does not assume the legal responsibility for 
expenditures related to suspension, abandonment and reclamation of such sites.  The Members of the OWA 
are the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers (CAPP), the Explorers and Producers Association of 
Canada (EPAC), the AER and Alberta Environment and Parks (honorary non-voting Member). 

Note 2 Significant accounting policies 

a) Basis of presentation

The Association’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for not for profit organizations.

b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits held with financial institutions.

c) Revenue recognition

The OWA follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions.  Unrestricted contributions are
recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably
estimated and the collection is reasonably assured.  Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue
in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.

d) Tangible capital assets

Purchased tangible capital assets are recorded at cost . Donated tangible capital assets are recorded at
their fair values at the date of donation. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives as follows:

Computers 3 years 

e) Financial assets and liabilities

Initial measurement: Upon initial measurement, the Association’s financial assets and liabilities are
measured at fair value, which, in the case of financial assets or financial liabilities that will be measured
subsequently at amortized cost, is increased or decreased by the amount of the related financing fees
and transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement: At each reporting date, the Association measures its financial assets and
liabilities at amortized cost (including any impairment in the case of financial assets).
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

Note 2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

The Association records cash, accounts receivable from the AER, other receivables, and accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities at amortized cost. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed for indications of impairment. When there is 
an indication of impairment indicating a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of 
future cash flows from the financial asset, an impairment loss will be recognized in the statement of 
operations. The reversal of a previously recognized impairment loss on a financial asset measured at 
amortized cost is recognized in the statement of operations in the year the reversal occurs. 

f) Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not for
profit organizations, requires management to make estimates and assumptions which affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year.  Due
to the inherent uncertainty involved with making such estimates, actual results reported in future years
could differ from those estimates.

Items subject to significant management estimate include accrued liabilities, amortization of tangible
capital assets and fair value of long term note payable.

g) Not for profit status

The OWA, as a not for profit organization, has no liability for income tax under the Income Tax Act
(Canada).

h) Change in accounting policies

Effective April 1, 2019, the Association adopted the new standards in the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada Handbook, Part III – Accounting for Non-for-Profit organizations Sections 4433
Tangible Capital Assets Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations and 4441 Collections Held by Not-for-Profit
Organizations.

The adoption of Section 4433 – Tangible Capital Assets Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations had no
impact on the Association’s accounting policies with respect to componentization and amortization of
tangible capital assets, as the cost of these assets is not comprised of significant separable component
parts.

Section 4441 – Collections Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations has no material impact for the
Association as it holds no collections.
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

Note 3 Economic dependence and contributions 

The OWA receives substantially all its revenue through the AER.  The AER collects the Orphan fund levy, 
first time licensee fees, regulatory directed transfer fees, enforcement recoveries, and liability licensee rating 
recoveries from industry.  These funds are then contributed directly to the OWA. The annual revenue 
received by the OWA is subject to budget submission to the AER.  

Note 4 GST receivable and non-recoverable GST expense 

During fiscal 2016, the CRA pronounced a new ruling for the OWA which determined that OWA is a GST 
exempt entity for fiscal years ending March 31, 2014-2016. This change in ruling has resulted in a refund of 
GST paid during these years, as reduced by the income tax credits claimed by fifty percent as OWA is a not-
for-profit entity. The net effect for this ruling has resulted in a GST receivable of $443 (2019 - $718) and non-
recoverable GST expense of $2,347 (2019 – $2,214) 

Note 5 Short term investments  

At March 31, 2020, the Association’s investments consisted of Guaranteed Investment Certificates with 
interest rates of 1.5% to 2.5% per annum. The investments mature at various dates from May 2020 to 
January 2021. 

Note 6 Tangible capital assets  

2020 2019

Cost
Accumulated 
amortization

Net book
value

Net book
 value

Computers 72$    60$         12$     36$         

Note 7  Long term note payable 

The OWA entered into a loan agreement with Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Alberta as represented by 
the President of Treasury Board, Minister of Finance and by the Minister of Energy (the Province) under 
which the OWA may borrow money from the Province to a maximum aggregate amount of $235,000. The 
date of last permitted advance is April 1, 2020, with quarterly frequencies at zero percent interest rate on the 
advances. The loan is fair valued at $205,000 with the difference between book value and fair value 
recorded as a deferred contribution and amortized into revenue over the life of the loan. As at March 31, 
2020, advances of $218,000 (2019 $150,000) has been received, of which $19,234 (2019 $15,619) is 
recorded as a deferred contribution, and $5,066 (2019 $3,177) is recorded as interest calculated at an 
annual rate of 3.2% (2019 3.2%). The following is the advance and repayment schedule for the note 
payable. 
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026-2027

Advance schedule 68,000$     17,000$     -$  -$  -$  -$  -$   

Repayment 
Schedule 18,056$   30,198$   30,198$   30,198$   30,198$   30,198$     60,398$   

Note 8  Internally restricted assets  

Included in cash are internally restricted assets in the balance of $516 (2019 $506). The Directors maintain 
sovereignty of the internally restricted fund to be used at the discretion of the Board.  

Note 9  Working interest claims  

The OWA accepts claims as directed from the AER made by industry for defunct working interest partners. 
Working interest partners are any party under a joint operating or other agreement under which the party is 
entitled to a proportionate share of cash flows as well as costs.  If a company has a defunct working interest 
partner with a well, facility or associated site that is deemed orphan by the AER, the OWA will reimburse the 
proportionate share of costs on behalf of the defunct working interest partner of the completed abandonment 
and/or the completed reclamation.  Reclamation is considered completed and reimbursement can be made 
when a reclamation certificate has been issued on the site.  

Note 10 Fund administration 

Fund administration includes salaries and benefits to management of $387 (2019 - $392).  No remuneration 
and benefit payments were made to Board members for 2020 and 2019. 

Note 11 Bad debt expense 

Bad debt expense is directed from the AER based on the uncollected Orphan fund levy. 

Note 12 Receivership expenses 

The Association applies to the Courts to appoint Receivers for various oil and gas companies during the 
year as no other party came forward to do so when these organizations ceased operations.  Appointing a 
Receiver will ensure that the various assets are managed and maintained safely for the benefit of the public, 
and where possible, placed in the hands of responsible operators through various sales processes. 

Note 13 AER enforcement activities 

AER enforcement activities expenditures are amounts paid to the AER for third party abandonment 
expenditures on wells, pipelines and facilities incurred by the AER during their enforcement actions against 
liable parties.  In cases when the wells, pipelines or facilities are subsequently deemed orphan by the AER, 
the OWA will reimburse the AER for these expenditures. 
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

Note 14  Financial instruments 

The Association’s main financial risk exposure is detailed as follows: 

(i) Credit risk

The Association is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will fail to perform an
obligation or settle a liability, resulting in a financial loss to the Association. The Association’s accounts
receivable is primarily due from AER and are subject to normal credit terms. The maximum credit risk
exposure associated with the Association’s financial assets is the carrying amount.

(ii) Liquidity risk

The Association is exposed to liquidity risk which is the risk that the Association will be unable to
generate or obtain enough cash to meet obligations as they fall due. Mitigation of this risk is achieved
through the active management of cash and debt. The liquidity risk is assessed as low for the
Association.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities as of March 31, 2020 are as follows:
Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 9,167$       9,167$       -$   -$  -$ -$  -$   

Long term note payable 194,389$   30,198$     30,198$     30,198$    30,198$     30,198$       43,399$          

Note 15 Commitment 

Office space contracted payments are as follows: 

Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Contracted 
payments 750$      170$      170$      170$      170$      70$     

Note 16  Subsequent events 

a) Since March 31, 2020, the spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies around the
globe. In many countries, including Canada, businesses are being forced to cease or limit operations for
long or indefinite periods of time. Measures taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans,
quarantines, social distancing, and closures of non-essential services have triggered significant disruptions
to businesses worldwide, resulting in an economic slowdown. Global stock markets have also experienced
great volatility and a significant weakening. Governments and central banks have responded with monetary
and fiscal interventions to stabilize economic conditions.



OWA 2019 Annual Report | 25

ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the effectiveness of government and central 
bank responses, remains unclear. It is not possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of these 
consequences, as well as their impact on the financial position and results of the Company for future 
periods. 

b) On April 1, 2020, the Company executed an amended loan agreement with the Government of Alberta. The
amended agreement provides access to a second loan facility with a maximum permitted advance of
$100,000. Funds will be advanced in two equal payments of $50,000 on October 1, 2020 and January 1,
2021 at zero percent interest. Principal repayments will commence on January 1, 2028 and will occur every
three months in equal instalments of $6,250 until October 1, 2031.

c) On April 2, 2020, Bill 12, the Liabilities and Management Statutes Amendment Act passed Third Reading
and Royal Assent in the Alberta legislature. The Act will come into force on June 15, 2020. On June 3, 2020,
the Orphan Fund Delegated Administration Amendment Regulation was passed by an Order in Council. The
general purpose of the Bill and Amendment Regulation are to enable the Association to better manage and
accelerate the clean-up of wells or sites which do not have a responsible owner. These changes will enable
the Association to play a more active role in reducing the inventory of orphan wells, orphan sites and appoint
receivers as may be required by specific circumstances. The impact of the Bill and Amendment Regulation
on the Association’s operations are under review. Based on the analysis to date, it is not expected to have a
negative impact.

d) On April 17, 2020 the Government of Canada announced their intent to provide an interest free loan of
$200,000 to the Association.  The terms of the agreement are currently under discussion.

Note 17 Comparative figures 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement presentation 
adopted in the current year. The following financial statement line items have been reclassified: 
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ALBERTA OIL AND GAS ORPHAN ABANDONMENT AND RECLAMATION ASSOCIATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020 
(thousands of dollars) 

2019, as 
reclassified

2019, as previously 
presented

Statement of Financial Position
Cash 5,525$                      99,525$                      
Short-term investments 94,000                     -   

99,525              99,525     

Current portion of long term note payable 18,056                     -   
Long term note payable 110,770            128,826  

128,826            128,826  

Statement of Operations
Fund administration 4,097 4,408       
Bad debt expense 311     -           

4,408 4,408       
Statement of Cash Flows
Increase in long term note payable 87,233              84,856     
Increase in deferred contribution 9,589 9,589       
Repayment of long term note payable (2,378)                      -   
Decrease (increase) in short term investments (94,000)                    -   

444     94,445     

Net increase (decrease) in cash (43,815)             50,185     
Cash, beginning of year 49,340              49,340     

Cash, end of year 5,525$                      99,525$                      
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The Alberta Oil and Gas Orphan Abandonment and Reclamation 

Association is an independent non‐profit organization, generally known 

as the Orphan Well Association or OWA. The OWA operates under the 

delegated legal authority of the AER, the provincial regulator of energy 

development. Funding for the association’s work comes primarily from 

Alberta’s oil and gas producers through the Orphan Well Levy.

Through its Board of Directors, industry, regulatory and government 

representatives oversee the OWA’s operations, priorities and strategic 

planning to ensure the association is delivering its mandate to protect 

public health and safety and manage environmental risk.

Governance

Board of Directors
Brad Herald, Canadian Association of 
Petroleum Producers, OWA Chair
Brad Herald’s work with CAPP has focused on 
industry operations and economics in Western 
Canada, including best practices related to the 
environment and public health and safety. He 
works closely with industry experts on community 
and regional stakeholder concerns, and with 
regulators and governments on policy issues and 
implementation.

Kendall Dilling, Cenovus Energy 
Kendall Dilling has 25 years of technical and 
management experience in the oil and gas industry, 
including work in environmental protection and 
management of pipeline projects. He has worked 
with emerging Canadian and multinational energy 
companies in health, safety and environment 
portfolios. In addition to the OWA, Kendall serves 
on several nonprofit industry, community and 
research boards.

Orest Kotelko, Canadian Natural  
Resources Limited
Orest Kotelko has more than 45 years of experience 
in energy life-cycle development, operations and 
liability management in drilling, construction and 
reservoir engineering. His experience includes work 
with industry associations, major and emerging 
companies, and governments, as well as stakeholder 
groups in conventional and oil sands development in 
Western Canada.

D. Blake Reid, Paramount Resources
Blake Reid is a Professional Engineer and Executive 
Vice President, Operations at Paramount Resources. 
Prior to joining Paramount, Blake held a number of 
progressively senior roles over 25 years of industry 
experience. His work has included a broad range of 
technical, operational and strategic management 
roles, including leadership of multi-disciplinary 
organizations covering operations, maintenance, 
engineering, project management, drilling and 
completions, administration, and environment, 
health and safety portfolios.
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Jim Screaton, Explorers and Producers 
Association of Canada
Jim Screaton is a Chartered Accountant who has 
held leadership roles in major, mid-size and 
emerging energy companies. He brings experience 
in organizational strategy related to financial 
analysis, debt and liability, securities regulation and 
disclosure. In addition, he has represented industry 
on a breadth of association and committee work, 
including liability management. 

Rob Wadsworth, Alberta Energy Regulator
Rob Wadsworth is Vice President Compliance 
& Liability Management at the Alberta Energy 
Regulator. Since 2012, he has held several executive 
roles with the AER covering industry life-cycle 
regulation from approval processes for new 
projects to closure and reclamation, as well as 
providing organizational leadership on learning, 
effectiveness and efficiency initiatives. Prior to the 
AER, Rob worked as a departmental manager with 
a major nuclear power producer. He had earlier 
served in senior leadership roles in domestic and 
international operations with the Canadian Forces.

Karen Wronko, Alberta Environment and Parks
Karen Wronko is the Executive Director of Land 
Policy within Environment and Parks. During 
her career in public service she has worked in a 
number of areas and has provided senior level 
leadership to several strategic initiatives, including 
policy development related to water and land, 
the growth and diversification of the provincial 
economy through local economic development, 
entrepreneurship and small business support, 
and major initiatives targeted at growing the 
petrochemical sector in Alberta.

Management
Lars De Pauw, Executive Director
Lars De Pauw took on the leadership of the OWA 
in 2017. As a Professional Engineer, he has held 
senior positions in strategic planning, project 
development, environmental engineering, and 
client and stakeholder relationship management. 
His experience includes work with a major Canadian 
oil and gas producer, a diversified petroleum 
services company, and strategic and operational 
consulting businesses. 

Wanda Sakura, Team Lead, Environment
Wanda Sakura is a Professional Geologist who 
brings to OWA more than 30 years of environment 
and safety experience, including direct work 
with the association’s planning and operations 
since 2006. Her expertise includes management 
of environmental assessment and remediation 
of legacy facilities in urban and commercially 
developed areas. She also brings significant 
experience in working effectively with Indigenous 
communities.

Ken Willis, Team Lead, Well Decommissioning
Ken Willis has worked as a Professional Engineer 
in the oil and gas industry since 1980, both in the 
field from drilling and completions, and as an 
organizational leader of engineering and technology 
teams in Canada and internationally. His experience 
in life-cycle management of facilities covers a 
broad spectrum of expertise from downhole work to 
surface production operation sites.
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2019 ABCA 61
Alberta Court of Appeal

Northern Sunrise County v. Virginia Hills Oil Corp

2019 CarswellAlta 236, 2019 ABCA 61, [2019] A.W.L.D. 1299, [2019] A.W.L.D. 1353,
10 P.P.S.A.C. (4th) 76, 302 A.C.W.S. (3d) 23, 67 C.B.R. (6th) 8, 82 Alta. L.R. (6th) 97

The Bank of Nova Scotia and Alberta Treasury Branches (Respondents /
Plaintiffs) and Virginia Hills Oil Corp. and Dolomite Energy Inc. (Respondents /

Defendants) and Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. in capacity of Court-
appointed Receiver and Manager of the assets, undertakings and property of
Virginia Hills Oil Corp. and Dolomite Energy Inc. (Respondent / Applicant)

and Northern Sunrise County and the Municipal District of Opportunity
No. 17 and Lamont County (Appellants / Not Parties at the Trial Court)

Myra Bielby, Barbara Lea Veldhuis, Jo'Anne Strekaf JJ.A.

Heard: June 12, 2018
Judgment: February 12, 2019

Docket: Calgary Appeal 1701-0221AC

Counsel: M.J. McCabe, Q.C., S.N. Finlay, for Appellant, Northern Sunrise County
G.G. Plester, for Appellant, Municipal District of Opportunity No. 17 and Lamont County
P. Saini, C.R. Jones, for Respondent, The Bank of Nova Scotia
G. Bruni, K.D. Kashuba, for Respondent, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc

Per curiam:

I. Introduction

1      The substantive issue on this appeal is whether the taxation provisions of the Municipal Government Act, RSA 2000, c
M-26 (MGA) grant priority in bankruptcy proceedings to municipalities for tax arrears related to linear property. The appellant
municipalities (Northern Sunrise County, Municipal District of Opportunity No 17, and Lamont County; collectively the
Municipalities) seek to collect tax arrears on the linear property of two insolvent energy companies, namely a pipeline and
related equipment.

2      The respondents, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc (the Receiver) and Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS), say that we should not
address that substantive issue. They say, first, that an appeal of a distribution order in a receivership action is moot after funds
have been distributed; and, second, that the Municipalities failed to attend the hearing at which the distribution order was made,
despite having received notice, and this appeal is therefore an abuse of process.

3      For the reasons that follow, we have decided to address the substantive issue on appeal. With respect to that issue, we agree
with the interpretation of the MGA put forward by the Receiver, and dismiss the appeal.

II. Background

4      Virginia Hills Oil Corp. and Dolomite Energy Inc. (Debtors) are insolvent energy companies that were placed into
receivership on February 13, 2017, and subsequently declared bankrupt on May 3, 2017. The respondent Receiver is the court-
appointed receiver and manager and trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtors. The Debtors owed linear property tax arrears to the
appellant Municipalities.
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5      The appellants are three of the six municipalities through which a pipeline operated by the Debtors passes. Municipal taxes
on the pipeline proper remained unpaid by the Debtors as of the dates of their receivership and bankruptcy. The appellants did
not advance claims as secured creditors in the receivership or bankruptcy, although served with notice of same, at any time prior
to the granting on June 20, 2017 of an Order for Advice and Directions and Distribution of Funds (Order).

6      After the Order was granted the Receiver distributed all recovered funds to the secured creditors, BNS and Alberta Treasury
Branches (ATB), with the result that no funds remained in the Receiver's hands to pay the appellants' claims, even if it were
determined that they have claims that rank equal to or ahead of the BNS or ATB secured claims. After the distribution Northern
Sunrise appealed the Order. The remaining Municipalities were added as appellants by order dated November 8, 2017.

7      The Municipalities appeal part of the Order:

3. It is hereby ordered and declared that the pre-receivership linear tax claims of the Municipalities . . . form unsecured
claims only as against the Debtors, and do not form secured claims against the Debtors' Property, including for greater
certainty the Property sold to the Purchaser .., nor are Permitted Encumbrances . . . , and the Municipalities have no further
claims or remedies as against the Transaction Properties, the Purchaser or the funds held by the Receiver from the sale
of the Debtors' Property.

8      Although the Municipalities were given notice of the proceeding that led to the Order (including the above paragraph in
draft form), they did not appear at the hearing, and made no submissions. They now argue for the first time on appeal that their
claims for linear property tax arrears are secured claims pursuant to section 348 of the MGA and the Bankruptcy and Insolvency
Act, RSC 1985, c B-3 (BIA).

9      The Receiver and BNS ask that the appeal be dismissed because it is an abuse of process and moot. They point out that
the Municipalities did not provide proofs of claim indicating that the linear property tax arrears were secured claims, attend the
hearing that led to the Order despite being given notice that the Receiver would be seeking an order declaring their claims to be
unsecured, seek a stay of the Order, or notify the Receiver of their intention to appeal until after the distribution was made. In
short, the respondents say they should not be prejudiced by the Municipalities' failure to act in a timely manner. The respondents
also submit the appeal is moot because the funds originally held back for the linear property tax arrears have been distributed.
In the alternative, they argue that the appeal should be dismissed because section 348(d)(i) of the MGA does not apply to linear
property tax arrears. Further, the tax claims would not have priority by virtue of sections 87 and 73(4) of the BIA.

10      The Municipalities acknowledge that they ought to have, at minimum, attended before the chambers judge on June
20, 2017 and advanced arguments about why their claims for linear property tax arrears are secured claims. However, at the
relevant time they had not secured legal counsel and, they contend, the issue is a live controversy and of public importance,
and should be heard.

III. Chronology

February 13, 2017 Consent Receivership Order appointed Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc receiver of the assets
and property of the Debtors. BNS and ATB are secured creditors (Secured Lenders) and owed
approximately $108 million. The Debtors' secured and unsecured creditors' total claims were
approximately $115 million.

March 14, 2017 The Receiver's First Report was filed. It stated that the Debtors owed approximately $1.1 million
in municipal property taxes for the 2016 calendar year and that "the Receiver is uncertain as to the
priority of the Property Taxes and is researching that issue".

March 21, 2017 An Approval and Vesting Order permitted the Debtors' property to be sold by the Receiver for $41
million. It also authorized a distribution to the Secured Lenders of the sale proceeds less amounts
for the Receiver's professional and counsel fees, retained to cover potential priority claim against
the sales proceeds including municipal claims, and other costs related to the administration of the
estate.

April 24, 2017 The Receiver made a first distribution to the Secured Lenders of $37.5 million to BNS and $1
million to ATB.
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April 27, 2017 The Receiver's Second Report advised that it was in the best interests of the estate to obtain a
bankruptcy order.

May 3, 2017 A bankruptcy order was granted against the Debtors and appointed the Receiver as Trustee.
June 14, 2017 The Receiver's Third Report was filed. It stated that:
 i. the Debtors owed approximately $1.12 million (plus accrued interest and penalties) in

municipal taxes for 2016, of which $838,339 was for 2016 linear property taxes;
 ii. the Receiver took the position that pre-receivership municipal linear property tax claims

were unsecured claims and explained its rationale for its conclusion;
 iii. the Trustee had sent each municipality the statutory creditor proof of claim package and

contacted them requesting them to file a proof of claim;
 iv. the Trustee received two unsecured proof of claims from Northern Sunrise County

indicating it was owed an unsecured amount of approximately $1.2 million as at May 3,
2017;

 v. the Trustee received written communication from the Municipality of Opportunity No 17
that it would not be filing a proof of claim at this time;

 vi. the Receiver would be applying for an order approving a further distribution to the Secured
Lenders and a declaration that the pre-receivership linear property taxes owed to the
Municipalities were unsecured claims.

June 20, 2017 The Receiver's application for advice and directions was heard.
 The Municipalities were served with notice of the application and the draft form of order

prepared by counsel for the Receiver which indicated that pre-receivership linear tax claims of the
Municipalities form unsecured claims only as against the Debtors, and do not form secured claims
against the Debtors' Property and the Municipalities have no further claims or remedies as against
the Receiver. None of the Municipalities attended or opposed the application.

 An Order (Advice and Directions, Distribution of Funds) was granted declaring that the pre-
receivership linear tax claims owed to the Municipalities were unsecured claims only as against the
Debtors and not secured claims against the Debtors' property. It also provided for further interim
distributions to BNS and ATB. This is the appealed order (Order).

July 14, 2017 The Receiver distributed $2 million to BNS and held back funds to cover professional fees and
other administration costs. There was no holdback for pre-receivership linear tax claims.

July 19, 2017 Northern Sunrise County appealed the Order.
November 8, 2017 The Municipal District of Opportunity No 17 and Lamont County were added as appellants by

order. Lamont County had not filed a proof of claim in the receivership/bankruptcy proceedings.
January 22, 2018 The Receiver's Fourth Report was filed.

IV. Issues and Standards of Review

11      This appeal raises the following issues:

A. Should the Receiver be permitted to adduce the Receiver's Fourth Report as new evidence?

B. Should the appeal be dismissed because it is moot?

C. Should the appeal be dismissed as an abuse of process?

D. Does a municipality acquire a special lien on linear property tax arrears pursuant to section 348(d)(i) of the MGA and,
if so, is it a secured claim for the purposes of the BIA?

E. If the answers to the questions in (D) are "yes", does that special lien lose its status if it is not registered "under a
prescribed system of registration before the date of the initial bankruptcy event" pursuant to section 87 of the BIA?

F. Is a municipality precluded from enforcing a special lien post-receivership by section 73(4) of the BIA?

12      The first three issues are raised for the first time on appeal and therefore the standard of review does not arise.
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13      The remaining issues concern statutory interpretation and are questions of law, reviewable on a correctness standard:
Balancing Pool v. TransAlta Corp., 2013 ABCA 409 (Alta. C.A.) at para 9, (2013), 566 A.R. 116 (Alta. C.A.).

V. Analysis

A. The New Evidence Application

14      The Receiver wants to adduce the Receiver's Fourth Report dated January 22, 2018 as new evidence in support of its
submission that the appeal is moot. The Fourth Report outlines the steps taken by the Receiver in the administration of the
Debtors' estate since the Order was granted. The substance of the new evidence is that $2 million, which had been held back
from the first distribution to the Secured Lenders, was distributed to BNS on July 14, 2017 pursuant to the Order. This occurred
before the appeal was filed on July 19, 2017, and the Receiver no longer holds any funds for linear property tax arrears.

15      New evidence may be admitted if it could not have been obtained for use at trial even with the exercise of reasonable
diligence and the evidence, if introduced, would be practically conclusive: Xerex Exploration Ltd. v. Petro-Canada, 2005 ABCA
224 (Alta. C.A.) at paras 116-17, (2005), 367 A.R. 201 (Alta. C.A.). The test is flexible and can be "departed from in the
appropriate case": Xerex Exploration at para 117.

16      This evidence was not available at the hearing because the final distribution occurred after the hearing was concluded. It
provides the factual underpinning necessary to address the respondents' submission that the appeal should be dismissed because
it is moot or otherwise an abuse of process.

17      The application to admit the Receiver's Fourth Report is granted.

B. Is the Appeal Moot?

18      An appeal is moot if a tangible and concrete dispute has disappeared and the issues it once raised have become hypothetical
or academic: Borowski v. Canada (Attorney General), [1989] 1 S.C.R. 342 (S.C.C.) at para 16, (1989), 57 D.L.R. (4th) 231
(S.C.C.). The court considers three factors in determining whether to exercise its discretion to hear an appeal even though it
is moot: the presence of an adversarial context, the concern for judicial resources and the awareness of the court's proper law-
making function: see Borowski at paras 31-42; Graff v. Alberta (Energy & Utilities Board), 2007 ABCA 363 (Alta. C.A.) at
para 4.

19      The Municipalities submit that the appeal is not moot because it presents a live issue: are linear property tax arrears
secured claims. If so, the distributed funds can be traced to BNS and may be recovered. They also contend that even if the
appeal is moot, the question of how to treat the linear property tax arrears for the purposes of the MGA and the BIA is a question
of public importance and the ruling would be of precedential value.

20      The Receiver submits that the issue of whether the Municipalities' claims qualify as secured claims is academic as the
funds have already been distributed to the secured lenders. It relies on Lucid RV Parks Inc. v. Lucid Capital Fort McMurray Inc.
(Trustee of), 2012 ABCA 317 (Alta. C.A.). In Lucid, which involved bankruptcy proceedings of an RV Park, an order granted
on April 12, 2012 directed that all persons (including the appellants) in receipt of rents for May 2012 pay those funds into court.
That order was appealed. After the appeal was filed, the case management judge ordered the funds paid into court be released to
the Trustee, who was authorized to pay the RV Park's operating expenses. That order was not appealed. The funds in court were
released to the Trustee and used to pay expenses. This court held that the appeal of the first order was moot to the extent that
the funds had been distributed and noted that the second order, the distribution order, was not appealed. Lucid is distinguishable
from the present case because here the order under appeal is the distribution order.

21      BNS submits that a distribution order is a final decision that cannot be undone. The effect of its argument is that such
an order cannot be appealed once it has been implemented. It relies on Ernst & Young Inc. v. Central Guaranty Trust Co., 2006
ABCA 337, 397 A.R. 225 (Alta. C.A.). That case is also distinguishable. Ernst involved a receivership of a business that sold
extended car warranties on vehicles purchased from various automobile importers. The receiver was authorized to bring an
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action against Central Guaranty Trust, which had been holding some of the warranty monies in trust. On the eve of trial, Central
Guaranty Trust amended its defence to allege that the trust was invalid. The receiver submitted that many of the orders granted
in the course of the eight-year receivership had been made on the assumption that the trusts were valid and that it was too late
for Central Guaranty Trust to raise the invalidity defence. The trial judge found that the validity of the trusts was not settled,
and found them invalid. On appeal, this court concluded that Central Guaranty Trust was precluded from attacking the validity
of the trusts. The receiver's March 1988 Report made recommendations based upon the explicit assumption that the trust was
valid. In July 1988, the court directed Central Guaranty Trust to pay virtually all the trust funds it held to the receiver, and
directed the receiver to pay those funds to the automobile importers. The trust funds were distributed pursuant to the July 1988
Order. Central Guaranty Trust appealed the July 1988 Order and later abandoned its appeal. Like Lucid, the key distinction
between Ernst and the present case is that the order under appeal here is the order that directed the distribution, unlike in Ernst
where the appeal of the distribution order had been abandoned.

22      The fact that monies were paid to BNS pursuant to the Order (which the Municipalities did not apply to have stayed)
does not preclude it from being reviewed on appeal. There may be circumstances when recovery of monies distributed by a
receiver pursuant to a court order may not be appropriate or practicable. However, there is nothing on this record that would
indicate that is the case here. The British Columbia Court of Appeal recognized in obiter that funds paid out by a receiver to
a bank "could, if it became necessary, be traced into the Bank's hands or the Bank could be declared a constructive trustee of
the funds, assuming the conditions for such remedies are met": Bank of Montreal v. Peri Formwork Systems Inc., 2012 BCCA
252 (B.C. C.A.) at para 35, (2012), 324 B.C.A.C. 152 (B.C. C.A.).

23      For the purpose of this appeal, we need not decide whether, and if so how or to what extent, the funds distributed by the
Receiver could be recovered. It is enough to conclude that the mere fact that the funds have been distributed by the Receiver
does not render moot an appeal of the order authorizing the distribution.

C. Is the Appeal an Abuse of Process?

24      The doctrine of abuse of process "is a compendious principle that the courts use to control misuses of the judicial system.
Abuses of process can arise in many different contexts, and there is no universal test or statement of law that encompasses all
of the examples": Reece v. Edmonton (City), 2011 ABCA 238 (Alta. C.A.) at para 16, (2011), 513 A.R. 199 (Alta. C.A.). It
engages the "inherent power of the court to prevent the misuse of its procedure, in a way that would be manifestly unfair to
a party to the litigation before it or would in some other way bring the administration of justice into disrepute"; Reece at para
17, citing Toronto (City) v. C.U.P.E., Local 79, 2003 SCC 63, [2003] 3 S.C.R. 77 (S.C.C.) and Canam Enterprises Inc. v. Coles
(2000), 51 O.R. (3d) 481 (Ont. C.A.). Rule 14.74(f) of the Rules of Court permits an appeal to be struck for abuse of process.

25      The Municipalities submit that the appeal is not an abuse of process; it does not re-open litigation, but is a continuation of
the litigation. They submit that even if the chambers judge had the benefit of their arguments, it is highly likely that the matter
would have come before this court given the importance of the legal question and the parties' positions.

26      We recognize that the Municipalities are litigating the question of whether they are secured creditors for the purposes of
the linear property tax arrears for the first time in this court. BNS submits that the appeal should be dismissed because the abuse
of process threshold has been crossed. It also submits that the Municipalities took no action and wasted limited court resources
by not raising with the Receiver the claim that they are secured creditors and by not participating in the hearing that led to the
Order or applying for a stay of the Order. The Municipalities were well aware that the priority of linear property tax arrears was
an issue from at least as early as the Receiver's First Report dated March 14, 2017, which identified those concerns.

27      The Receiver's position that the linear property tax claims were unsecured and the underlying rationale for that position
was outlined in detail in the Receiver's Third Report dated June 14, 2017. The statutory 'creditor proof of claim' package was
sent to each municipality (six in total) that was owed municipal taxes and the Receiver contacted each of them asking that they
file a proof of claim in the bankruptcy. Northern Sunrise County was the only municipality that did so and its proofs of claim
characterized its claims as unsecured. The Municipal District of Opportunity No 17 advised the Trustee that it did not intend to
file a proof of claim. Lamont County did not file a proof of claim. The affidavits of the Municipal District of Opportunity No
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17 and Lamont County in respect of their application to be added as appellants stated that they did not participate previously
because they had not yet retained counsel.

28      Despite having been served with the Receiver's Third Report (which outlined the relief that the Receiver would be seeking
at the June 20, 2017 hearing, including a determination that linear property tax arrears were unsecured claims and approval to
make a further distribution to the secured lenders), none of the Municipalities attended the hearing or took steps to oppose the
Receiver's position or make their position known. No stay of the Order was sought, and the appeal of the Order was not filed
until July 19, 2017, after the distribution contemplated in the Order was made on July 14, 2017.

29      BNS also submits that the appellants are estopped from taking the position on appeal that the linear property tax claims are
secured by issue estoppel (res judicata) and estoppel by conduct or representation. In our view, neither of these legal principles
apply. Res judicata applies when a party attempts to re-litigate an issue decided in a prior final judicial decision which involved
the same parties, or their privies: Ernst at para 30. This doctrine is not applicable here. Although the Order was final, there is
a right of appeal and the Order is the subject of this appeal.

30      Estoppel by conduct is also not available. A party seeking to establish estoppel by conduct must demonstrate a
representation, reliance and detriment (Scotsburn Co-operative Services Ltd. v. W.T. Goodwin Ltd., [1985] 1 S.C.R. 54 (S.C.C.)
at para 26), all of which require evidence. No evidence was tendered by the BNS beyond the assertions of counsel.

31      Taking a position on appeal that is contrary to the proof of claim filed without participating in the hearing can be extremely
problematic in the insolvency context where certainty, speed and efficiency are necessary to maximize recovery for everyone.
We are concerned with the Municipalities' failure to file proofs of claim in the receivership/bankruptcy proceeding indicating
they were taking the position they had a secured claim. We are also troubled by their failure to attend or advance a position at
the hearing opposing the Receiver's position, of which they had clear notice. The explanation for their failure to take these steps
is unsatisfactory. That said, this court's decision in Boyd v. JBS Foods Canada Inc., 2015 ABCA 120 (Alta. C.A.), provides the
Municipalities with some assistance. This court found no support for a rule that a party's quiescence in the court of first instance
bars an appeal, although in that case the issues raised on appeal had been advanced below by another party: Boyd at paras 3 and
9. Where a party's failure to file documents in a timely fashion or participate in a hearing results in extra costs being incurred
by another party, they may also face cost consequences.

32      Although there is support for the respondents' position that this appeal is an abuse of process, we are persuaded
that the questions raised by the appeal are important for municipalities and receivers alike. Accordingly, in these exceptional
circumstances we will consider the merits of the Municipalities' appeal.

D. Does section 348(d)(i) of the MGA create a special lien for linear property tax arrears? If so, is that special lien a secured
claim for the purposes of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, c B-3 (BIA)?

33      The taxes at issue on this appeal are taxes on linear property. The MGA defines linear property to mean: electric power
systems; street light systems; telecommunication systems; pipelines; railway property; and wells: s 284(k). The linear property
involved in this application are pipelines and related equipment.

34      Historically, municipal taxes were "not recoverable as a debt at common law and . . . absent a statutory power to do so, a
municipality would be without authority to recover tax arrears from a taxpayer by an action in the courts": 2214351 Manitoba
Ltd. v. Wallace (Rural Municipality), 2005 MBCA 3 (Man. C.A.) at para 24, (2005), 248 D.L.R. (4th) 224 (Man. C.A.). The
MGA grants such authority to municipalities in Alberta.

35      This appeal involves the interpretation of s 348 of the MGA, which grants to municipalities the statutory authority to
recover municipal taxes, and particularly paragraph 348(d)(i), which creates a special lien "on land and any improvements to
the land". Section 348 provides:

348. Taxes due to a municipality
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(a) are an amount owing to the municipality,

(b) are recoverable as a debt due to the municipality,

(c) take priority over the claims of every person except the Crown, and

(d) are a special lien

(i) on land and any improvements to the land, if the tax is a property tax, a community revitalization levy, a
special tax, a local improvement tax or a community aggregate payment levy, or

(ii) on goods, if the tax is a business tax, a community revitalization levy, a well drilling equipment tax, a
community aggregate payment levy or a property tax imposed in respect of a designated manufactured home
in a manufactured home community.

[emphasis added]

36      The Municipalities argue that "property tax" in s 348(d)(i) includes "linear property tax", and that the provision grants
them a special lien on "land and any improvements to the land" with respect to linear property tax arrears. That special lien,
they say, gives them priority over all creditors other than the Crown. On this basis they claim priority in the receivership.

37      The interpretation of s 348(d)(i), like any statutory interpretation exercise, requires that we begin with Driedger's modern
principle: " . . . the words of an Act are to be read in their entire context, in their grammatical and ordinary sense harmoniously

with the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act and the intention of Parliament": E.A. Driedger, Construction of Statutes, 2 nd

ed (Butterworths: Toronto, 1983) at 87; Balancing Pool v. TransAlta Corp. at para 17.

38      A provincial legislature can create a statutory lien that takes precedence over the interests of secured creditors. However,
to do so "the plain and unambiguous meaning of the section must be that it deprives a properly secured creditor . . . .of all or part
of its security without compensation, for the purpose of paying another debt entirely unrelated to the security": Lloyds Bank
Canada v. International Warranty Co., 1989 ABCA 155 (Alta. C.A.) at para 10. For example, the special lien on a mobile home
created under the Municipal Taxation Act, RSA 1980, c. M-31 (which was the predecessor legislation to the taxing provisions
now contained in the MGA) was found to be a statutory lien against the real property on which the mobile home was located
and the mobile home itself, which took precedence over the secured claims of a bank: Donalda (Village) v. Toronto Dominion
Bank (1990), 75 D.L.R. (4th) 178, 111 A.R. 389 (Alta. Q.B.).

39      The Receiver's position (adopted by BNS) is that s 348(d)(i) is too ambiguous to create a statutory lien in respect of
linear property taxes because it is unclear whose or what land is caught by the special lien. The Receiver points out that even the
Municipalities do not agree what land would be subject to the special lien. Northern Sunrise argues that the lien applies to all
of the debtor's land in Alberta, or the assessed land in the alternative. Opportunity and Lamont argue that the wording is broad
enough that "land and any improvements to the land" includes, at a minimum, the linear property itself.

40      In construing the intended reach of s 348(d)(i), it is instructive to consider the context of the MGA taxation scheme
as a whole, and in particular other provisions of the MGA that govern the ability of municipalities to collect arrears of taxes.
Particularly relevant are the special remedies set out in Division 8 and Division 9 of Part 10 of the MGA. As will be seen, the
MGA provides different remedies for the collection of different types of property tax.

41      Division 8 is headed "Recovery of Taxes Related to Land". It sets out a mechanism for municipalities "to recover tax
arrears in respect of a parcel of land" (s 411(1)), which is defined as "a parcel of land and the improvements on it" (s 410(b.1)).
The tax arrears to which Division 8 applies are defined as "a property tax, a community revitalization levy, a special tax, a local
improvement tax or a community aggregate payment levy": s 410(e). It is to be noted that this language essentially mirrors the
language of s 348(d)(i). The collection remedy provided by Division 8 permits a tax notification to be endorsed on the certificate
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of title for a parcel of land. If arrears remain unpaid, the land can be offered for sale at public auction and, if not sold, may be
transferred to the municipality: ss 412 — 424.

42      Division 8 does not apply to linear property tax arrears, which are covered by the collection remedy set out in Division
9 of the MGA.

43      Division 9 is headed "Recovery of Taxes Not Related to Land". For purposes of Division 9, "tax" is defined to include
"(i) a business tax; (ii) a well drilling equipment tax; (ii.1) a community aggregate payment levy" (s 437(c)(iii)). The definition
also includes certain types of property tax, including "property tax . . . imposed in respect of property referred to in section ...
304(1)(i)" — linear property. Section 304(1)(i) identifies the assessed person with respect to linear property as "the operator
of the linear property". Accordingly, unlike under Division 8, where tax recovery can include the sale of the related "parcel of
land", the person responsible for arrears of linear property tax is the "operator", and the remedy for arrears of linear property
tax is a right of distress and seizure of the debtor's goods: s 439(1).

44      Importantly for this analysis, linear property taxes are imposed on the operator, not on the owner of the linear property,
and not on the owner of the land on which the linear property is situated; likewise, linear property tax arrears are an obligation
of the operator. It may be that the operator and the owner of the linear property, or even the owner of the parcel of land on which
the linear property is situated, are one and the same, but that is not necessarily the case. In the energy sector, it often is not
the case. For these purposes, "operator" is defined to include licensees under the Pipeline Act or the Oil and Gas Conservation
Act. Each of the Debtors here was such a "licensee", and therefore was an operator responsible for linear property tax arrears
under the MGA.

45      That the remedies set out in Division 9, which apply to the taxation of linear property, are categorized as not related to
land suggests that the special lien "on land and any improvements to the land" created by s 348(d)(i) does not apply to linear
property taxes. Rather, the language of s 348(d)(i) more closely mirrors that of Division 8, which expressly refers to remedies
against parcels of land, and which do not apply to linear property tax arrears.

46      When section 348(d)(i) is read in its grammatical and ordinary sense and in harmony with the scheme of the MGA, its
reference to "property tax" does not include linear property tax arrears. The provision therefore does not create a special lien
"on land and any improvements to the land" with respect to those arrears. When the provision is considered in the context of
the entire scheme of the MGA, including the specific provisions for remedies regarding linear property taxes set out in Division
9, and the fact that the operator (who is not necessarily connected to the land on which the property is situated) is designated
as the person liable for linear property taxes, it is apparent that section 348(d)(i), which applies to land and its improvements,
does not encompass linear property.

47      The Municipalities urge a different interpretation, arguing that Division 8 and Division 9 deal with different subject matter
and should not be used to interpret s 348. Opportunity and Lamont submit that Division 9 deals with recovery and enforcement
of tax arrears, whereas s 348 concerns security for debts owed and priorities over other debt claims. They submit that, on a plain
reading of s 348(d)(i), "property tax" includes linear property tax and the linear property is an "improvement" on the land; they
say there is no reason to resort to other parts of the MGA to interpret the provision. They say there is no "gap" in the MGA,
as was found by the chambers judge, and in any event this court should prefer an interpretation that avoids the gap, as noted
by Sullivan in her text on construction of statutes:

Although courts normally do not fill gaps in legislative schemes, if there is a choice between two plausible explanations,
they ordinarily prefer the interpretation that avoids creating a gap: Ruth Sullivan, Sullivan on the Construction of Statutes,
6th ed. (Markham, LexisNexis, 2014) at 384-85.

48      The result of this submission would be that a special lien would attach to the linear property as security. However, when
one considers the whole taxation scheme under the MGA, it becomes apparent that result would be manifestly unjust if the
owner of the linear property is not also the operator, from whom the arrears are due.
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49      For its part, Northern Sunrise submits there are two remedies available to a municipality to collect tax arrears: the "special
remedies" set out in Divisions 8 and 9, and the "special lien" created by s 348. Northern Sunrise argues that Division 8 and s
348 are coextensive, in that both permit the municipality to offer the land for sale to recover tax arrears. The special remedy
in Division 9 is the right of distress and, while related to the recovery of tax, the distress available applies to all of the debtors'
goods wherever situated (in Alberta). In other words, unless the debtor is also the linear property's owner, there is no right of
distress against the linear property.

50      The difficulty with the interpretation proposed by the Municipalities is that the MGA is a comprehensive statute, and
s 348 must be read harmoniously with other sections of the Act. As set out above, doing so leads to the conclusion that the
mechanisms associated with property tax assessment and collection distinguish between taxes related to land and those not
related to land. In general terms, excluding manufactured homes which have a division to themselves, Division 8 (taxes related
to land) equates to s 348(d)(i) whereas Division 9 (taxes not related to land) equates to s 348(d)(ii). These two - very different
- regimes cannot be ignored and they must inform the interpretation of s 348(d).

51      We also agree with the Receiver that difficulties would arise if the provision were construed otherwise due to the ambiguity
it would create: to what "land and any improvements to the land" would the lien attach? There is no justification for attaching to
the parcel of land on which the linear property is situated, and none for attaching to the linear property itself unless the operator
and linear property owner happen to be the same person, which is not necessarily the case under the legislative scheme.

52      We note parenthetically that the interpretation we have adopted is consistent with the relief sought in a resolution
filed by the Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties ("AAMDC") in 2016, requesting that the Government of
Alberta amend the MGA to broaden the tax recovery power of municipalities to collect linear property taxes. This was identified
as a pressing issue for rural municipalities because of "significant tax arrears from numerous oil and gas companies". In the
same resolution, the AAMDC also requested that the Government of Canada amend the BIA to recognize municipal linear
property taxes and other municipal non-property taxes as a secured interest in priority to other unsecured interests: AAMDC
Resolution 3-16S, "Recovery of Linear Property, Commercial Property, and Education Requisition Tax Arrears" [Resolution].
The background to the Resolution stated in part:

While section 348 of the MGA may state that tax arrears have priority over other debt obligations, this priority is limited
by the BIA. The BIA does not affect municipal claims for property tax arrears with respect to land as those arrears give
rise to an interest that can be registered pursuant to the Land Titles Act. Contrastingly, linear property tax arrears do not
give rise to a similar interest and therefore do not constitute a secured interest pursuant to the BIA.

53      Although the Alberta legislature has made changes to the MGA (most recently in An Act to Strengthen Municipal
Government, SA 2017, c 13), the changes called for by the Resolution were not made. This history does not enter into our
interpretation of s 348(d)(i), but it is consistent with it.

54      Counsel provided us with the decision in Regent Resources Ltd (Re), 2018 ABQB 669 (Alta. Q.B.), released after the
appeal was argued. That decision deals with different issues and has not impacted our decision.

55      Our conclusion on this issue makes it unnecessary to consider the BIA implications, and unnecessary to consider the
remaining issues on the appeal.

VI. Conclusion

56      The appeal is dismissed.
Appeal dismissed.

http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2045528319&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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Per curiam:

Introduction and Standard of Review

1      The issue on this appeal is whether the chambers judge properly exercised his discretion under s 243(6) of the Bankruptcy
and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, c B-3 [BIA] when he refused to prioritize a receiver's charge for fees and disbursements over a
municipality's claim for unpaid property taxes: Royal Bank of Canada v. Reid-Built Homes Ltd, 2018 ABQB 124 (Alta. Q.B.)
[Decision].

2      The exercise of discretion is given deference on appeal unless the judge proceeded arbitrarily or on a wrong principle, or
failed to consider or properly apply the applicable test: Secure 2013 Group Inc. v. Tiger Calcium Services Inc, 2017 ABCA 316
(Alta. C.A.) at para 34, (2017), 58 Alta. L.R. (6th) 209 (Alta. C.A.).

Background

3      The appellant, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc, was the court-appointed receiver (the Receiver) for seven companies,
collectively referred to as Reid-Built, a residential home builder. Reid-Built was placed in receivership and the Receiver
appointed under the BIA by court order on November 2, 2017. The receivership order gives priority to the Receiver's charges
over other claims.

4      On November 24, 2017, the Receiver applied for an order granting it the authority to repair, maintain and complete
Reid-Built's properties, and a corresponding first priority charge as against each specific property for any expenses incurred

http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2043871039&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2043871039&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2043871039&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2043871039&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2042908974&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2042908974&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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(Property Powers Order). Such expenses are included in the Receiver's claim for fees and disbursements (Receiver's Charge).
The Receiver's application was heard on November 29, 2017. At the same time, the chambers judge heard applications filed
by two secured creditors of Reid-Built, both of which disputed the priority for the Receiver's Charge. Before those applications
were disposed of, the respondent Edmonton applied to modify the Property Powers Order, or alternatively for a declaration that
its special lien for unpaid property taxes ranks ahead of the Receiver's Charge.

5      The chambers judge dismissed the applications of the secured creditors (that part of his order has not been appealed), but
granted Edmonton's application. The Receiver appeals.

Issues on appeal

6      The issue on appeal is whether the chambers judge erred in principle in his approach to the applications before him. The
Receiver submits that the chambers judge erred in the exercise of his discretion under s 243(6) by relying on considerations
that were incorrect in fact or in law.

7      The Receiver also submits that the chambers judge failed to provide the parties with a proper opportunity to make
submissions on the point, thereby breaching the duty of fairness.

8      For the reasons that follow, we have decided that the first ground of appeal must be allowed. The chambers judge improperly
exercised his discretion in deciding that the Receiver's Charge ought not to rank ahead of Edmonton's property tax claim. Given
our decision on the first issue, it is not necessary for us to consider the procedural fairness issue, and we have not done so.

Analysis

9      Section 243 of the BIA deals with the appointment of a receiver by the court on the application of a secured creditor. This
appeal concerns the discretion granted the court by s 243(6), which governs the making of orders respecting the payment of
the receiver's fees and disbursements and, in particular, gives the court the discretion to grant a super priority to a receiver's
claim for fees and disbursements. It provides:

(6) If a receiver is appointed under subsection (1), the court may make any order respecting the payment of fees and
disbursements of the receiver that it considers proper, including one that gives the receiver a charge, ranking ahead of any
or all of the secured creditors, over all or part of the property of the insolvent person or bankrupt in respect of the receiver's
claim for fees or disbursements, but the court may not make the order unless it is satisfied that the secured creditors who
would be materially affected by the order were given reasonable notice and an opportunity to make representations.

10      The standard receivership order template provides for such a priority. The intended purpose of the template, which was
developed as a joint project of the insolvency bar and bench, is to standardize receivership practice. It has provided guidance
for practitioners and the judiciary since its inception. The standard receivership order does not bind the court, but serves as a
standard form from which deviations must be blacklined before the court grants the initial receivership order. The receivership
order issued in this matter included the following provision with respect to the Receiver's accounts:

Any expenditure or liability which shall properly be made or incurred by the Receiver . . . shall be allowed to it in passing
its accounts and shall form a first charge on the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and
encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person (the "Receiver's Charge")

11      Edmonton objected to the Receiver's Charge being granted priority over its claim to unpaid property taxes. It pointed out
that s 348 of the Municipal Government Act, RSA 2000, c M-26 [MGA], grants to Edmonton a special lien over land and any
improvements on it for property tax amounts owing. Section 348 provides:

Tax becomes debt to municipality

348 Taxes due to a municipality
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(a) are an amount owing to the municipality,

(b) are recoverable as a debt due to the municipality,

(c) take priority over the claims of every person except the Crown, and

(d) are a special lien

(i) on land and any improvements to the land, if the tax is a property tax, a community revitalization levy, a
special tax, a clean energy improvement tax, a local improvement tax or a community aggregate payment levy, or

(ii) on goods, if the tax is a business tax, a community revitalization levy, a well drilling equipment tax, a
community aggregate payment levy or a property tax imposed in respect of a designated manufactured home in
a manufactured home community. [emphasis added]

12      Edmonton argued that its lien for unpaid property taxes should rank ahead of the Receiver's Charge, as Edmonton, whose
claim is fully secured and in first position, will not gain any benefit from the receivership. In short, as Edmonton's claim will
be paid out in full regardless of the receivership, it should not have to bear the cost of the receivership.

13      In addition to Edmonton's application, the chambers judge had before him two other applications from secured creditors —
a mortgagee and a builders' lien claimant. The first, ICI Capital Corporation (ICI), had a first mortgage on certain of the debtor's
properties and sought to have the stay lifted so that it could take proceedings to enforce those mortgages. ICI also argued that,
as a first mortgagee, it should not yield its priority position to the Receiver, a position similar to that taken by Edmonton. In
the absence of evidence of prejudice to ICI, the chambers judge declined to lift the stay, although he gave ICI leave to reapply
should circumstances materially change. The other applicant, Standard General Inc (Standard General), a contractor to Reid-
Built that had filed builders' liens against certain lands, argued that Alberta's builders' lien legislation establishes its priority
position ahead of the Receiver. That argument was dismissed. The chambers judge ultimately determined that it was appropriate
for the Receiver's Charge related to the assets in question to take priority over the builders' liens.

14      The chambers judge exercised his discretion to grant the Receiver's Charge priority over the claims of both the mortgagee
and builders' lien claimant. Relevant to his consideration was the decision in Robert F. Kowal Investments Ltd. v. Deeder Electric
Ltd. (1975), 59 D.L.R. (3d) 492, 9 O.R. (2d) 84 (Ont. C.A.) [Robert F. Kowal Investments Ltd.], applied in Royal Bank v. Vulcan
Machinery & Equipment Ltd., [1992] 6 W.W.R. 307, 13 C.B.R. (3d) 69 (Alta. Q.B.). Robert F. Kowal Investments Ltd. refers
to a general rule that secured creditors may not be subject to the charges and expenses of a receivership. This is so because,
"the general purpose of a general receivership is to preserve and realize the property for the benefit of creditors in general.
No receivership may be necessary to protect or realize the interests of lienholders": Robert F. Kowal Investments Ltd., quoting
Ralph Ewing Clark, Clark On Receivers, 3rd ed, vol 1, s 22, p 25. There are, however, exceptions to that general rule, three of
which were enumerated in Robert F. Kowal Investments Ltd.:

1. if a receiver has been appointed at the request or with the consent or approval of the holders of security, the receiver
will be given priority over the security holders;

2. if a receiver has been appointed to preserve and realize assets for the benefit of all interested parties, including secured
creditors, the receiver will be given priority over the secured creditors for charges and expenses properly incurred; or

3. if the receiver has expended money for the necessary preservation or improvement of the property, the receiver may be
given priority for those expenditures over secured creditors.

15      These principles are well accepted and proper considerations for a court in exercising its discretion under s 243(6). The
principles are also expressly incorporated in the explanatory notes to the template receivership order, which also states that the
order should be modified so as not to provide for priority over a security interest holder if none of the exceptions apply.
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16      In his discussion of the applications by ICI and Standard General, the chambers judge made several pertinent observations
with respect to the policy considerations relevant to the prioritization of the fees and disbursements of receivers (Decision at
paras 136-137):

[136] The difficulty with making a determination at the outset of a receivership (even a liquidating receivership) is that
the nature and extent of the work necessary to preserve, protect, maintain, and eventually liquidate a particular asset is
unknown. I do not see that claimants with a proprietary claim are entitled to a free ride in a receivership, such that they
should be responsible for payment of the costs of the receivership as they relate to the claimants' claims and the cost of
monetizing the claim. Those costs may include a part of the Receiver's general costs as well as those that can be specifically
tied to the specific assets in question.

[137] Up front, it is appropriate to have the Receiver's charges rank ahead of claimants who will benefit from the
Receivership, to the extent that they have benefitted from the Receivership. That means that for creditors who may
benefit from the Receivership, the super priority is generally appropriate for the Receiver's fees and disbursements, on the
expectation that these fees and disbursements will ultimately be fairly apportioned.

17      In making these observations, the chambers judge rightly recognized the modern commercial realities that affect
receiverships. The super priority is necessary to protect receivers; without security for their fees and disbursements they would
be understandably concerned about taking on receiverships. This is in keeping with the decision in, CCM Master Qualified
Fund Ltd. v. blutip Power Technologies Ltd., 2012 ONSC 1750 (Ont. S.C.J. [Commercial List]), where it was noted that in

CCAA proceedings, "professional services are provided . . . in reliance on super priorities contained in initial orders". 1  We
agree with the observation of Brown J at para 22 that:

. . . comments regarding the need for certainty about the priority of charges for professional fees or borrowings apply, with
equal force, to priority charges sought by a receiver pursuant to section 243(6) of the BIA. Certainty regarding the priority
of administrative and borrowing charges is required as much in a receivership as in proceedings under the CCAA . . .

18      The chambers judge also noted that the creditor who brings the application for the receivership should not be left to bear the
entire financial burden of the process. Rather, those costs should be shared equitably amongst all the creditors. As was noted in,
JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. v. UTTC United Tri-Tech Corp. (2006), 25 C.B.R. (5th) 156 (Ont. S.C.J.) at para 45 (and cited in,
Caisse Desjardins des Bois-Francs v. River Rock Financial Canada Corp., 2013 ONSC 6809 (Ont. S.C.J.) at para 22), where a
receiver is "appointed for the benefit of interested parties to ensure that all creditors are treated fairly and to ensure a fair process
to deal with the assets, there is no valid reason for a secured creditor to avoid paying its fair share of the receivership costs".

19      Finally, the chambers judge noted that "[f]or creditors who have little if anything to benefit from a receivership, or who
see their security eroding because of the passage of time or the costs of the receivership, their remedy is to apply to lift the
stay" (para 141).

20      The chambers judge reasonably applied these principles in declining to give priority to the claims of ICI and Standard
General over the Receiver's Charge. In our view, those observations and policy considerations were equally apposite to the
application by Edmonton. However, the chambers judge approached Edmonton's application differently. Having decided that
Edmonton's position "may be properly subordinate to the Receiver's fees, disbursements, and borrowings", the chambers judge
held that this was not an appropriate case in which to subordinate the municipal tax claims to the costs of the receivership.

21      There is, in our view, no principled reason for drawing this distinction between Edmonton's position and that of the
mortgage and lien holders. The chambers judge's reasons for granting Edmonton's application are summarized at para 171:

On the facts of this case, it being a liquidating process and there being no apparent benefit to Edmonton arising out of the
Receivership, Edmonton's priority for property taxes is not subordinate to the Receiver's fees or approved borrowings.
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22      We agree with the Receiver that the chambers judge's conclusion that "there is a less convincing case for secured
creditors to participate in the Receiver's costs when the intent is to liquidate" is not supported by the law. The use of the term
"liquidating receivership" suggests that there is some other type of receivership with a different intent. As is stated in Bennett
on Receivership, "the purpose of the receivership is to enhance and facilitate the preservation and realization, if necessary, of
the debtor's assets for the benefit of all creditors". A court-appointed receiver of an insolvent company is expected "to realize
on the debtor's assets and pay the security holders and the other creditors who are owed money": Frank Bennett, Bennett on
Receiverships, 3d ed (Toronto: Carswell, 2011) at 6.

23      The policy behind receiverships is that collective action is preferable to unilateral action. The receiver maximizes the
returns for the benefit of all creditors and streamlines the process of liquidation. As was noted recently in, Royal Bank of Canada
v. Delta Logistics Transportation Inc., 2017 ONSC 368 (Ont. S.C.J.) at para 26:

The whole point of a court-appointed receivership is that one person . . . is appointed to deal with all of the assets of an
insolvent debtor, realize upon them, and then distribute the proceeds of that realization to the creditors.

24      With respect to ICI's claim, the chambers judge held:

I do not see that it is appropriate at this stage to exempt ICI from potential liability for whatever portion of the Receiver's
fees, disbursements, and approved borrowings may be apportioned to ICI on any of the properties it holds mortgages on.
ICI does stand to benefit from the Receivership in that the Receiver will preserve and protect the properties, collect rents
and ultimately monetize the security. ICI would have to be doing these things themselves if the Receiver were not doing
so. (para 159)

25      This is a reasonable conclusion. However, the same could be said for Edmonton's claim for priority. There is nothing
on the record to suggest that Edmonton will receive no benefit from the process undertaken by the Receiver on behalf of all
creditors. What is known is that Edmonton would have to run individual auction proceedings for each property over which it
has a municipal tax claim, and would incur costs in doing so. Under the receivership process, Edmonton's outstanding taxes are
being paid out as properties are sold in an orderly fashion. Edmonton acknowledges its security is not at risk in this process.
There is no evidence that the running of individual auctions would serve to maximize the value of the properties; rather, it is
likely that the opposite is the case.

26      Although the court has discretion under s 243(6) with respect to the priority to be given to receiver's charges, the exercise of
discretion must be on a principled basis. For the foregoing reasons, we have concluded that the appeal with respect to Edmonton's
application for priority must be allowed. The Receiver has a super priority for its fees and disbursements in accordance with
the original receivership order. As was noted by the chambers judge, the amount of those costs to be paid by Edmonton, and the
other secured creditors, will ultimately be the subject of an apportionment exercise. Issues raised by Edmonton in this appeal
regarding the extent to which it benefits from the receivership process may be relevant at the apportionment phase.

Appeal allowed.

Footnotes

1 First Leaside Wealth Management Inc., Re, 2012 ONSC 1299 (Ont. S.C.J. [Commercial List]) at para 51.
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Counsel: Howard A. Gorman, Q.C., Aditya M. Badami, for Applicant
Gregory G. Plester, for Respondent

K.M. Horner J.:

I. Introduction

1      This is a priority dispute that raises the question of how far a municipality can go to collect tax arrears from an insolvent
taxpayer with no valuable property in that municipality.

2      The Applicant, Ernst & Young Inc. (the "Receiver"), was appointed as Receiver for the insolvent Regent Resources Ltd.
("Regent"). With the exception of the matter at hand here, all claims against Regent have been resolved. However, Regent's
largest creditor, Alberta Treasury Branches ("ATB") faces a significant shortfall on its claim.

3      Regent owned properties in a number of locations in Alberta, including the Respondent Cardston County ("Cardston").
In 2017, the Receiver disclaimed all of Regent's properties and assets in Cardston, taking the position that they had no value.
There were, however, arrears of property tax in respect of those Cardston properties. Together with interest and penalties, those
arrears amounted to approximately $133,000 as at the date of this hearing. Regent also owned a number of properties in other
municipalities that were sold within the receivership proceedings. There is no dispute that municipal taxes were paid on all
of those properties.

4      Cardston claims that it has a "special lien" over all of Regent's property for its municipal tax arrears by virtue of s. 348 of the
Municipal Government Act, RSA 2000, c M-26 (the "MGA"). The Receiver takes the position that the special lien contemplated
in that provision is narrower in scope. The sole substantive issue before me was the proper interpretation of this provision and
the scope of the special lien arising from it.

5      First, however, Cardston raised a procedural issue. Cardston proposed that my determination of this matter be adjourned
pending the anticipated decision of the Court of Appeal in Northern Sunrise County v Virginia Hills Oil Corp, which was heard
on June 12, 2018. That case deals with the application of the special lien to linear property. Cardston asserted that the Court
of Appeal might provide applicable guidance and asked that this matter be adjourned sine die to await the decision. Cardston
argued that an adjournment was likely to occasion little or no prejudice to the Receiver. The Receiver opposed the adjournment.
It argued that it was not appropriate to delay hearing an issue of interpretation, particularly when it is not clear that the Court
of Appeal will address the particular issue in question.
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6      I agreed with the Receiver and declined to grant the adjournment. I was not persuaded that the Court of Appeal was likely
to provide guidance on an issue not squarely before it. Accordingly, we proceeded with the hearing on the substantive issue.

7      At the conclusion of the hearing, I granted the Receiver's application for a declaration that ATB was a first ranking
priority creditor and issued an order providing for final distribution of proceeds to ATB. I indicated I would issue my reasons
subsequently and these are those reasons.

8      The "special lien" for its municipal tax arrears is set out in s. 348 of the MGA which provides as follows:

348 Taxes due to a municipality

(a) are an amount owing to the municipality,

(b) are recoverable as a debt due to the municipality,

(c) take priority over the claims of every person except the Crown, and

(d) are a special lien

(i) on land and any improvements to the land, if the tax is a property tax, a community revitalization levy, a
special tax, a local improvement tax or a community aggregate payment levy, or

(ii) on goods, if the tax is a business tax, a community revitalization levy, a well drilling equipment tax, a
community aggregate payment levy or a property tax imposed in respect of a designated manufactured home
in a manufactured home community.

9      The Receiver asserts that the phrase "land and any improvements to the land" in s. 348(d)(i) refers specifically to the land
in respect of which the property tax was levied. Alternatively, the Receiver asserts that, at a minimum, the phrase must refer to
land within the geographical boundaries of the municipality. Cardston argues for a broader interpretation that would allow the
special lien to attach to any land, regardless of its location or whether the tax is owing on it.

10      Cardston relies on several statutory interpretation principles in support of its position. It starts by citing the Supreme
Court of Canada's statement in Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd., Re, [1998] 1 S.C.R. 27 (S.C.C.) at para 21:

Today there is only one principle or approach; namely, the words of an Act are to be read in their entire context and in
their grammatical and ordinary sense harmoniously with the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act, and the intention
of Parliament.

11      More specifically, Cardston notes that the Supreme Court of Canada held in United Taxi Drivers' Fellowship of Southern
Alberta v. Calgary (City), 2004 SCC 19 (S.C.C.) at paras 6-8 that the MGA is to be interpreted in a "broad and purposive"
manner.

12      In addition, Cardston cites the Interpretation Act, RSA 2000, c I-8, s 10, which provides that all legislation in Alberta
must be " . . . construed as being remedial, and shall be given the fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation that best
ensures the attainment of its objects."

13      The Receiver does not dispute these principles, but argues that Cardston has applied them inappropriately.

14      Cardston submits that a proper interpretation of s. 348(d)(i) must be consistent with the remainder of that section and
with the MGA as a whole. It argues that if "land" in s. 348(d)(i) is restricted to land on which tax is owing, then "goods" in s.
348(d)(ii) must be similarly restricted. Cardston points out that, if this is correct, there would be situations in which no special
lien would be available. This, in its submission, creates a "gap" that cannot have been intended by the Legislature.

http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=1998452300&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=2004229023&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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15      I do not find this argument persuasive. The interpretation of s. 348(d)(ii) is not before me and I do not agree that I am
so constrained in interpreting s. 348(d)(i).

16      Cardston next asserts that, where it is intended to refer to property subject to assessment and taxation, the MGA uses
the defined terms "property" and "parcel of land". The term "land" used in s. 348(d)(i), is not defined in the MGA. Cardston
argues that this term typically is much broader, including a variety of legally recognized interests in land, some of which are
never subject to assessment and taxation. It notes that "land" is defined in the Land Titles Act, RSA 2000, c L-4 as follows:

"land" means land, messuages, tenements and hereditaments, corporeal and incorporeal, of every nature and description,
and every estate or interest therein, whether the estate or interest is legal or equitable, together with paths, passages, ways,
watercourses, liberties, privileges and easements appertaining thereto and trees and timber thereon, and mines, minerals
and quarries thereon or thereunder lying or being, unless any of them are specially excepted.

17      Cardston argues that the Legislature's use of the term "land" must be presumed to be deliberate and implies that the
Legislature intended a broader reach for the special lien than is advocated by the Receiver.

18      While I agree that the Legislature should be presumed to have chosen the term "land" deliberately, that does not necessarily
mean that the drafters intended to sweep in any and all interests in land. In my view, it is equally plausible that the drafters chose
the term to distinguish between it and "goods" in the next subsection.

19      Cardston also points out that the previous version of the MGA provided for the special lien over "the land in respect of
which the taxes are due." Cardston asserts that the removal of that language from the current version of the MGA indicates that
the Legislature intended to broaden the application of the special lien to all land and improvements owned by the debtor.

20      While I acknowledge the change in wording, it is not sufficient to require an interpretation that I find will produce
absurd results.

21      As noted above, the Receiver argues that the special lien is applicable only to the particular land on which tax is owing or,
at a minimum, only to land within the municipality. It asserts that this interpretation is consistent with the MGA, which permits
a municipality to levy property tax on land within its boundaries. It notes further that property taxes are levied by municipal
bylaw and that s. 12 of the MGA provides that a bylaw normally applies only within the municipality's boundaries.

22      Significantly, the Receiver argues that Cardston's interpretation would lead to absurd results and that it is a principle
of statutory interpretation that such results are to be avoided. It points to R. v. Canadian Pacific Ltd., [1995] 2 S.C.R. 1031
(S.C.C.) where Justice Gonthier held at para 66 that "Where a provision is open to two or more interpretations, the absurdity
principle may be employed to reject interpretations which lead to negative consequences, as such consequences are presumed
to have been unintended by the legislature."

23      The Receiver identifies several possible "negative consequences" to Cardston's interpretation. First, it notes that giving
such broad scope to the special lien could lead to competing special lien claims on the same land. There is no provision in the
MGA for determining the priority of such competing claims, though counsel for Cardston suggested during the hearing that
such claims could simply be paid out pari passu.

24      The Receiver points out that Cardston's interpretation could lead to a municipality making special lien claims against land
anywhere in the world. If the application of the special lien is not limited to the municipality's borders, the Receiver argues, there
is no reason to limit it to Alberta or indeed to Canada. The Receiver submits that this cannot be what the Legislature intended.

25      Counsel for the Receiver also made the important point that a broad scope special lien would be "an invisible superpriority
charge" of which purchasers and lenders would not have notice. A party intending to lend funds secured against land reasonably
may be expected, through its due diligence, to discover arrears of tax in the municipality where the land is located. However, I
agree with the Receiver that it is not reasonable to expect lenders to ascertain whether there are tax arrears in every municipality
in Alberta. This is particularly so where, as here, the debtor has disclaimed its interest in the land. Under Cardston's interpretation,

http://nextcanada.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=6407&serNum=1995393989&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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a lender would have to determine whether the debtor previously had owned land with taxes owing. The Legislature cannot have
intended to create a due diligence requirement of that kind.

26      Finally, I note that a municipality is not left without a remedy if its special lien is limited to its own boundaries. Cardston
acknowledges in its brief that a municipality has the ability to obtain a judgment for unpaid taxes and to enforce that judgment
against the debtor's assets. That judgment is not limited to assets within the municipality, but may be enforced against any of the
debtor's assets within Alberta or even outside Alberta, if the judgment is extraprovincially registered. While the municipality,
as a judgment creditor, would rank as an unsecured creditor, it cannot be said that limiting the special lien to the municipal
boundaries leaves the municipality with no option to collect the taxes owed. It is only the "superpriority" that is limited. This, in
my view, is an appropriate interpretation of s. 348(d)(i) of the MGA that is consonant with the objects and scheme of that statute.

27      Taking all of the foregoing into account, I granted the Receiver's application.

28      As is customary in proceedings of this nature, no costs are ordered.
Application granted.
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Glennie J. (orally):

1      The Applicant, Steven P. Hawkes, seeks intervenor status pursuant to Rule 15.02 of the Rules of Court.

2      The purpose of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3 (the "BIA"), is to provide for the orderly and fair
distribution of the property of a bankrupt amongst its creditors on a pari passu basis.

3      In 2005 Annotated Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, the authors, L. W. Houlden and Geoffrey B. Morawetz, write at
paragraph G on page 3:

The Act provides a regime whereby the creditors of the bankrupt will pursue their claims by collective action through the
trustee so that the assets of the bankrupt can be realized and distributed on an equitable basis subject to the priorities of
preferred creditors and the rights of secured creditors.

See Dartmouth (City) v. Barclays Bank of Canada (1996), 40 C.B.R. (3d) 1, 151 N.S.R. (2d) 264 (NSCA)

4      Thus, the appointment of a Trustee who acts as the representative of unsecured creditors is one of the most fundamental
underpinnings of the statutory scheme. In this case, A. C. Poirier & Associates Inc. was appointed Trustee by this Court in

substitution for the previous Trustee on October 25 th , 2004 and I am satisfied that the Trustee has done a completely independent
job since its appointment.

5      The BIA provides for the appointment of Inspectors who assist the Trustee and approve certain actions taken by the
Trustee. The Inspectors are drawn from a broad cross-section of stakeholders. In this case, this includes a former administration
employee, the Union, a lien claimant and the Province of New Brunswick. (See section 116(1) of the BIA.)
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6      As stated in 2005 Annotated Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, supra, at paragraph G-14:

Inspectors are the supervisors of the trustee and it is their function to instruct the trustee to take whatever steps they consider
appropriate in order to protect the estate and the creditors: Re: Fishman (1985), 56 C.B.R. (N.S.) 316 (Ont. S.C.)

7      The BIA also provides for the appointment of Observers who are actively involved in matters with respect to the bankrupt
estate. The Trustee in this case has stated in his affidavit that it is his typical practice for many years to appoint many Observers
in bankruptcies where there is a need for all interested parties to be kept informed.

8      The BIA does not provide for individual unsecured creditors to act independently of a Trustee in Bankruptcy. Rather, the
Trustee, through the participation of the Inspectors and the Observers, and in consultation with the Superintendent in Bankruptcy
where necessary, administers the affairs of the bankrupt estate under the orderly statutory structure set out in the BIA.

9      In my opinion, to allow the intervention of the Applicant would unduly delay and prejudice the determination of the rights
of the parties. The Applicant should not be allowed to intervene to disrupt the carefully balanced arrangements now before this
Court. The Applicant is a creditor of the bankrupt estate of St. Anne-Nackawic Pulp Company Ltd. and, as such, his rights
are set forth in the BIA, and I am satisfied that his rights have been protected and properly advanced by the Trustee and the
Inspectors of the bankrupt estate. See Michaud v. Robertson, 2003 CarswellNB 489 (N.B. C.A.) and St. Anne-Nackawic Pulp
Co., Re (2005), 282 N.B.R. (2d) 388, 2005 CarswellNB 152 (N.B. C.A.).

10      The Application for intervenor status is accordingly denied.
Application dismissed.
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